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PREFACE

This book argues that the Anglo-Canadian presence in the Canadian West was
established with little concern for those who were there before and with little sensi-
tivity to the culture of the First Nations and Métis peoples who occupied the land
for many hundreds of years before the first settlers arrived in the West. Using the
area around Fort Battleford as a focus, the book outlines the way of life that existed
on the prairies before the Canadian presence was established. It goes on to examine
the various institutions that placed the Anglo-Canadian elite in a position of power
by the 1880s. The book investigates the role of the North West Mounted Police and
the North-West Field Force in establishing Canadian hegemony and analyzes gov-
ernment policies that were employed to control those who were seen as a threat in
the wake of the 1885 Resistance. It concludes with a description of the various inter-
pretations of Fort Battleford that have evolved over time.

When I began with the Parks Service in the late 1970s the history of Fort Battle-
ford was being presented as a story of law and order, of valour and the estab-
lishment of civilization in the West. I was uncomfortable with this emphasis and
worked to persuade administrators of the program that the Mounties did not enter
a vacuum and that the civilization they thought they were bringing was as contro-
versial then as it is now.

The material on which this book is based was compiled when I worked as an
historian for the Canadian Parks Service in the 1980s. The book has been written
from articles and manuscripts produced over the years to meet the program
needs of interpreting the history of Fort Battleford to the public.

I would like to thank the many colleagues I have worked with over the years:
historians, archaeologists, interpreters, engineers, architects, planners and guides.
Also thanks to the Superintendents, some of whom remain unconvinced that the
context for interpreting the history of Fort Battleford needed to be broadened. The
always helpful and attentive assistance of archivists made my research so much
easier, particularly while working at the National Archives of Canada, the Provin-
cial Archives of Manitoba, the Provincial Archives of Alberta, the Glenbow Alberta
Archives, the Saskatchewan Archives Board, and the Shortt Library. I am grateful to
the Tootoosis family at the Poundmaker Reserve, especially the late John Tootoosis
and Gordon, for their hospitality and generosity in sharing the history of their peo-
ple with me. Once again I am indebted to Sarah Carter for more than can be listed
here, and also to our daughter, Mary, who is always an inspiration to me. Also,
special thanks to Bob Coutts for help with the photographs and to George Melnyk
and Brian Mlazgar for editing, Rick Lalonde for the maps, and William Singer for
the cover illustration. Thanks also to Frits Pannekoek who hired me fresh out of
graduate school. Frits encouraged historians working for governments to experi-
ment, to try different approaches, to apply the methodologies of cultural and social
history for the writing of public history. He encouraged us to take risks and to not
simply use our sites to prop up established nation-building narratives; I dedicate
this book to him.



At the Chicago Columbian Exposition in 1893, the four hundredth anniversary
provided the occasion for a straight forward celebration of all progress made
since Columbus launched the conquest of the Western Hemisphere. But the five
hundredth anniversary will come at an awkward point in our changing percep-
tions of history. The cult of “progress” has lost believers. The idea of a North
America without industrial machinery, pollutants, pesticides, or nuclear waste
does not immediately call to mind the words “primitive,” “backward,” or “sav-
age.” But more important, the 1992 commemoration planners must take into
account that natives did not vanish; the descendants of the pre-Columbian
Americans are very much alive — as are, in many cases, their memories and re-
sentments of the conquest. In an age of attempted civility towards minorities, it
seems poor taste, at best, to celebrate an invasion, a demographic catastrophe,
and a conquest.

Patricia Limerick
The Legacy of Conguest
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Conquest of the Prairie West

It is only a step from market to colony. The exploited have only to cheat, or to
protest, and conquest immediately follows.

Fernand Braudel

Before the Mounties arrived on the western prairies, evidence of European
culture could be found in the log houses and huts of pioneers and fur traders that
sparsely dotted the landscape. The role of these early traders and settlers did not
allow them to create exotic structures nor was there a need for any unduly grand
display of power. The difference between early fur trade material culture and
Native culture was not great. Accordingly, expressions of power by the police
when they arrived were more overtly military or paramilitary, though the
hegemonic function of culture was certainly present in the red coats and military
discourse of the “March West.” Thus, the red coats, lances and military equip-
ment of the North West Mounted Police (NWMP) announced power: the power to
act in the name of the law, to call in reinforcements and to embark on punitive ex-
peditions. The solitary Mountie, mythologized by Anglo-Canadian culture,
served as a floating signifier for those who knew how power operated. The mys-
tery and romanticized military image of the NWMP served the function of force,
but force is not the most efficient way to run a society, nor is it the cheapest.
Sooner or later, new societies will seek a more efficient and cheaper means of
maintaining power. Battleford provided a classic example of this process in the
nineteenth-century Canadian West.

The study of social control has changed radically in recent years. Until the 1960s,
the history of police forces was generally written in a narrative form that empha-
sized the gradual evolution of a humane system of punishment, policing and im-
prisonment. This process was initiated by a group of Enlightenment thinkers led by
theorists like Beccarian and Bentham, along with religious men and women of con-
science like the Evangelicals and Quakers who “set out to convince the political
leadership of their societies that public punishments of the body like hanging,
branding, whipping and even in some European countries, torture, were arbitrary,
cruel and illegitimate, and that a new range of penalties, chiefly imprisonment or
hard labour, could be at once humane, reformative and punitive.”" It is suggested
that these changes, initiated by enlightened reformers, led to a system of social con-
trol that was more humane than in the era previous to it; history progressing from
“cruelty to enlightenment.”

More recent revisionist histories were influenced by the work of Michel
Foucault, and they dramatically altered the study of social control:

the libertarian, populist politics of the 1960s revised historians’ attitudes toward
the size and intrusiveness of the modern state; the history of the prison, the
school, the hospital, the asylum seemed more easily understood as a history of
Leviathan than a history of reform.”



The focus of attention changed. This new perspective looked with scepticism at
the projects of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, especially as they aimed
to change the personalities of criminals. Institutions established and run by the
state were thus viewed not as the means to “reform” and “educate” people, but
rather as institutions responsible for limiting their freedom. The “Panoptic eye”
became an homology for the new and modern ethic of social control in prisons
where a guard situated high above in a tower could maintain surveillance over
everyone in the prison. The design of the new prisons reflected an ideology
which emphasized the need for society to control and reform its subjects in order
for them to participate in the economic system.

In Canada, the political and social culture was imported from Europe. It
shared the same ideology that produced an industrialized Europe, including the
Christian values that accompanied capitalist culture. Introduced along with these
cultural values were concepts of liberty and private property. The NWMP were
the harbingers of a dramatically new social order in the Canadian West. They
represented those who held power, a power that operated in many complex
ways. “Putative power is dispersed through the social system: it is literally every-
where in the sense that the disciplinary ideology, the savoir which directs and le-
gitimizes power, permeates all social groups (with the exception of the margmal
and deviant), ordering the self-repression of the repressors themselves.”

The new system was effective. The Aboriginal peoples who had to cope with
the police were confronted by only the first line of power — the police who were
charged with keeping public order. Behind the police were many other forms of
power, such as the military who were used so successfully in 1885. The systems
of social control developed by Europeans were no longer just physical and insti-
tutional, but represented cultural and psychological tactics serving the same
powerful ideology.* The NWMP thus were an arm of the law which was to re-
strain and guide Native people (as well as the incoming white settlers) into con-
formity with the dominant culture and society the Mounties represented and
were to disseminate.

New Approaches to Aboriginal History

The concept of acculturation is used to examine the cultural confrontanon
between Natives and newcomers — two radically different cultures’ In the
classic situation, the white trader-explorer-missionary, who is usually from a
European country or empire, meets Aboriginal people. Acculturation explores
how both sides change and adapt as a result of communication and through ex-
changes of material culture and information. This method helps us to under-
stand, for example, how Native society changed due to the European goods it
absorbed and how the colonizers adapted as a result of the survival techniques
they learned from Aboriginal peoples.

Acculturation as a methodology was developed alongside the establishment of
a new interdisciplinary approach to studying Native people: ethnohistory. This
new discipline combined methods and approaches both from history and from
anthropology in order to better understand Native society and culture. Tradition-
ally, the discipline of history denied the validity of oral evidence and favoured
written documents. Ethnographers, though sympathetic and expert in the use of
oral evidence, were unfortunately not disposed to study the manner in which
societies changed over time and were thus content to take a snapshot-in-time
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approach to studying Native societies. Though much important knowledge was
brought to light through this approach, it led to the impression that Native socie-
ties were stagnant or locked in time. History and ethnology became specialized
and mutually exclusive solitudes.

History as a discipline emphasized the diachronic (examining change over
time), while ethnology focussed on the synchronic (that which remains the same
over time). The cross-fertilization that occurred when these two disciplines were
brought together raised new kinds of evidence for consideration and allowed dif-
ferent perspectives to emerge for understanding First Nations. The two ap-
proaches tempered each other. While Western European history sought to
chronicle the progress and dynamism of peoples and cultures that were Euro-
pean in origin, ethnology sought to study the static and less overtly dynamic cul-
tures of the Aboriginal world. The discipline of history tended to use an empirical
and fragmentary approach to explain and gain knowledge about the past within
a Newtonian-Cartesian paradigm, while ethnology attempted to study societies
as a whole, seeking to understand how the parts related to each other. Historians
basically focussed on understanding their own societies by looking from the past
toward the present; ethnologists looked from the present and made use of con-
temporary structures as they looked back to the past.

The findings of the combined discipline of ethnohistory led to new perspec-
tives for understanding Native societies and dynamics of change within them. To
combat the idea that Native plains peoples simply roamed the prairies indiscrimi-
nantly, locked in a hopeless feast-or-famine conundrum, the “seasonal cycle”
method of explaining their movements was developed. This corrected the im-
pression that they wandered in an undirected and largely purposeless manner. It
drew attention to the significance of Aboriginal movement and the way in which
these people relied on their understanding and knowledge of the environment:
its flora, fauna and weather. The seasonal-cycle approach helped to counter the
prevailing notion of European culture: that there was progress or a sense of pro-
gress to history. The seasonal-cycle framework showed instead that those cul-
tures not driven by ideas of progress could still live full and creative lives as they
moved in response to seasonal change. Native people were content to live in their
environment, taking from it only what they needed. To them, there was economic
security in being able to survive without having to carry or accumulate cumber-
some material goods.

European standards and discourses were very damaging and unsympathetic
in their descriptions of the cultural institutions of Native society. They equated
living in harmony with nature as “savage” while considering the exploitation of
nature as “civilized.” In actuality, Natives who moved with the seasonal cycles
were far from “savage” or static:

Native economies in America were not poorer, more precarious, or more miser-
able than their contemporary European counterparts. Indeed, recent studies of
hunting and gathering societies suggest that natives of the western interior may
have lived a life of relative comfort and plenty... The hunter-gatherer did not la-
bour endlessly in quest of food. Indeed, it is apparent that when societies give up
a hunt-based economy in favour of agriculture, they actually increase the per
capita work-load... The hunting and gathering societies of the western interior
achieved economic, political, and religious arrangements as satisfactory and as
conducive to human happiness, for most members of the community, as those of
any other society.®



The Cree on the Prairies

In the late nineteenth century, there were two reasons for choosing Fort Battle-
ford as the site of a North West Mounted Police post. First, Battleford had been
chosen as the new territorial capital. The members of the Territorial Council
would therefore need a police force to protect them and enforce the laws they
would pass. The police were thus a necessary adjunct to the administration of the
North-West Territories. Second, and perhaps most important, was the presence of
a large number of Aboriginal people in the area. The Thickwood and Eagle Hills
areas to the north and east respectively had traditionally been wintering places
for Cree and Assiniboine, but by the late nineteenth century, the buffalo no
longer migrated north of the South Saskatchewan River and could no longer be
relied upon as a primary source of food and clothing. As a result, the plains tribes
began to settle on reserve land promised to them in Treaty 6. They chose the land
around Fort Battleford, as they were familiar with the territory and small game
could still be found.

Settlement onto reserves was a major watershed for the Cree. Ahead of them
lay compliance to the laws of another culture and adjustment to subsistence agri-
culture that was controlled by government regulations. Behind them lay a long
tradition of adaptation to the forest and plains environments, the fur trade, mis-
sionaries, diseases formerly unknown, alcohol and the disappearance of the buf-
falo. Rapid change in a few short years contrasted with previous times when
change occurred more slowly, allowing for gradual adjustment.

After more than two centuries of contact with European culture, the Aborigi-
nal way of life still stood in stark contrast to Euro-American culture. The plains
tribes, especially the Cree, had adapted to the economic changes they had first
faced with the arrival of the horse, then the gun, then the traders. At its core, Na-
tive culture absorbed change on its own terms and retained beliefs and practices
that enabled it to thrive on the plains. The Christian, Western European world
perceived the environment as hostile and advocated a systematic harvest of the
land, while the Aboriginal people lived with this environment, not against it, and
adapted to it as each season allowed or demanded.

The Cree, originally located in woodland areas to the east and north of the
Great Lakes, were band societies in which the ultimate unit of organization was
the family. They were not tribal units under a common leader. In small groups,
they moved over their territory in search of game or to collect other food. Each
family unit had an appointed leader. A number of bands could come together at
various seasons, but this was rare and occurred only for short periods of time.

The scarcity of fish and game made very large gatherings of band people im-
possible. The inability to meet in large numbers meant that they rarely went to
war with neighbouring peoples. In the woods, scattered in small groups, they
were a difficult target for an enemy attack. By contrast, tribal societies were com-
posed of much larger units that stayed together for longer periods of time. On the
prairies, it was difficult to hide from neighbouring tribes, making tribal cohesive-
ness a necessity for self-defence and creating more opportunities for military
conflict than in the heavily forested woodlands. Food was also more abundant on
the plains. Up to the late 1870s, large herds of buffalo still migrated into Canadian
territory, providing many plains tribes with a steady food supply and facilitating
the organization of larger groups.



The nature of life on the plains demanded greater organization and social con-
trol. The annual buffalo hunt, for example, required many horsemen who needed
to be tightly coordinated. Such pursuits made it necessary to have a firmer politi-
cal organization. In the spring, when all the Indians gathered together before the
buffalo hunt, a council of men elected a chief. The use of the horse contributed to
the development of a more organized political structure, as it led to a mobile soci-
ety in contrast with the isolated, foot-locomoted woodland bands. Thus the plains
tribes could be readily mobilized for both political and military purposes.

Aboriginal Cosmology

As with the Europeans, Cree religious life was centred around the concept of
one supreme being who had created the world. This was not a being who could
be approached directly as with the Christian god, but could only be reached
through intermediary spirits that resided in nature. Although their god was not
believed to reside in any specific place or to be personalized in any way, it was
nevertheless thought to have power over all things.

Cree religion expressed an affirmation of nature. The intermediary spirits could
be found in birds and animals (such as the crow or bear), and other natural phe-
nomena. Thunder, wind and sun were thought to contain the most powerful spirits.
The powers of these spirits could be used by mortals if, in a vision, an image of the
object appeared to the person. When this occurred, it was believed the powers of
the spirit could be harnessed by the vision-seeker. The individual would then take
on the name of the source of the power and be protected by the supernatural
strength attributed to it. A spirit bundle might be made and carried by the person
for protection or guidance. This religion affirmed the strength and power that the
Natives felt resided in the world around them. They made this reverence of nature
an integral part of their religious attitudes. Much of the Aboriginal art, whether tent
drawings, clothing decoration, rock paintings, or on drums and other instruments,
reflected a deep respect for the spiritual power of the natural world. Their sun mo-
tifs and animal paintings were the most obvious example of their worldview, which
held nature, rather than humans, as sacred.

Though there were many ceremonies (both religious and otherwise), that
showed this symbolic kinship with nature, the most commonly known and most
central to Cree life was the Sun or Thirst Dance. By asking for spiritual strength
from nature, this dance served not only as a symbolic rite of rebirth but was an op-
portunity for members of the tribe to earn the rite of passage into adulthood and for
all those present to feel and ask for protection and power from the spirits of the
natural world around them, especially the Thunderbird. One member of the band
initiated the dance in order to fulfill a vow. The ceremony began when the pledgers,
through rituals of song and dance, asked for the power to stage a dance, usually
from the sun or thunder spirits. The pledger would engage assistants from his band
to conduct the dance: they sang the songs with him and helped build the Sun Dance
lodge. Traditionally, the Sun Dance lasted four days, during which time the partici-
pants fasted and abstained from sexual activity. It was believed that during these
four days the spirit powers took pity on the dancers and would send rain to quench
their thirst.

As the singers sang and the drums were beat, the men prepared themselves
for the successful completion of their dance. Once completed, the spirits would
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bless those who had participated; this, in turn, bode well for the entire tribe.
Prayers were said throughout the ceremony: “The burden of all prayers was that
a ceremony very dear to the powers was about to be given, that the powers help
the participants complete the Sun Dance, so that mankind might be blessed.”” It
was a communion with nature, a request for mercy by those who lived in the con-
tinual presence of the awesome elements that confronted them on the plains. In
this humility, there was a peace offering to the natural world in which the Cree
would be attempting to harvest what they needed for their own survival. The
participants hoped to be worthy of what they would kill during the buffalo hunt.
They wanted to appease the natural world they held in respect, but from which
they also took. In this sense, the Sun Dance was a symbolic gesture towards the
life-giving sun and the thunder with its accompanying rains.

The Fur Trade

The Aboriginals’ role in the fur trade, their consequential move onto the
plains, and the resulting diplomatic systems that emerged have only recently
been explored by scholars. It is perhaps a telling comment on the bias of early
western Canadian historians that so little has been written about the role played
by the Natives in the history of the fur trade. The primary debate of more recent
studies has focussed on the adaptability of the Natives to this system of trade.
One side has argued that the role of the Natives changed very little and their ba-
sic institutions did not change dramatically as they traded with Europeans. It is
contended that the Indians had traded among themselves long before they traded
with Europeans. The other side of the argument claims that the Indians adjusted
rapidly to the presence of traders and competed actively to obtain as many Euro-
pean goods as they could. They acted as “economic men,” adapting to the mar-
ketplace as conditions allowed. The former view is put forward by A. Rotstein
and E.E. Rich, while the latter is delineated by Arthur Ray and John Milloy.

According to Rotstein’s argument, there was less change in Aboriginal society
during the fur trade than some would believe. He states that it was the European
trader who was forced to adapt to the Indians’ trade practices and learn the pro-
tocol of their trade patterns.’ He believes the fur trade was already imbedded in
the Indian way of life prior to direct contact with Europeans, and that it was their
alliances and intertribal relations that determined their actions, not their contact
and trade with Europeans. Rotstein further argues that the motivating factor
among the Natives was tribal and collective rather than individual. Thus, the alli-
ance system among, the Natives would be based more on collective determination
of their economic activities than on individuals entering the marketplace moti-
vated by their own desires for accumulation of material goods. Rotstein backs up
his arguments by referring to accounts of missionaries, traders and explorers de-
scribing alliance systems among plains tribes. These sources are used to support
the claim that elaborate diplomacy was already in place to control the territorial
imperative of Natives in the North-West before the arrival of European traders.
Elaborate trade ceremonies and methods of obtaining essential goods were also
present before the entrenchment of fur-trade society. Indians thus adapted natu-
rally to their role as middlemen in the fur trade, since this role fit patterns already
known to them.

Rich agrees with Rotstein’s basic argument, but the tone of his perspective is,



by implication, more negative toward the Indians.’ Rich states that the Natives
were not “economic” men like most Europeans, in that they possessed no sense
of property and were not motivated by a desire to accumulate wealth. He claims
the Natives were firmly entrenched in their old ways and could not change to
adapt to the fur trade in the same way as Europeans. Rich suggests the Native fell
into the role of middleman, then exploited it to gain full advantage over the Hud-
son’s Bay Company (HBC) and other Native groups. He finds it somewhat puz-
zling, and considers it an indication of inferiority, that the Aboriginal did not
adopt European concepts of property and acquisitiveness.

On the other side of this debate, Ray maintains the Natives were continually
and actively adjusting to the economic conditions confronting them.”” The fur
trade was a partnership between European and Aboriginal traders, both needing
each other in some way. This partnership had a wide range of consequences for
both sides, as each group had to make significant adaptations during the fur-
trade period. Ray disagrees with Rotstein and Rich’s view that the ceremonial
practices introduced by Aboriginals were an affirmation of political position; in-
stead, he argues that ceremonial activities were simply one aspect of trading. To
support this, he states that the Cree traders were free to shop around for the best
bargains for their furs, and in fact frequently did. They were not simply trading
to maintain and mark out territory. He points out that before the arrival of the
HBC, the Cree traded along the east-west axis established by North West Com-
pany traders from Montreal, and that even when the HBC moved to the bay area
the Natives chose not to trade there. Ray states that the Cree trading with the
HBC during these years held an advantage and bargained from a position of
power with the company. Furthermore, he shows that it was not always (or even
usually) the case that Aboriginal leaders were involved in trading; rather, various
individuals from each tribe conducted the trade. This point diminishes the impor-
tance that Rotstein and Rich attach to the ceremony of the trade and shows that
Aboriginals would often participate in trade individually, with the intent of mak-
ing the best deal they could for the European goods they sought. Ray also dem-
onstrates how the Cree traders often played the companies against each other to
obtain their commodities. This situation helped the HBC decide that it would
have to move inland if it was going to obtain quality furs and remain competitive
with free traders and the North West Company.

Ray’s propositions show that the Cree reacted to the marketplace, not to cus-
toms or rules that their own society or culture brought to bear on them. Exchange
rates set by the competition were determined by the market, not by gift rituals.
For example, when the English raised their prices the Natives went to the French
to obtain needed goods. Often they were willing to pay higher prices when they
wanted particular products, such as the superior English knives or tobacco. By
the end of the seventeenth century, the ceremonial trade practices that transpired
at the outset of bartering were less frequent and the pure market trade intro-
duced by the English had become dominant. In accommodating some points
made by Rotstein, Ray agrees that the Cree did not always trade to increase
wealth. He notes that, as trading relations developed, individual Natives did gain
status among their own people by gathering and accumulating European goods.

The significance of this debate between Ray and Rotstein lies in the analysis of
Aboriginal motivations. These motivations enabled them to preserve a good part
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of the basic structure of their internal institutions, including their religious beliefs
and kinship systems. These internal institutions were preserved, even though
they made significant adaptations to the new economic environment necessitated
by their pursuit of economic goals.

Post-Contact Cree Movement on the Plains

According to historian John Milloy, three distinct phases can be identified be-
tween the first direct contact with Europeans and the end of the fur-trade era
around 1870. The first period began in 1670 with the alliance between the Cree
and Blackfoot situated to the west. The second phase was the period in which the
Cree developed a stronger alliance with the Mandan to the south, who also sup-
plied them with horses. Milloy labels this phase as the Horse Wars era lasting
from 1810-50, a time when the Cree were increasingly in need of horses and were
seeking alliances to the west. The third phase is labelled the Buffalo War period
of 1850-70, when the Cree were competing with other plains Natives for the di-
minishing buffalo herds which had become their source of food. By the end of
this last phase, the fur trade was in decline and the Cree no longer played a
crucial role in its function.

In the initial period of contact, the Cree lived along the shores of Hudson Bay,
north of the Ojibwa. They became the first and primary consumers of European
goods in the seventeenth century and began to carry the trade of these goods to
other Natives to the south and west. Their strategic position gave them control of
all the major waterways that flowed into the bay. They blocked the access to
Hudson Bay to all but the Assiniboine, who became allies as the Cree moved
south from the bay. During these early years of the fur trade, the Cree began a
two-pronged push westward: one to the northwest and another along a more
southerly route. By 1760, 100 years after their first contact with Europeans on
Hudson Bay, they had pushed back the Beaver tribe to the north and had reached
as far west as Lesser Slave Lake. This northern Cree society grew towards a
greater dependence on European goods. After an injtial period of relative pros-
perity, these traders were extended far beyond their traditional habitat. As their
dependency on the fur trade grew, they had less time to live off the rich environ-
ment they had inhabited before Europeans came to the bay. Their position was
exacerbated by 1776 as the HBC moved inland, leaving their own role in the fur
trade less significant. The band was still the social unit of the Cree at this time.
This division could be maintained because there were few enemies to threaten it.

The other group of Cree that moved westward were those who eventually be-
came the Plains Cree. They moved down the Saskatchewan River system, which
they followed to the west. During this move, the Cree allied themselves with the
Blackfoot and Mandan against their common enemy, the Dakota. The Cree
traded with both of these allies, as they were among the first to obtain the cov-
eted European guns for trade with plains tribes. The trade-in-arms to the Black-
foot was particularly intense during the years 1732-54. This period, characterized
by Milloy as the wars of migration and territorial domination," ended by the turn
of the century as the inland posts of the HBC became more accessible to other
Natives. Thus, the Cree were no longer needed as the suppliers of European
goods. From 1680 to the 1720s, the Cree and Blackfoot lived peacefully next to
each other and fought as allies against the Kootenay and Gros Ventre peoples.



Horse Wars, 1800-1850

As the southern Cree were now less significant as middlemen in the fur trade,
they began their adaptation to plains life. They became dependent on hunting
buffalo for their survival, but were also suppliers of pemmican to other traders.
This plains life necessitated the use of the horse, so the Cree forged an alliance
with the Mandan to the south. The trade in horses had gradually moved north
from the Gulf of Mexico where the Spaniards first introduced them in the seven-
teenth century. The Cree continued to supply the Mandan with European goods,
such as kettles, axes, muskets and powder. In return, the Mandan supplied the
Cree with agricultural products: corn, beans and tobacco. By the mid-nineteenth
century the Cree had lost their position as primary suppliers of European goods
to the Mandan, as the latter were now able to trade directly with the inland posts
being established in their territories. With the Mandan trade crumbling, the Cree
were forced to look elsewhere for a supply of horses. They had to make careful,
rational decisions as they moved west and south in search of horses. Inevitably,
they came into conflict with the horse suppliers to the south, especially the Gros
Ventre. During the period from 1790 to 1810, there was much fighting on the
plains as new alliances were sought. The Cree took to raiding horses from their
previous allies, the Mandan. Much of this happened as a result of the move in-
land by the Hudson’s Bay Company and the subsequent displacement of the
Cree as middlemen in the fur trade.

The wars with the Gros Ventre occurred as the Cree attempted to gain more di-
rect access to the horses being traded onto the plains by the Arapaho to the south.
This could only be accomplished by taking control of territory traditionally held by
the Gros Ventre. The Blackfoot, traditional allies of both the Gros Ventre and the
Cree, were called upon to assist the Gros Ventre in defending their territory from
the Cree. These were the same Blackfoot tribes the Cree had once helped to drive
the feared Kootenay and Gros Ventre peoples across the Rockies. Guns obtained by
the Blackfoot from the Cree had given them a decided edge in these conflicts.

The new allies for the Cree during this time became the Flathead Indians, who
supplied them with horses. In return, the Flathead received European goods the
Cree were still obtaining from the HBC. From approximately 1800 to 1850, the
Cree consolidated their power on the plains but did not decentralize as the Black-
foot did. In the span of time since the company had moved inland, much had
changed. The old alliances with the Mandan and Blackfoot had dissolved. Yet,
with great ingenuity and an ability to adapt and forge new alliances, the Cree not
only survived but prospered on the plains.

During the early nineteenth century, the Cree were able to exist in their cen-
tralized tribal way of life because they maintained many of their traditional social
and cultural values. Status was still gained by common activities within the tribe
and not by individual conquest or accumulation of wealth. They kept the tradi-
tion of distribution through gift giving and a “disdain for material possessions.”"
This was in contrast to the Blackfoot, who were growing more towards a social
system based upon status through accumulation of wealth and a decentralized
power structure. The gun and horse were absorbed into Cree society without
drastic changes to their social structure, although some adjustment had to take
place. Tribalism remained the strongest bond for the Cree during the years up to
1850. At the end of this period, they were one of the strongest tribes on the plains.
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The once-powerful Blackfoot were enemies not only of the Kootenay, Gros
Ventre and Crow, but now also of the Cree.

Buffalo Wars, 1850-1870

The years 1850-70 were characterized by dwindling buffalo herds. The Cree
blamed the Métis and whites for the decline, but did not openly clash with them
since they still relied on their trade goods. The Cree partnership with the whites
was no longer as useful as it had once been. The Cree made their own choices
based on what was in their best interest; buffalo were most important to them in
the mid-1800s.

The Cree often fought with the Blackfoot during this period. By the late 1870s,
buffalo came into Cree territory less frequently but were still found regularly on
Blackfoot land. The Cree therefore clashed with the Blackfoot in their quest for
territory where the buffalo still roamed. In 1869, during one of the frequent bat-
tles with the Blackfoot, one of the Cree head chiefs, Maskepetoon, was killed. It
was partially in revenge for his death that the Cree undertook a large campaign
against the Blackfoot in 1870-71. One of the last major battles was fought along
the Oldman River in present-day Alberta. The Cree lost both the battle and the
larger goal of driving the Blackfoot out of buffalo territory.

In the late 1870s, the buffalo rarely came far onto the Canadian prairies and
the herds were soon to be depleted even more rapidly as the hide hunters from
the United States slaughtered the animals in large numbers. These hides were
sold to merchants in Montana who shipped them east, where they were made
into large leather belts which were used for pullies in factory machinery at St.
Louis, New York and Chicago. Buffalo leather was in great demand as it made
the best belts for these purposes.

The era of this trade in buffalo hides was to be short-lived. It ended only a few
years after it had begun with the Cypress Hills Massacre in 1873, when a group of
American desperados killed thirty Assiniboine in the Cypress Hills.”® The massa-
cre brought out the NWMP, who established Canadian authority in the area just
north of the Canadian-American border, putting an end to the forays of Ameri-
can hunters onto Canadian lands.

Decline of the Fur Trade and Buffalo Culture

In the early 1870s there was no one the Cree could turn to for assistance but
the Canadian government, which was offering to settle them on reserves in re-
turn for title to their lands. Some Natives had turned to agriculture in an attempt
to alleviate starvation, but crop failure, government regulation and the elements
made these attempts difficult. More frequently, the Aboriginal traders sold furs to
independent American traders who had established their posts across the south-
ern Canadian prairies. Some of these traders remained in the territory and contin-
ued their trade even after the arrival of the NWMP, but the Aboriginal hunters
found fewer pelts and hides to trade with them. The Natives’ options for survival
were running out as Prime Minister John A. Macdonald’s National Policy, with
its aim of a West settled by Euro-Canadians, closed in on them.

What is clearly evident from accounts of Cree life is that they remained a func-
tioning and vital people. They were never directly the victims of white people or
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other tribes, but consciously and rationally adjusted to new circumstances. How-
ever, over the years their conditions increasingly presented them with new prob—
lems. By 1870, the Cree were as powerful as they had ever been and were in a
strong position to meet any challenges put to them." They had an enviable mili-
tary and diplomatic record as they faced the Canadian state that was moving
westward. In the past, they had often faced new economic and military situations
and had come through each crisis: from their life in the woodlands, to the first
contact with Europeans, from their adaptation to the gun and horse, to their role
as middlemen in the fur trade where they traded with whites and Aboriginals
alike, and finally as plains buffalo hunters. None of these changes had dramati-
cally affected their internal social dynamic.

In the eyes of Euro-Canadians, the ironic tragedy for the Cree in the 1880s was
not their new dependence on white people, but that they had not internally
changed to become the materialistic, acquisitive people that would have adapted
well to the capitalistic society they now had to live in. The social system that had
served them so well for hundreds of years would now be restricted. “What was
led into the bondage of the reserves was not the ruin of a political and social sys-
tem, but rather a healthy organism which had taken root and grown strong on
the plains. The fate of the Plains Cree nation followed that of the buffalo — not to
death, but into a white man’s pound, the reserve.”’® The 1870s were years of dra-
matic change for the Cree as well as for the white people in the West, especially
with the creation of the province of Manitoba. The new political divisions and in-
stitutions were harbingers of change that many Aboriginal people had witnessed
on the American frontier. These were transitional years where the Cree would
move from a life based on migrating herds of buffalo to a sedentary life on re-
serves: when European concepts of time and landholding became dominant on
the prairies and when the idea of landholdmg “in common” would change to
land ownership based on private property.'® These were also the years when the
Aboriginal idea of time, which was based on a close and synchronized relation-
ship with nature, would be lost as they moved onto reserves. There they were
faced with the whites” Newtonian sense of absolute and progressing time as well
as the related concept of “wasted time.””

The European Worldview

The ideology of the Christian worldview brought to the plains by the Euro-
pean missionaries and traders stood in stark contrast to that of the plains tribes.
Christian attitudes toward nature differed markedly from those of the Natives.
They did not live in the same proximity to nature and did not feel the same com-
munion with nature as the Natives did. European Christians adopted an adver-
sarial attitude towards nature and viewed it with suspicion and fear. Nature was
something to be conquered or overcome, as were their own emotional and physi-
cal desires.”® The Christian worldview was person-centred and only incidentally
concerned itself with living in concert with nature or its seasonal cycles. Their
god was one to be feared. According to some missionaries, in order to appease
this god people would need to toil on earth and prove their worth to avoid the
damnation of burning for eternity in hell, a concept alien to Native religion. In In-
dian belief, an individual might be denied the fruits of a pursuit because spirit
powers were not properly appeased, but the consequence was not the drastic
punishment the Christian god was supposed to hand out.

11



The Natives were familiar with Christian concepts through their fur-trade con-
tacts. The European traders did not, however, make any attempt to convert them.
As missionaries began arriving, it was soon apparent that they they saw it as their
role to try to convert what they regarded as a “heathen savage” people to Christian-
ity. These Christian missionaries, unlike Native religious people or shamans, had
what has been described as a compulsive need to convert Natives to Christianity.”
The missionaries felt threatened by the unknown.

These agents of European culture were represented by Roman Catholic, Angli-
can, Methodist and Presbyterian missionaries. The first missionaries to the plains
in the mid-eighteenth century were French Jesuits led by Father Merenerie, com-
ing west with Pierre de La Vérendrye. Other French Oblate missionaries who ar-
rived in the Red River area at this time included Fathers Taché and Aubert. Some
of these Oblate priests, such as Father Scollen, worked among the Blackfoot in the
nineteenth century. Other Catholic priests, such as Father Thibault, made fre-
quent journeys across the prairies, spreadmg the Christian message. By the 1860s,
the Grey Nuns had established mission schools at Lac St. Anne, Tle a la Crosse, St.
Albert and Athabaska. In 1888 a mission was established at St. Boniface by Father
Joseph Provencher.

Anglican missionaries were also among the first to arrive in the West. Under the
auspices of the Church Missionary Society, Reverend John West established a
school aimed at educating Native boys in the ways of European society. Several
other missionaries arrived to expand the program in the Red River area and to as-
sist West in his mission, with additional schools being built across the prairies for
similar purposes. In 1840 Henry Budd, a Cree and a Christian convert, established a
mission at The Pas, and soon more schools like his were begun by other converts
among the indigenous peoples. Like the Catholic missionaries, the Church of
England missionaries moved westward by the 1860s into what is now Alberta.

Although they arrived later than the Catholics and Anglicans, the Methodist
missionaries were no less enthusiastic in bringing the message of the Bible to the
Natives. Among the Wesleyan Methodists were some of the more prolific authors
who published accounts of their life on the prairies and their experiences with the
Natives. The most famous were Reverends Robert Rundle, John McLean, Egerton
Ryerson Young, and the renowned father and son team of George and John
McDougall. John McDougall published many books describing his early experi-
ences on the plains and perhaps more than the others he tried to understand the
Natives” way of life. In spite of his many years among the plains tribes, however,
he could not rid himself of the belief that the way of life of the society and culture
he was promoting was superior to that of Native peoples McDougall, despite
his attempts to overcome his biases, left the overall impression that the Natives
were a feeble, backward race, and as a consequence he argued that the land
should eventually be occupied by his own people, whom he believed were
stronger and more industrious. The biblical injunctions that informed and di-
rected the missionaries compelled them to reject Aboriginal culture and society.
At the cornerstone stood the dictum from Genesis 1:28: “Be fruitful, and multiply,
and replenish the earth, and subdue it; and have dominion over the fish of the
sea, and over the fowl of the air, and over every living thing that moveth upon
the earth.” This was the directive for the Christian “sodbuster” to break the land.
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The European Critique of Aboriginal Life

Though they had often adjusted to changing circumstances, the plains tribes
still lived in close proximity to nature. The seasonal cycles and pulse of nature,
not the Newtonian clock of absolute time ticking by the second, dictated their
movements. These contrasting concepts of time made it easy for the Europeans to
criticize what appeared to them as laziness, since their unit for measuring the
time by which tasks were to be accomplished, the “second,” was much smaller
than that of the Natives. The Europeans seemed to race against time in order to
harvest what they saw as the vast potential for power around them.

There were other characteristics of Aboriginal society that made Victorian Ca-
nadians critical of Native life. The Aboriginals’ apparently casual attitude to-
wards private property was quite alien to the European, whose idea of worth was
based upon the concept of accumulation of individual wealth. The European con-
cept of private property eventually destroyed the Natives’ claims to the use of the
western prairie, and it was the consequences of implementing this idea that ulti-
mately would erode the Aboriginal way of life. The concept of property title for
land ownership was alien to Native peoples. The movement of Natives across the
plains without an easily perceptible purpose was seen as evidence of a shiftless
people, ill-equipped by religion and unprepared by culture to recognize the value
of property ownership. Victorians saw private property as a necessary requisite
in establishing a habit of work and the desire to strive for improvement. Hunting
was not a respected pursuit to the Victorian frame of mind unless as a sport or
pastime. Such a lifestyle, based on a feast-or-famine cycle, was thought to be “im-
provident” and evidence that the Aboriginal, whose economy was based on
hunting, was incapable of careful planning for the future. To live so close to na-
ture and be virtually at its mercy was an indication of a “primitive” society; not to
accumulate a surplus proved a lack of mastery over nature.

By the 1880s, as the Natives became more destitute and dependent upon the
whites, many Canadians believed they had been proven right. To them, the Na-
tives” inability to make the land fruitful by settling rather than wandering in pur-
suit of game was evidence of a people that did not live correctly. Indeed, their
own way of life seemed to flourish next to that of the Native.

Attitudes toward “land use” changed on the prairies during the 1870s and
1880s. The transition (some would say the progression) went from the enjoyment
of land in common (that is, to be used by all) to “open access,” where land is
claimed, but can still be used by others, to entrenchment of land held legally as
private property. Prior to the systematic setttement of the prairies, Native society
functioned on and perhaps survived through communal cooperation. Natives did
not believe that anyone had sole rights to resources: “game was the common
property of all, and everyone had a chance to share in this gift of nature.””

When passing through occupied Aboriginal territory, individuals were free to
take or use any resources needed, whether that be game, water or fuel. The plains
tribes were “a people who had no notion of exclusive and permanent property
rights in land or the other gifts of the Great Spirit.”? Those with a wealth of re-
sources in band or tribal society would share with those less fortunate; it was con-
sidered to be a matter of pride and an indication of status to be able to give to
those who were in need.
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The plains tribes were in fact living amid wealth, and by the nature of their
culture did not need to be conspicuous consumers. Their environment was rich
with resources: wood, water, forage, game, fish, berries, honey, wild rice, cloth-
ing, housing, weapons, implements, toys and thread. However, in order to have
access to all this, a great freedom of movement was required. Farming, which en-
tailed a more sedentary life, was only incidental to plains consumption, and agri-
cultural products were usually obtained by trade. The tribes thus moved with the
seasons as they knew the migrations and cycles of plains wildlife.

Most obviously disruptive to this lifestyle was the disappearance of the buf-
falo herds, which led to a greater dependence on other food sources and in-
creased agriculture. Their movements were not only restricted by his
development, but by the increasing settlement of the plains. At first, through the
1870s, those tribes who had not yet signed a treaty protested against white set-
tlers and interlopers who simply occupied territory and gave nothing back in re-
turn. It is not clear if they understood the settlers were actually claiming the land.
“[Elmphasis was on the use of the lands — indeed, it seems probable that the In-
dians thought of the problem as that of the right to use their lands ... [t]he out-
right sale of those lands was a concept entirely unfamiliar to them.””

Gradually, more of their resources such as wood for fuel and game were not
only being depleted, but exploited. Several American companies began fishing in
Lake Winnipeg, exporting the catch back to Detroit where demand was high.
Throughout Whoop-Up Country, the buffalo were being shot in disturbingly
large numbers for leather-machine-belt production. At the time, buffalo leather
was the best material available for belts used in factories of the rapidly growing
industries of eastern cities like St. Louis, Chicago, and New York. By the late
1870s, only a few major buffalo hunts were being reported, the last one occurring
on Canadian soil in 1879. As a result, the plains tribes were without the staple
they depended upon for survival. As land was used up and movement restricted
or no longer of any purpose, their options diminished:

The old balance between a limited human use of the gifts of nature held as com-
mon property by each tribe and natural regeneration of those gifts was finally de-
stroyed when they were thrown open to all comers including those intent on
commercial exploitation. The disappearance of the buffalo was a classic instance
of the “tragedy of the commons,” when a common-property resource was trans-
ferred into an open-access resource.?*

Increased settlement occurred almost simultaneously throughout the 1880s.
Resources such as hay and wood were now pursued and harvested as never be-
fore. Even the open-access system was being eroded as “private property” was
increasingly being claimed and occupied. In a sense, the loss of the buffalo over-
shadowed the disastrous “impact on the native peoples of the new order based
on private ownership of all natural resources.”” As plains tribes began to claim
and settle on their reserves, they were perhaps unaware that they would no
longer be allowed the free movement they had once enjoyed over the vast plains.
Now the real significance of the reserves became apparent. Before the 1870s the
society was relatively egalitarian,

in which all had access to common riches provided by nature, and [one] in which,
if disparities in skill, strength, and luck gave some more wealth than others, the
difference had been to a considerable extent offset by sharing by the more
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fortunate of their material means with those in need, in accordance with the
strong native tradition. Now they were shouldered aside by wealth-accumulating
newcomers, sinking to the lowest position in an unfamiliar order characterized
by wide disparities in economic and social status.?®

The Treaty Process

The treaties were a last attempt to protect the resources the Cree used and
shared with others. The treaties restricted their way of life but they believed they
could move on the plains as they always had. Their protest against regulations
that attempted to prevent their movement was perhaps best expressed in 1885,
when they saw the treaties being used to isolate them. Big Bear and his followers
were among the last to have any hope that the new order could be resisted. With
the common land gone, the Natives had little choice but to move onto reserves.

The treaties signed in the Canadian West between the government and the
plains tribes followed from British practice and were similar to the American tra-
dition of settling claims of dispute. Negotiated settlement was usually preferable.
It is generally agreed that the treaties were negotiated and not imposed, but
whether they were negotiated between equals remains to be determined and is
presently a point of contention among scholars. Each side had its own end in
mind. The Natives wanted two goals realized: to ensure the physical and cultural
survival of their people, and to improve their material position. In most cases, it
was expected this would be achieved through a change in lifestyle from the
plains buffalo culture to the agricultural life once Natives were relocated on the
reserves.

Before 1830, the British government policy was to keep the Natives content so
they would not join in alliances with the Americans. To achieve this, presents
were given in an effort to keep these Natives loyal; however, after the 1830s, the
motives of the colonial and imperial governments changed. Increasingly, the ef-
forts of the government and its agents focussed on “civilizing” the Natives. Al-
though it was an altruistic goal which was in the best interests of the Natives, it
was ultimately generated out of self-interest.

By the 1870s, the desire was to remove the tribes as an obstacle to settlement.
Large numbers of hungry and unpredictable Indians were seen as a hindrance to
the massive prairie immigration envisaged by Ottawa. The attitude at the time
was that the Natives would be much more controllable on reserves. Under the
administration of a government department, they could be socially and economi-
cally controlled, and scrutinized and channelled through regulation into areas of
economic enterprises agreeable to the authorities. It was hoped that over time,
when “civilized,” the Natives could be absorbed into the society being ushered
onto the plains.

As was the case elsewhere, immigrants drove the indigenous people back,
sometimes using them as labour when needed. Then, as immigration increased,
their labour was no longer needed and they were moved out of the way onto re-
serves.” The government encouraged immigration to the West, and, as sub-
sequent events were to show, it was far more interested in obtaining Aboriginal
lands than it was with assisting these Native prairie dwellers to a new economic
livelihood.
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There is evidence in all the numbered treaties in the West that the Natives were
willing and in some cases anxious to adapt to a new way of life. Most understood
the inevitability of losing their former lifestyle and negotiated hard to wrestle what
they could from the commissioners who bargained with them. Of scholars who
have written about the treaties, only George Stanley argues that they were not re-
ally negotiated.”® He suggests that the Indians were only able to accept or reject
what was presented to them and were unable to change or negotiate terms. He
states that the Natives did not understand what was happening and had a different
interpretation of what the land-ownership clauses of the treaties meant. While the
latter point might be conceded, Stanley’s position generally implies that the Natives
were not capable of bargaining for their own interests. There is considerable evi-
dence to the contrary, as each treaty in its own way reflects different concerns and
terms. While starving tribes who had lost their way of life can hardly be seen to be
negotiating as equals, it cannot be assumed they did not negotiate at all. The evi-
dence, especially for Treaties 3 and 6, indicates they were astute bargainers getting
what they could from an otherwise difficult situation.

In the mid-1860s, the Canadian government began negotiations with Natives
in the Fort Francns—Ramy River area, a place referred to as the North-West Angle
of Lake of the Woods.” The treaty signings proceeded through Manitoba and into
the North-West. At Treaty 6, signed at Forts Pitt and Carlton, all of the Natives
bargained hard for better terms and made every effort short of not signing. They
did this even though they had been presented with an ultimatum by Lieutenant
Governor Morris: there would be little change to the treaty as it was being of-
fered, and the Natives could take it or leave it. Though in a difficult position, the
Natives were determined to bargain hard. They knew what they wanted and
would not easily give up the 121,000 square miles under negotiation.

At Treaty 6, after many impassioned speeches by the major leaders of the
Wood and Plains Cree tribes and many days of bargaining, the chiefs came to an
agreement with the government officials. While maintaining the major features of
the previous numbered treaties, they won three new concessions. First was a
clause to assist the Natives in case of famine and pestilence; second, a medicine
chest was to be given under the treaty and kept by the Indian agent; third, the
Natives were to receive extra provisions to assist them in crop cultivation for the
first three years of the treaty. They also got a greater number of cattle and agricul-
tural implements than had been negotiated in other treaties.

Treaty 6 shows that the Cree wanted to make the transition to an agricultural
way of life and bargained as hard as they could for provisions that would allow
them to do so. The government may have been forced to give some concessions
to the Cree, who were perceived to be among the most volatile and potentially
violent of the plains tribes. The government was also anxious to have the agricul-
turally rich plains of the southern grain belt opened for settlers.

With the treaties for the plains tribes signed by the 1880s, attention turned to
administration. Many of the Aboriginal signatories were anxious to adopt a new
livelihood, but the government would need to live up to its part of the treaty by
assisting in this transition. As historian Sarah Carter has argued, the Cree leader-
ship was persistent in demanding assistance towards establishing agricultural
economies and was equally per51stent in reminding the government of its prom-
ises after the treaty was signed.”
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By this time, Edgar Dewdney had replaced David Laird as Indian commis-
sioner. Dewdney was faced with formidable challenges in the 1880s. He would
need to reorganize his department to facilitate the agricultural society the govern-
ment wanted the Natives to adopt. He would also have to establish a policy for
the distribution of relief, especially in Treaty 6 where a particular provision had
been made for such a circumstance.

The Aboriginal position had weakened by the 1880s. While at the start of the ne-
gotiations they had only wanted to give up a small part of their lands (in Treaty 1
they wanted two-thirds of Manitoba), by the time Treaty 7 was made, there was less
and less territory granted to them by the formula the government used to deter-
mine the size of reserves. Indeed, it remains unclear whether the government offi-
cials ever explained what the reserve system would be like to the chiefs present at
Treaties 6 and 7. Most chiefs at Treaties 6 and 7 thought they had agreed to share
the land in return for annuities, education, medical and famine assistance, as well as
a commitment to establish ranching and farm economies. The Natives were still left
with the understanding that they were free to hunt and fish where they saw fit and
were not restricted by the boundaries of their reserves. Big Bear was still demand-
ing hunting privileges into the 1880s, but the detailed position of the government
on land surrender had not been made clear to the Natives. These provisions were
perhaps deliberately kept vague, possibly to avoid a serious point of contention
during the negotiations. In spite of this, it was clear that the Natives had little alter-
native. They did not want war; indeed, they were not united enough to provide a
front against the threatened settlement of their land, and the military presence at
the treaty negotiations showed them that any resistance would be met by force.
Most of the tribes preferred to settle on the Canadian side of the border and were
no doubt lured by the attraction of the initial payment the government offered. If
they did not sign, they knew they would be left with nothing. In the final analysis of
the treaty process, they did more than merely sign to share land. Through their ne-
gotiations they were hoping to establish themselves with a new economy, and they
committed the government to assist them in their transition to an agricultural soci-
ety. Whether that society was to be merely for subsistence or one that would partici-
pate fully in the market economy of the grain trade along with other settlers was a
question yet to be answered.
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TWO

The Material Culture of Fort Battleford

The Herald's Song

I was born without pomp or glory,
Unfettered but uncaressed,

Amid hills eternal and hoary,

In the land of the golden West.

Till the red man’s wild traditions
Lose their triumphant sway —
Till errors, and superstitions

Be scattered and swept away.

Thus amid wild turmoiling

L will live to a good old age,

And the deeds of a ceaseless toiling
Shall shine in a deathless page.

When my works from the nation’s records
Shall gleam without shade of strain,

1 shall feel with g thrill triumphant

That I have not lived in vain.

And perchance, in the long, long future,

E'er the star of my life goes down,

I shall know that this land shines the brightest
Of the gems in the British crown.

That I was her proud defender

Till she bore a victorious sway,

In her robings of matchless splendor
That never will fade away.

P.G. Laurie
(from the inaugural issue of the Saskatchewan Herald, 1878)

The material culture at Fort Battleford is the most extensive record that re-
mains for understanding the society that was established there in the late nine-
teenth century. The buildings, along with the associated furniture, instruments,
tools and utensils, art and decoration provide the most significant, conscious
(even self-conscious) expressions of Victorian culture and ideology of the late
1800s. They are the concrete evidence that allows us to analyze the nature of cul-
tural values at the time these objects were created. They reflect “the beliefs of the
individuals who made, commissioned, purchased, or used them, and by exten-
sion the beliefs of the larger society to which they belong.”!

The agents of Anglo-Canadian culture carried instruments to the North-West for
measuring and classifying the land. Other items helped them to survive materially
and spiritually as well as physically and psychologically. The stoves for warmth,
the pots for cooking, the lamps for light were artifacts necessary for physical
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survival. For aesthetic survival they hung pictures and posters that conformed to
their inherited ideas of familiarity, beauty and comfort. Their spiritual survival was
provided through the Christian symbols and literature at the fort.

The attitudes of the police towards other inhabitants in the North-West and to
the world in general were reflected by the fort itself. The structure represented
what the Mounties feared as well as what they wanted to establish. There were
basically two groups of buildings: those which were self-conscious symbols of
their culture intended to impress viewers, and those which were strictly func-
tional. There were no obvious frills or symbols included on these latter buildings,
which were the most common at the fort. They included barracks buildings, sta-
bles, storage buildings, artisan shops and commissariat buildings. Structures that
were intended to be aesthetically remarkable included houses for officers and
buildings used for official functions. The building distribution reflected in micro-
cosm the importance of the class nature of Victorian society: most were ordinary,
only a few were adorned.

The major buildings, built between 1876 and 1900, were designed by the Depart-
ment of Public Works in Ottawa. They reflect the influence of Victorian architec-
tural trends popular during the nineteenth century in eastern Canada, Britain and
the United States. Among the earliest public edifices in the North-West, they were
significant because they stood as symbols of the Anglo-Canadian elite which was
then emerging as the dominant force in western Canada. The sophistication of this
new architecture provided a startling contrast on a frontier where previously
Native lodges and log buildings had provided only the barest of shelter.

The Tradition of Forts in Canada

The palisade was one of the first defensive structures used by Europeans
when they arrived in North America. In 1876 the NWMP erected a rather primi-
tive palisade at Fort Battleford, just after the fort was established. Fort Battleford
was an extension of an established tradition in a land “dotted with old forts.”?
Canada was a place of conquest, and the forts had to protect armies, explorers
and traders from those thought to be hostile to them. The builders of forts could
not rely on the leisurely process of trial and error that settlers and traders often
adopted; they had to work within the constraints of a particular environment.
They simply built forts as they knew them from their inherited traditions.

Forts differed one from another within the basic form, yet they all evolved
from a common European tradition beginning in the fifteenth century when the
cannon introduced a new offensive warfare that could be launched from a fort. In
the sixteenth century, bastions were an important feature that allowed more flex-
ible firepower against aggressors. By the seventeenth century, large fortresses
housing substantial armies were designed to withstand the new strategy of siege
warfare. Changes in technology produced new concepts of fighting, shaped the
form of cities, and determined the character of warfare.

Fort Battleford was an example of the “detached fort” that emerged at the end
of eighteenth-century warfare. The days of long and elaborate siege wars were
gone. Artillery had become too mobile for that. Fortresses were no longer central
in warfare but were, in Napoleon’s words, excellent support for war. They re-
mained important, but mainly as supply depots. Loopholes in walls replaced the
elaborate earthworks of the enceinte. Thus, detached posts or fortresses served the
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centre militarily, and represented a new form of mobile warfare that appeared on
the prairies with the forts of the North West Mounted Police. Battleford and other
NWMP forts, as ramshackle as they may have appeared, were examples of the
evolving use of the fort as an effective form of defence when moving into an un-
known frontier.

Beyond the most obvious military reasons for fort building, there were psy-
chological and cultural reasons for constructing garrisons in the New World.
These reasons give important insights into the ideology of the European culture
that was extending into the North-West. New technologies gave armies more mo-
bility and allowed the European powers greater maneuverability as they ex-
panded into the frontiers at the edge of their empires. However, the need for
fortification remained. In spite of the new technology, men and armies still
needed fortifications for psychological as well as physical security.

The NWMP moved into the North-West in the wake of the Cypress Hills Mas-
sacre in 1873, becoming agents of the culture that first appeared in the West
through the fur trader and was entrenched by the homesteader. Like their prede-
cessors, the police arrived to claim possession of the land for a society based in
the East; they did not come to live in harmony with it or feel a part of it. Their
forts were garrisons in a more direct sense than either those of the fur trader or
homesteader. The NWMP was therefore a significant force in extending the cul-
tural values the fur trade companies had begun to establish for those who came
to populate the West under Macdonald’s National Policy.

In the period 1877-84, Troops A to F were distributed between Fort Macleod,
Fort Walsh, Fort Calgary, Fort Edmonton, Fort Battleford and Regina. Each of
these main forts also had outposts which became part of the patrol system. Fort
Battleford, for example, had outposts at Onion Lake, Bresaylor, Sounding Lake
and Sixty Mile Bush. Each of these depots consisted of a rough log structure at
which a small detachment of men could spend time. These outposts, strung
across the country from the Rockies to Manitoba, were particularly important in
the southern portion of the Canadian prairies in the early years of the force. As
the flow of whiskey was curtailed and most Natives were consigned to reserves,
the forts and outposts in the south were no longer as significant and attention
was increasingly paid to the northern plains where most Natives had been en-
couraged to establish reserves. This distribution of Mounties clearly shows a
gradual shift in the period 1876-85. Fort Battleford, with its many surrounding
Cree reserves, was the most significant focal point for police activities in the years
immediately preceding 1885.

Evolution of Fort Battleford’s Layout

Like other early police forts, Battleford’s layout was organized around a mili-
tary square with a rough stockade to protect the forces. Quarters for the superin-
tendent and officers were the most elaborate and were set off from the rest of the
force. Stables and enlisted men’s barracks were situated across the square away
from the officers. Next to these facilities were quartermasters’ stores, artificer
shops, and hospital buildings or rooms. Often many of these functions were com-
bined in one long building. This arrangement was typical of almost all of the
early forts. There were also smaller separate buildings for the magazine, ice-
house, blacksmith shops and guardhouses.
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Fort Battleford’s beginnings as an outpost were typical of other NWMP forts. It
gradually evolved to accommodate itself to the surrounding community by
adopting a less military appearance. In the first years, the fort was significant as
the place that housed enforcement and reflected the administrative authority of
the Canadian government through the territorial capital established in 1876. Un-
like Fort Walsh and other prairie forts, a stockade was not immediately con-
structed (perhaps due to the lack of proper logs); instead, fairly elaborate
buildings were raised that displayed symbols of Victorian Canada to the indige-
nous prairie peoples. Thus, though perhaps less militaristic in appearance than
forts like Walsh, the authority of Victorian culture was obviously represented in
the Gothic Revival of the commanding officer’s residence. The military square
was clearly established early in the layout of the fort.

There were three distinct phases of the fort’s physical life: 1876-85, 1885-1914,
and 1914 to the present. Eighteen to twenty buildings were erected in the period
1876-85, one-third of which were constructed in the first year. Three of these early
buildings were living quarters for officers and enlisted men, while an artificer’s
shop, storehouse and stables were also built. Over the years, a number of other
service buildings were added, such as a hospital and the Native department
store, as well as more living quarters. An icehouse and dry kiln were constructed
for keeping ice during the hot summer months and making bricks respectively. A
rough stockade was also raised to protect the police grounds. The most remark-
able feature of this layout was its militaristic character, most evident in the
parade grounds and square, stockade and military arrangement of the buildings.
A number of other impressive structures built at this time made clear statements
about the kind of culture the police would disseminate in the North-West.

The fort was located on high ground between the Battle and North Saskatche-
wan rivers. It was isolated from both the town and government buildings and its
location guarded against attack from all directions. While the fort had an easily
accessible water supply, water had to be hauled up a steep riverbank when the
wells did not provide sufficient water. This was to be the source of some embar-
rassment and inconvenience in 1885 during the “siege,” when the 500 people lo-
cated within the stockade were in dire need of water. On the other hand, the fort
was fortuitously surrounded by good hay lands.

Other landscape features of this period included a series of local trails to the
fort which led to Government House and the townsite. There were also hayfields
and gardens located behind the commanding officer’s residence. It was thought
that such gardens were commensurate with the civilization that should accom-
pany a commanding officer of the NWMP. A sports field was located to the north,
toward the townsite. Thus by the time of the fighting in the spring of 1885, there
were approximately fourteen buildings standing around the parade ground in-
side the stockade; some half dozen others were located immediately outside its
protection. During this period, the fort stood as an obvious example of the garri-
son mentality, with the police huddled within its confines against the unknown
forces of nature and the surrounding indigenous populations. Their material cul-
ture, especially as it adorned their buildings, shows the need to identify with the
culture of the mother country. In these early years the police adopted little of the
culture of their neighbours, although their own culture did eventually change as
it became necessary for the Mounties to make adaptations to survive in such a
vast, unfamiliar territory.
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The second distinct phase in the history of the fort’s layout was the period
1885-1914. The number of buildings at Battleford increased significantly as did
the number of men at the fort. This period was most remarkable for an overall
change in the orientation of the layout. It moved away from the strict military
square to one that was aligned along the local survey grid of 1884. Thus, the old
rigidity of the imposed structures gave way to accommodate local and environ-
mental conditions. As the construction boom period of 1885-90 began, buildings
were now located along extensions of the town’s streets rather than reinforcing
the defensive military features that had characterized the fort to that date. The
stockade was replaced by fences and the layout began to meld with the town sur-
vey pattern. It was obvious that threats from Native populations were no longer
seen as imminent. Perhaps the police knew they had served their purpose and
were now able to relax in the new, less formal layout. This reflected, in part, their
successful subjugation of the Native population, who were no longer seen as a
threat to the incoming white settlers.

In this new alignment, buildings were constructed along the extension of First
Avenue. These included the concert hall, mess hall and quartermaster’s store.
There was also a new hospital located close to the town as well as a surgeon’s
residence. These buildings represented greater physical contact with the local
community as the police were no longer needed in a military capacity. They were
also there to serve the needs of the townspeople, if not the Cree residents on the
reserves, instead of simply protecting them. The concert hall built along the street
was easily accessible to the townspeople and was a good example of the erosion
of the military barriers that had once stood. The concert hall housed many social
and cultural events and became part of community life. By 1890, only five years
after it had so significantly protected the local population, the stockade had fallen
into such disrepair that it simply collapsed and was not replaced.

There were new buildings erected inside the stockade as well, most notably a
handsome officers’ quarters built in the Second Empire style. New stables and a
wagon shed appeared, as did a new guardhouse, and a specialized sick horse sta-
ble was raised. New improved privies replaced older dilapidated ones, and
boardwalks especially useful during wet weather were constructed to facilitate
local foot traffic. As older buildings were dismantled new ones appeared, and in
1890 the sergeant’s residence was moved onto the grounds along First Avenue to
provide a family home for an officer. As new streets were used, the old trails fell
into disuse and new fence lines appeared.

Overall the fort resembled a hybrid, a mix of the military square and the new
grid layout of the expanding municipality. A new square was created in the mid-
1880s, located in an area between the concert hall, mess buildings and stables. Af-
ter the 1890s, there were few new buildings and gradually the need for a large
fort was reduced. By World War I, many of the buildings had collapsed and only
a few families of policemen still lived on the property.

The third period, 1914 to the present, was also a period of dramatic change in
the layout of the fort. In some ways this period represents the era when the most
significant alterations happened. The changes, however, issued more from ad-
ministrative decisions than from cultural use of the fort by the NWMP. The great
majority of alterations occurred after 1926 when the site was declared a place of
national significance. These major changes reflect approaches and attitudes of
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“The Log Fort,” 1885 period (Fort Battleford NHP Library). This drawing by Harry Tatro was based
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on an 1884 plan.
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An accurate diagram of Fort Battleford’s barracks, 1878 (National Archives of Canada, RG11, vol. 576,
file 94).
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“Inside the Police Barracks during the siege. Tents of refugees in the Barrack Square,” by William R.
Rutherford, ca. 1885 (Glenbow Archives, P-1390-8).

Canadian troops entering Battleford, 1885 ((Glenbow Archives, NWR 1.2-8).
Residents of Battleford town were greatly relieved by the arrival of Otter's column. Members of the force are
depicted arriving to a heroes” welcome by handkerchief-waving residents.



This is a view of the south side of the Concert Hall. Note the small Gothic windows under the gable. Flourishes
such as this were found on a number of the more functional buildings, though most of the style and decoration
were reserved for the residences of the officers (Glenbow Archives, NA-779-2).

This photograph from about 1890 shows, from left to right, the Surgeon’s Residence, the Commanding Officer’s
Residence, the Officers’” Quarters, the hospital, stables, icehouse, men’s barracks, Mess Hall, Concert Hall and
Guard House (Glenbow Archives, N A-2235-20).
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early heritage preservation, especially through the first three decades following
the designation of the site. The initial garrison construction of the fort was eroded
even further during this period.

There was an initial time of upkeep from 1914-19, when Superintendent C.H.
West occupied the command post at Battleford. In 1919, the area headquarters
was moved to Prince Albert and the fort was only used as a depot. It was totally
abandoned in 1924 when Sergeant Shepard was transferred to North Battleford.
At this time, significant deterioration began. Joe Guthrie, a long-time resident of
the area who lived in the commanding officer’s residence for awhile, remembers
1924-28 as the years when the fort fell into total disrepair:

But then for the years from 1924-25 there, until about 1928, the place was vacant.
It just went to wreck and ruin. Everybody went in there and they ransacked it
and they broke windows and sell the rest of it. And then the town took it over,
and they rented some of the buildings to Harry Stewart, he had some cattle up
there and he also stored grain there. And then the concert hall was sold to Hull,
Clink and Quail, I guess Quail bought it not Hull so much, and then he tore it
down and made a bunch of cabooses out of it. Well, then some of the older build-
ings were torn down, it was one of the last ones to be torn down. It was in good
shape, the barn. Well, to tell the truth, I don’t know why they tore it down. The
town sold it but like the big barn, the latest barn that was torn down, it was torn
down for the lumber. But then they had what they call the icehouse, and the fire
hall and the blacksmith’s shop, they were all made of logs, but they gradually de-
teriorated, the plaster fell off of them and they were getting to be a danger you
know of falling over and peoples’ kids going in there and one thing and another,
so they tore them down. The town sold some of them then they tore them down
and just scrapped them ?

The Guthrie family moved into the commanding officer’s residence in 1928 and
helped slow the deterioration of a few of the remaining buildings. This, plus the
work of Campbell Innes, a local school teacher, helped to stop the total decay of the
buildings at Battleford. Some buildings, like the concert hall, were removed from
the fort while others were simply dismantled for lumber and logs. This process was
accentuated from 1924-28 but continued throughout the 1930s and 1940s. What was
protected were the officers’ quarters and commanding officer’s residence. The
former was turned into a Native museum for awhile, with the latter being restored
to contemporary standards.

Road systems, parking lots, fences, hedges and tree lines also altered the shape
of the fort's layout throughout these years. The roads increasingly reflected the
grid layout of the municipal system, while the hedges and tree lines were exam-
ples of the styles thought appropriate for adorning heritage sites. Manchurian
elms, caragana, maples and spruce trees were planted at various times to outline
specific areas and the site as a whole. Through the 1940s and into the 1950s, gar-
dens and ornamental stones were placed along pathways.

The 1950s was an era of significant change. Most notably, the stockade was re-
constructed in conformance with the model of the Fort Langley stockade. How-
ever, because little research was available at the time, the reconstruction was
more closely suited to the fur trade than to a North West Mounted Police fort. A
new entrance changed the prevailing road system once again, and new adminis-
trative buildings greeted visitors as they approached the site. Outlying buildings,
such as the sick horse stable and guardhouse, were relocated and lined up with
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the commanding officer’s residence and officers’ quarters to provide visitors with
easier access to the remaining historic structures outside the stockade. Only “Bar-
racks 5” (or the mess hall) was left in its original location. Some ornamental land-
scape features were added, such as painted stones and gardens, but these were
not based on historical research either.

Minor changes occurred through the 1960s. The outlines of building founda-
tions were indicated on the grounds, and maintenance and restoration work to
existing buildings also took place during this time. Limited resource allocation
for the fort meant that little reliable archaeological and historical research was un-
dertaken. Only in the late 1970s were structural histories written and in the 1980s
a contextual history placed the history of the fort in a national and regional con-
text. With the management planning underway in the 1980s, new initiatives were
identified and the development of historic resources undertaken.

Victorian Architectural Traditions on the Prairies

For the Victorians, architecture not only provided shelter but served as a
means of communication. Architectural forms were often chosen for the build-
ings’ needs. Regionally, the structures erected at Battleford by the Department of
Public Works were the first buildings after 1870 to depart from the simple log
shelter, and were built with a style and panache to convey messages of this cul-
ture to newcomers. Government House at Battleford is an example of this more
sophisticated style.

The “picturesque” structures occupied by the North West Mounted Police
were instrumentatl in disseminating Anglo-Canadian ideas to the West. Many im-
migrants may not have understood the concepts depicted by Victorian styles, but
the culture represented by these buildings and the customs of the society they
symbolized were firmly passed on by the police.*

These Gothic Revival buildings were constructed in the last quarter of the
nineteenth century, at a time when the influences of Victorian architecture were
dominant in Canada. Two architects, Thomas Fuller, Sr. and Thomas Scott,
shared responsibility for imposing the Gothic and Italianate styles upon public
building in Canada late in the century.’ Both were born in Britain, worked on the
design and construcnon of the Parliament Buildings, and had lengthy careers in
the public service.® Fuller, whose tenure as Canada’s chief architect lasted from
1881 to 1897, was particularly influential in determining the style for federally
financed buildings in Canada. His tenure ensured that Gothic and Italianate be-
came dominant modes even for relatively 1n51gmflcant wooden buildings, such as
those designed for the North West Mounted Police.” The commandmg officer’s
residence at Fort Battleford, built in 1876-77 and still standing, is clearly within
the Gothic style of the Romantic Revival. Its vertical lines, originally crowned by
a finial, bargeboards pendants, bay window and “picturesque setting,” make it
typical of this style.’

Details characterizing Christian traditions were included on Gothic structures.
Trefoil designs represented the Trinity, and the trefoil pattern carved into the
wooden bargeboard beneath the peak of the gable in the commanding officer’s
residence is a graphic depiction of “carpenter’s Gothic.” Cruciform plans were
used to symbolize the everlasting sacrifice, while pinnacles represented souls
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seeking their ““finial’ in that heaven where alone the soul’s consummation ‘can’
be sought.”’ Although the commanding officer’s residence was L-shaped (as was
Government House) instead of the cross-shaped floor plan, it did originally dis-
play finials (or pinnacles) at the peak of each gable.

The adaptation of the Victorian Gothic to domestic housing led to the intro-
duction of a number of other features such as bay windows (which allowed for a
feeling of closeness to nature), chimney stacks, ceilings, and panelled wainscots
around interior walls. Both the commanding officer’s residence and Government
House exhibited these additional features, the most outstanding being the elabo-
rate bay window in the former structure.

Of course, the Greek Revival style was not totally excluded from public build-
ings in North America, nor was it categorically condemned. As the nineteenth-
century American architect H.H. Holly stated:

For ecclesiastical structures, colleges, etc., the Gothic designs are rapidly super-
seding the Italian, while for public buildings for government, and other secular
purposes, the Grecian is generally regarded as preferable.m

Details of the Greek Revival are found in the pedimented window casings in both
the commanding officer’s residence and Government House.

The interior features of the commanding officer’s residence are consistent with
those of other Victorian houses." Immediately to the left of the front entrance is a
large living room or parlour for public and official occasions. To the right, upon
entering the front door, a stairway leads to the private section, making the divi-
sion between public and private areas of the house immediately apparent. At the
back is the winter kitchen and servants” dining room while an ell containing the
summer kitchen is attached to the rear of the house. The servants’ stairway is an-
other feature common in Victorian housing. The second storey contains three
bedrooms and a small landing,.

The officers’ quarters with its French-style mansard roof, decorative barge-
boards, finials and dormer windows is clearly within the Second Empire style
popular during the mid-to-late nineteenth century. Even though this fashion origi-
nated in France, it was seen as a variation of the Italianate style because of its heavy
forms and elaborate ornamentation.”” It was the addition to the Louvre, commis-
sioned by Napoleon III, that brought the Second Empire style international recogni-
tion and most often “focused on notable, newly constructed public buildings.”" The
style did not, however, make its way to North America directly from France, but
was introduced through British architects who were designing public buildings in
Britain after the Second Empire model. It therefore became part of the broader Vic-
torian architectural tradition in North America through this British connection. The
Italianate style as part of the Romantic Revival in Victorian architecture swept
North America during the latter part of the nineteenth century.™

The officers” quarters, done in the Romantic Revival style of the 1870s, took
nearly four years to complete and serves as an example of a building whose con-
struction was significantly influenced by local circumstances. A shortage of mate-
rials meant that the walls of the structure had to be built of logs instead of
finished lumber. Although porches were initially not part of the building, they
were added later because of the effects of extreme temperature on the building.
An absence of skilled labour on the Canadian frontier in the 1880s frequently
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resulted in jerry-built construction, as is evident in the trussing visible in the attic
of this building.

Victorian architectural details are also found scattered throughout other build-
ings at Fort Battleford, for example the cross-shaped floor of the surgeon’s residence
and its gingerbread gables. The Gothic arch on the concert hall (no longer standing)
was an interesting sidelight on an otherwise ordinary building, and an example of
late Victorian eclecticism was found in the original pagoda-style cupola on the sick
horse stable. This scattering of detail is in itself illustrative of the derivative nature
of western building, though the retention of “picturesque” features and asymmetri-
cal designs in the face of the “classical revival” seems more suitable to the plains
environment.

Despite the derivative nature of Government House and the commanding offi-
cer’s residence, these buildings are examples of what has been labelled the “Cana-
dian vernacular.”*® This classification defines those buildings that, though clearly
representative of borrowed styles, show adaptation to their setting and environ-
ment through structural refinement or the use of local materials. Constructed with
logs and often covered by clapboards and stucco, both buildings were built of local
timber. The discrete simplicity of the decorative details of these two buildings is
more compatible with their environment, especially when compared to the garish,
exaggerated styles of the late Victorian period. “The handling of materials aware
but abrupt — helps to identify those structures as part of the Canadian vernacu-
lar.”*® Government House and the commanding officer’s residence readily fall
within this definition.

Adaptation was required to cope with unanticipated environmental condi-
tions, such as the extreme cold of winter and the heat and dust of summer. This
was best reflected in the addition of porches over main entrances. “In a climate
such as this, they [porches] are useful in winter and summer; in the latter season
they furnish protection from the constant winds and sand storms that often ac-
company them.””” Funds for renovation were frequently requested from Ottawa
in order to make the buildings habitable. Invariably the requests fell on deaf ears,
despite the often desperate pleas from the frontier where the unseasoned wood
shrank, thus cracking the mud and leaving gaps in the walls which allowed the
wind to whistle through the buildings. The consequences were sometimes severe.
One commanding officer at Battleford reported to the officials in Ottawa:

I have the honour to make the following report regarding the [commanding offi-
cer’s residence] I occupy as a quarters and which I consider unfit for such in their
present state. During the past winter four stoves were kept going the whole time,
the building was not any too warm. At night full pails of water frozed [sic] solid
— there is no storm sash — many mornings | have seen my bed covered with
snow and rain — one-half of the building has no ceiling, only paper and cotton
parts of the logs are rotten and when soaked by rain throws a dampness and has
an odourl 8throughout the house. The moulding inside is in between the cotton
and wall.

As is evident, the inhabitants of the buildings at Fort Battleford had not been
freed enough from the elements to be overly concerned with the aesthetic appeal
of uncluttered structures. Such concerns were still a luxury when the environ-
ment demanded porches and patchwork for self-preservation. In many cases
buildings had to be extended even though funding for new structures was not
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forthcoming. The result was the appearance of lean-to additions which, like
porches, were unforeseeable afterthoughts: makeshift extensions to otherwise
completed buildings. There were frequent complaints over the quality of the con-
struction. No storm sashes were provided for Government House, which Lieu-
tenant Governor Laird found most uncomfortable. He wrote to the prime
minister: “When the high winds and cold come together we are nearly per-
ished.”” Superintendent Walker also had reservations about the workmanship
and asked for men “who knew something of carpentry work” to complete the
structures. Frustrated with the lack of progress, Walker finally wrote to the com-
missioner: “The Department of Public Works finished here last week but all the
buildings are as yet in an unfinished state and could not be finished for want of
materials and what work is done does very little credit to those in charge of the
works.”?’ Thirteen years later continuous shortages of materials and money had
left the buildings in a barely habitable state.

There were more complaints from all levels of the police against the extreme
conditions of winter and summer than grievances about any other discomfort.
The commanding officer’s residence could not be protected against the elements
any more than the barracks buildings. While differences existed in terms of pri-
vacy and living space, the variations between buildings were more a matter of
style and ornamentation.

Both the ordinary vernacular structures and the more elaborate, stylistic build-
ings of the officers eventually had to have porches added and their walls prop-
erly chinked to battle the levelling effect of the elements. Thus, both the buildings
with Victorian detail and the simple functional buildings tell us as much about
frontier life as they do about the class distributions of this Victorian police force.

Both kinds of buildings have their own significance, but there is much that can
be understood about the existence of those who lived in what were apparently
simple functional buildings occupied by the regular enlisted men. It is important
to value the so-called ordinary and challenge the notion that only the monumen-
tal is important. “Art historians tend to treat only large ostentatious examples of
Victorian architectural styles and relegate to limbo the more commonplace and
simple structures of the Vernacular tradition of ... building.”*

Although the buildings at Fort Battleford had to be adapted to their environ-
ment, the styles represented a transplanting of traditional British and eastern Ca-
nadian values. The North West Mounted Police were Canada’s Imperial
constabulary whose federal image and national role were more than reinforced
by the long arm of the design group of the Department of Public Works. The
styles the buildings displayed are a reminder of a culture that imposed structures
and institutions on a frontier, leaving little room for the emergence of an indige-
nous architecture. The police, like the buildings they lived in, had to adapt to un-
familiar conditions. The resultant changes, however, were more a matter of
degree than form and issued from a desire for self-preservation rather than a
wish to adopt indigenous styles. Many of the policemen retired to settle in the
West and helped to perpetuate the culture they had carried with them. An in-
digenous western architecture of the late nineteenth century could hardly be ex-
pected to emerge from what appeared to the police as a sparsely populated
frontier.
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The Wacousta Syndrome and the Garrison Mentality

Unlike prairie Natives who learned over many hundreds of years to forge a
symbiotic relationship with the land, Europeans tended to recoil against the un-
known in the natural world around them. Early expression of this attitude of re-
sistance to nature is contained in the novel Wacousta by Major John Richardson.
The “Wacousta Syndrome” which, it has been argued, typifies a Canadian re-
sponse to nature, is characterized by the relations between people as they arose
out of the pioneer experience in the “wilderness.” Central to the definition of this
syndrome is the predominantly negative reaction to what was seen as an over-
whelmingly threatening and brutal environment. Nature was viewed as harsh,
impersonal and uncompromising. Survival for humans in these surroundings
was considered a monumental struggle. The Euro-Christian worldview ap-
proached nature already feeling besieged. Homesteading or establishing a foot-
hold in these northern regions was seen as dangerous and life threatening. The
unpredictable, sinister, chaotic, untamed, limitless, impenetrable, alien landscape
produced a fear of nature. The pioneer, soldier and explorer lived in constant fear
of nature and recoiled from it whenever possible, heading back into the barri-
caded fort or the walled-off homestead. The coping mechanism of early European
inhabitants tended to be less of overt hostility to the forest, open prairie or vast
lake country and more of an attempt to mediate or avoid nature with inherited
cultural forms.

Whereas Aboriginal cultures tended to make peace with nature, the Euro-
peans by contrast continued to battle against it in one form or another. The most
obvious strategy was simply to avoid nature, replacing its looming presence with
a focus on comforting detail and avoidance of context. The result was that Euro-
peans rarely appreciated their place in nature, but found comfort by withdrawing
to the protection of the fort and the familiarity of the culture they brought onto
the frontier. The NWMP can be seen as a part of the Euro-Canadian reaction to na-
ture that refused to see the indigenous people for what they were; instead, the
whites lived in fear of them, threatened by them in the same way they felt threat-
ened by the environment of which the Natives were a part.

The second coping strategy of Euro-Canadians was to impose European forms
onto what was found in North America: to see nature with a romantic sensibility
as an extension of the pastoral myth they imposed on their image of the western
frontier. In this way their culture produced images of the noble savage and land-
scape paintings that looked like they were painted in European settings. The
eventual failure of the vision was that nature remained the same in spite of at-
tempts to use European culture to tame it. Thus, the reliance on European cul-
tural forms exacerbated the problem of not being able to come to terms with
nature and the Natives living in accord with that nature.

The fortress thus became the image of security for Canadians, a place from
which nature was kept at a distance to allow for mediation. The forts were depots
that provided security for those who clung to Old World forms most tenaciously.
They were there to disseminate the alien European culture, not to accommodate
the indigenous culture already there.

The cultural problem the NWMP faced can be seen with relation to the visual art
produced by artists from European cultural traditions. In form, Native art identified
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with the landscape through its non-perspective style in which the artist could not
place him or herself against the landscape, but only feel part of it. In content, it re-
flected its identification with the landscape through its images — flowers, animals
and trees were painted, woven or sewn onto clothing, lodges or rocks. There was a
spiritual identification with the environment, and with nature. By contrast, early
European art used a privileged perspective where the single artist, outside the land-
scape, pointed to what he or she stood against. In some cases, the position of the art-
ist even reflected a desire to dominate the scene. In content, the art was focussed on
the Imperial culture and tended to depict forts and exploration or feats of discovery,
where the explorer’s perspective — as opposed to the nature or environment he or
she stood in — was highlighted. Thus the Euro-Canadians, through their art and
valorization of forts or man-made enclosures, began to determine and lay down
new approved forms of expression. Paintings and drawings of NWMP forts became
a flourishing art form and included paintings of Fort Battleford by artists such as
Richard and Mrs. Lindemere.

These aesthetic forms provide evidence of the ideology behind the European
worldview which was brought to the North-West by those who occupied the
forts. European paintings seem to be natural, or of nature, but actually are cul-
tural expressions. A comparison of paintings by artists James Isham and Samuel
Heamne is instructive: Isham felt a part of the nature he lived in while Hearne
stood against the land and felt threatened by it. There is, for example, a clear dif-
ference between the perspective of the painting of Prince of Wales Fort by Hearne
and a non-perspective painting by Isham. Referring to Hearne’s painting, the dif-
ference became clear:

Far from being Natural, Hearne's perspectival technique expresses a cultural or
political relationship of power over the land, for it appropriates the land in its
own terms just as surely as did the men for whom the visual art was intended...
Not only is there nothing natural about this work of Hearne’s, but the work is a
cultural artifact drawn according to a set of conventions that are themselves
based on power and domination, and done so on behalf of a conquering system
based on power and domination.”

In contrast, Isham’s watercolour of Natives hunting beaver reflects no desire
to dominate the land. His images are of the natural world with no attempt to cre-
ate depth of space or man-made regularity. He painted animals and nature in a
way that was understood and shared by the Aboriginal people. Hearne’s geo-
metric fort is revealing when juxtaposed against Isham’s organic representation
of nature. Thus the fort and the European style of representation shows how ide-
ology functioned:

Hearne’s work reifies the fort and land by turning them into massively static
“things” to be viewed by the isolated individual being. Isham’s drawing is not
about static things, but about communal life in relation to the land as process. In
this it comes very close in technique to modern cartoons, except here the various
parts of the sequence of events associated with the beaver are placed within a sin-
gle frame. In Isham’s work there is no privileged viewing position for the be-
holder, nor are we encouraged to command the space. Hearne’s work and space
invades our bodies to shape us. We enter Isham’s space to share it ... it comes
close to the vision and life of the native peoples.23

Both the Wacousta Syndrome and the visual analysis of the paintings of
Hearne and Isham lead to the more comprehensive formulation of Northrop
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Frye’s “garrison mentality.” This concept has been applied to the western Cana-
dian context by lan Clarke and Greg Thomas. The authors pose the question of
how two landscapes — a fur-trade post and a prairie homestead — reflect the
fear of isolation felt by Euro-Canadians:

The Hudson’s Bay Company employees came from the hamlets, villages and
towns of Britain and its outer isles. A century and a half later, a number of On-
tario farm settlers left their forest clearings of Upper Canada for homestead land
on the western plains. How these two groups responded to their new environ-
ment is in part reflected in the structures and landscapes which they introduced.
But what particular consciousness did the fur traders and Ontario settlers bring
to the land?%

Clarke and Thomas view the reaction of these two groups to the western
Canadian environment as “very conservative.” In response to this fearsome envi-
ronment, the immigrants set about modifying their landscapes as quickly as they
could. “The insecurity pervading such locations compelled British settlers to re-
tain a psychological as well as a political and economic connection with Britain.”?
There was little attempt to copy or use those forms already established on the
plains by the Métis and plains tribes. The new arrivals were determined instead
to shape the West in their own image. Insensitive to existing populations, they
created the mould to which existing populations had to conform. Incoming set-
tlers would then be channelled into the established form. Though the new Euro-
Canadians did not identify with the landscape they moved into, they
nevertheless assumed power rapidly and imposed their cultural visions with
great facility. “The societies that flourished within the narrow confines of the fur
trade fort and the Ontarian prairie homestead might then be seen as ‘garrisons’
which manipulated the social and natural landscape to approximate more closely
the familiar environment of their traditional cultures.”*

During the fur-trade period, enclosed fortifications developed quickly and
space reminiscent of the “plantation” was cleared. The layout of fur-trade posts
was, however, usually a “square” like the stockade fort of the NWMP. When
leisure time allowed, gardens were planted, with flower, vegetable and shrub
gardens creating an atmosphere of familiarity. Even fruit tree groves were
formed. Generally the newcomers had no aesthetic concern with the landscape
around them. They simply denuded the trees around the fort without any con-
cern for the resulting aridity this created. However, this action did exaggerate the
desolation felt by the Euro-Canadians towards the land. The North West
Mounted Police needed the palisade forts for defence purposes as they did in-
deed fear Indian attacks. Most of their attention was given to the decor of the in-
terior of the forts and shelters. For aesthetic enjoyment and food they kept small
gardens; for escape or consolation they maintained libraries of books and jour-
nals. Shelter was never just physical. The cultivated gardens of the fur-trade posts
stood as a symbol of the inability of the Europeans to accept the surrounding
landscape for what it was. They felt a need to cultivate and tame what they
viewed as a savage wilderness.

In the settlement period before 1914, change to the landscape was dramatic in
form if not in scope. Farmers like W.R. Motherwell transplanted their own cultural
forms and institutions onto the prairies rather than trying to merge with what was
found. The environment was still to be feared, and windbreaks not only provided
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physical protection from dust and snowstorms but stood as a spiritual sanctuary
away from the environment around them. Houses that were built by predomi-
nantly Anglo-Canadian settlers resembled fortresses against the land, especially
when compared to the vernacular architecture of the Métis and Native inhabitants.
In the settlers’ houses, a material culture was displayed not unlike that of the
NWMP, with art and artifacts that could have been found in many Victorian homes
throughout the British Empire. Though the first homes were simple log or wood
frame, one of the first general improvements made by early homesteaders was to
build a field-stone house like the ones back East. These homes were invariably sur-
rounded by hedges of caragana, maple, spruce or willow. These shelterbelts kept
nature out and betrayed a culture afraid of its environment. Unlike the Native peo-
ple of the prairies, the openness of the plains was oppressive for white homestead-
ers. Even in pioneering days many immigrants built tennis courts and formal
walkways to create the atmosphere of a British garden. This was done with great
physical exertion and expense since the levelling effect of the prairie environment
was hostile to these constructions. Most of these features can be seen as extensions
of the Wacousta Syndrome or garrison mentality.”
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THREE

Administration of the Law at Fort Battleford:
1876-1885

Thanks to the North-West Mounted Police, settlers in Canada found a country
free from desperadoes, vigilance committees and scalping Indians.

J.P. Turner

Maintenance of law and order is the most common theme in early histories of
the NWMP. Histories of the North-West written prior to and immediately after
World War I focussed on what was viewed as the problem of establishing civili-
zation amid what was still characterized as threatening Métis and Native popula-
tions. These accounts reflected the times and preoccupations of the authors, who
were almost exclusively male and Anglo-Canadian. The law-and-order theme in
the official records was an extension of, or mirrored, the justification for the use
of force and physical violence against Aboriginal populations. Natives, it was
thought, threatened the establishment of an agricultural base for the white immi-
grants who were being encouraged to settle in the West. It is evident from early
histories like Edmund H. Oliver’s contribution to Shortt and Doughty’s Canada
and Its Provinces, and John Hawkes’ The Story of Saskatchewan and Its People' that it
was important for white settlers to feel confident in the ability of the police to
make the West safe for settlement. Victorian Canadians also felt a need to be pro-
tected from the threatening forces of untamed nature and those who, in their
minds, lived close to nature.

Over time, the law-and-order theme gave way in historical accounts to the im-
age of the NWMP as agents of the National Policy; the Mounties were portrayed
less as military enforcers of Brmsh and Canadian law and more as a police force
ushering in the newcomers.” With Aboriginal populations no longer a threat, his-
torians did not have to emphasize the necessity of using physical or military
power to gain the respect of local Native people. Histories written since World
War II were more “liberal” in their outlook, but paid scant attention to Native
populations. Historians increasingly saw the Mounties as policemen for the large
white populations that were increasingly occupying the plains as the National
Policy blossomed under the Laurier Liberals. This view reflects the transforma-
tion of law enforcement in a society moving from a reliance on dominio (or force)
to one in which hegemony (or cultural persuasion) directed the authorities re-
sponsible for social control. With the establishment of Anglo-Canadian culture
and its legal systems, the use of physical force was no longer as urgent and Abo-
riginal populations could be controlled by less crude means. As the ideology of
those who held power began to permeate educational and social institutions, the
images and models for acceptable behaviour were reproduced and disseminated
in books and through teaching in schools and churches. Thus, the tools for con-
trolling behaviour effectively became cultural and the reliance on overt presence
of force decreased.
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Only recently have historians looked again at events in the Canadian West
that involve relations between white and Native populations, and have begun
asking questions about the nature of the power rela’aons between them in the
period of North West Mounted Police administration.’

The Mission of Law and Order

It is difficult to find a balanced history of the NWMP, largely because of the
many previous laudatory accounts that have mythologized their mission. The
lasting success of the generic Mountie as collective hero of Canada’s national con-
sc1ousness has led some to express concern about the country’s penchant for
authority.* Early popular studies such as A.L. Haydon's Riders of the Plains did
much to entrench the image of the undaunted Mountie faithfully serving the
Crown. It is obvious from the opening sentences of his book that the police were
not stationed in the West primarily to serve the local people, but were given
power to enforce and transplant a way of life onto the prairies. Haydon reflected
the aspirations of his own generation when he wrote of the traditions of the “Brit-
ish race” being carried west by the Mounties, who to his mind were not suffi-
ciently valorized:

It is a characteristic of the Rider of the Plains that he does not waste words upon
his deeds; to this is due the general ignorance of his solid achievements... It is
time that an authoritative history of the Royal North-West Mounted Pohce
should be added to the regimental records of the British Emplre

Instead of pointing out that the police became part of a greater coercive treatment
of Native populations after 1885 (through the pass system, for example), Haydon
says that the Mounties’ role became more difficult after 1885.° He argues, against
the evidence, that Natives continued to be lawless, thieving, killing and generally
threatening toward the peaceful settlers. Were it not for the stalwart role of the
Mounties, Haydon thinks that their defiant and aggressive attitudes would have
led to “far more serious consequences.”

Today such writing is no longer in the mainstream, but such views toward
Aboriginal people were not uncommon or isolated. In a very significant way, the
“Indian problem” was perceived by the fledgling police force as its most impor-
tant obstacle to establishing law and order. They maintained their reputation by
their manner of treating the Aboriginal people; it was this treatment that set
standards against which others yet to arrive in the territories would be judged
and measured. All new arrivals would be instructed in what constituted accept-
able behaviour. Thus the legendary stories of the Mounties began.

Of the same generation, yet less emotional in tone (if not in content) is the work
of historian Edmund Oliver. Oliver was a contributor to the prestigious twenty-
three-volume series, Canada and Its Provinces: A History of the Canadzan People and
Their Institutions by One Hundred Associates, published in 1914.” Those who wrote
this history were mostly from an Anglo-Celtic background and did little primary
research. Oliver, a professor of history at the University of Saskatchewan, contrib-
uted the sections related to the West. He was familiar with Haydon’s book and used
it as the major reference for his sections on the North West Mounted Police. Like
Haydon, he presented the police as officers of law and order, but defined their role
more broadly, showing the Mounties to be not only enforcers of the laws but men
who made the law as well. “The officers of the force not only maintained order
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throughout the country, but they also suggested legislation. The early territorial
ordinances goveming irrigation branding of stock and marriages by justices of the
peace have thelr origin in that knowledge of local conditions which the police alone
possessed Like Haydon, Oliver also saw the local Aboriginal population as the
major concern for the police up to 1900.° Aggressive attitudes would have led to
“far more serious consequences.”

What emerges from such interpretations is that the main concern of the early
NWMP administration was to deal with the pacification of Natives in what Prime
Minister Macdonald referred to as “that fretful realm.” The institutions to establish
systems of education, legislation, municipal and judicial tribunals were to constitute
a Canadian presence, and Aboriginal populations were expected to assimilate into
the Anglo-Canadian society. The link with the East was to be through the Canadian
Pac1f1c Railway’s transcontinental system which was to herald the inauguration of
a “new order for the white settlers.”’” The Aboriginal and Métis presence was the
main obstacle of the police up to the turn of the century. In this sense, the Mounties
were established primarily to deal with a Native threat to new white settlement. In
fact, the police were originally intended to disband after their function had been
completed; they were not meant to be a permanent force.

The broad authority given to the police in the era of the National Policy enabled
them to carry out a wide range of administrative activities. They had the power to
administer and enforce British and Canadian law in the territories, but that law was
not the law of those already living in the West. The NWMP powers referred to laws
contained in the act of 1873. Oliver mentions only Canadian and British law in his
section on “Law and Justice on the Prairies”; these were the laws he hoped would
lead to the Canadianization of the territories. The laws and traditions of the
Aboriginal peoples were ignored. The culture to be nourished was to be Anglo-
Canadian; the culture to be denied was that of the Native groups.

Few laws were enacted to aid the Native or Métis populations in making adjust-
ments to the changing realities they faced in the 1870s. Big Bear had asked for laws
that might have helped to conserve the diminishing buffalo herds. But most of the
laws and regulations, especially in the Indian Act, were made to restrict and contain
Aboriginal activity. Nor was much done to give them any power in the established
Territorial Council which ended up being dominated by eastern Canadians. Indeed,
the early ordinances passed by the Council dealt with fires, irrigation, stock brand-
ing, marriages and licensing. The West functioned as a colony administered from
Ottawa. Officials recorded in glowing terms the accomplishments brought about by
the colonization of the prairies. Even in 1964 the commissioner of the Royal Cana-
dian Mounted Police could write in an introduction to a new edition of Riders of the
Plains:

Great cities now stand where log forts of the company stood one hundred years
ago. Take nothing away from the missionaries, the explorers and the traders who
first ventured into this land of nomadic Indian nations, but realize that it was the
police who made it possible for the pioneer settler to bring his women and his
children into this great lone land in safety. It was the presence of the police that
permitted him to dip his plow into the prairie’s beneficent earth and garner its
rich rewards. Seldom in the history of man has such a fantastic empire of new
land been opened to peaceful settlement with so little turmoil, so little corruption
and, except for 1885, so little of the Vlolence and bloodshed that followed the pas-
sage of other great historic mxgrahons
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This legacy of police administration has been so influential that even one hun-
dred years later their history is still written from a single perspective — one that
only presents the viewpoint of the colonizer. It is a voice unable to show sympa-
thy for the aspirations of those peoples who lived in the West before the police ar-
rived. The political culture that the force represented was one deferential to
imposed authority. It was a tradition which, with the exception of the 1837 revo-
lution in the old provinces of Canada, lacked a sense of people’s democracy in a
country much devoted to law and order. The force was answerable to an author-
ity that was far away, and the police bore little relationship to the Natives in spite
of claims in their own histories to the contrary. The great powers of the police put
them in the position where they were the law, not merely its enforcers. The com-
missioner of the NWMP automatically held a seat on the Territorial Council,
which was the lawmaking arm of the legal system then emerging in the West.

As well as potential makers and enforcers of their own laws, the police were
given powers as magistrates so they could administer the same laws. The NWMP
and Royal Canadian Mounted Police have always been in this extralegal position.
The NWMP were not simply a state police force organized along military lines but
were equivalent to colonial police forces in the old British Emplre In fact, the
NWMP were directly modelled on the Royal Irish Constabulary.”?

Culturally the force represented the narrow interests of the colonizer:

The RCMP's conception of ‘upholding the law’ has always been an imperial and
material conception... The English-dominated force ... marched off into the sun-
set to bring civilization to the Canadian prairies, taking charge of dealing with all
kinds of matters: from insurrection and railroad workers’ strikes, from murder to
playing billiards on Sunday, from control over native Canadians and the British
and French Métis, to the regulation of liquor, gambling, and blasphemy.”

The law and order was then culturally determined by the customs and standards
of Victorian Canada. Vague concepts that refer to absolute forms of justice mean
little without appreciating the context within which the police functioned.

The NWMP as Agents of the National Policy

It has been argued that police administration of the law was fair and the term
“benevolent despotism” has been used to describe its function; however, a closer
examination of Aboriginal-NWMP relations, especially after 1885 and culminating
in the case of Almighty Voice, suggests a revision may be necessary. By the late
nineteenth century, the police no longer showed sympathy to the Natives but
saw them as the enemy. The NWMP were armed with broad powers to introduce
“law and order” and ensure that an Anglo-Canadian way of life would be estab-
lished in the West. R.C. Macleod, NWMP historian, censures academic traditions
that suggest a repressive police state in the West. Macleod maintains that struc-
ture does not dictate function and that, even though the police enjoyed broad
powers, these powers need not of necessity be abused. Macleod maintains that an
examination of the police record suggests a fair treatment of minority groups by
the Mounties and an equitable and fair execution to enforce the liquor laws in the
North-West:

This last point is stressed rather heavily ... among academics and other social
critics to assume that structure dictates function; that because an institution en-
joys wide powers, those powers must necessarily be abused. An examination of
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the treatment of minority groups by the police, of their handling of criminals of
all types and of their approach to one particular problem, enforcement of the lig-
uor laws of the North-West Territories, provide abundant evidence that the
Mounted Police almost invariably used their authority wisely and well 1

Here the limits in place for the police were to be found in “informal controls.
... in the political system and tradition within which the police operated, in the
semi-military tradition of the force, and in the social structure of late nineteenth-
century Canada.”” Though there is evidence of the fair treatment of Aboriginal
people by the NWMP, it may be too sanguine to suggest that the police were in-
herently fairer than other members of the same Victorian society from which they
were recruited, or that they were more tolerant than any other force armed with
broad powers which bore the burden of bringing civilization to Aboriginal peo-
ple. A careful examination of the acculturation process shows the police involved
in both overt and subtle forms of cultural subjugation that reflected their belief in
the superiority of the culture they represented and were to impose. They re-
mained agents of Anglo-Canadian hegemony over the West, often treating the
local people as inferiors and sneering at their culture. This they did as much by
ignoring the Native community as through overt acts of physical force.

The forms of discrimination and subjugation the Native people had to endure
were not only the fault of the police, but also of the attitudes and intolerance of the
culture the police represented. No matter to what lengths academic scholars go to
document that police despotism was benevolent, they cannot erase the fundamental
prejudice entrenched in Victorian attitudes to race: that Aboriginal peoples are rele-
gated to an inferior status. It was the “us (white ‘civilization’) against them (‘sav-
agery’)” attitude that completed the basic binary oppositions that constituted the
culture of the late nineteenth century. The paternalistic mission was clear:

The force was to be a civil one under military discipline. The Prime Minister had
stated that he wanted as “little gold lace, fuss and feathers as possible” in the
North-West Mounted Police. He did not want a crack cavalry regiment, but an ef-
ficient police force for the enforcement of law and order in a rough and ready
country. The outstanding objectives were: to stop the liquor traffic among the In-
dians by whites, to gain the respect and confidence of the Indians, to teach them
respect for the law while acquainting them with the great changes pending to
break them of many of their old practices by tact and patience, to collect customs
dues and to perform all duties such as a police force might be called upon to
carry out!®

Thus the goal of the Mounties could eventually be described as a cultural one —
to gain the trust of the Natives and then wean them from their customs and be-
liefs by enforcing laws intended to diminish the Native culture. This was also to
be done by example, persuasion, government programs and education.

Macleod was confident that “Canadianization” of the West was of the greatest
benefit to the greatest number of individuals. Its optimism firmly presented the
history of material progress in the West. Indeed, there was virtually no mention
of the police role in enforcing the pass laws, the permit system, or aiding govern-
ment policies such as the severalty laws designed to make lands negotiated by
the Natives under the treaties more vulnerable.” He replaced the image of the
police as physical enforcers of law and order with an image that portrayed the
police as agents of a new society and the final triumph of the hegemony of an
Anglo-Canadian way of life for the prairies. In his estimation, it was Native
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culture that prevented them from benefiting from the wealth generated by the
National Policy, and he slipped into the civilization/savagery paradigm of earlier
historians when he wrote, “Had the Canadian government poured massive quan-
tities of money and effort into the reserves [as they were obliged to under the
Treaties,] it would not have made a great deal of difference. Even today, as the
experience of aid to underdeveloped nations and the literature on the subject
demonstrate, no one is even close to understanding how to use the resources
available to change a primitive society into a modern one.”™

Macleod’s explanation of the police function in pacifying the West remains as
unsatisfactory as those of earlier generations of police historians. More recently,
new research suggests other explanations for the failure of the National Policy to
include all people in the development of western Canada, explanations that go
beyond blaming the victim.

The Relationship Between the NWMP and the
Aboriginal Peoples Through the Acculturation Process

The police, as representatives of official authority for the Crown, acted as
agents on behalf of the Canadian government and were instrumental in negotiat-
ing the treaties on the prairies. Their presence at the negotiations was more in
terms of military (dominio) authority than in a policing capacity; they were a cere-
monial extension of the Canadian governmental authority. In a sense, the treaties
were the culmination of the move by British and Canadian colonizers to gain pos-
sessory rights to Native lands.

NWMP attendance at the treaty negotiations coincided with the establishment
of the Battleford post at the confluence of the Battle and North Saskatchewan
rivers. Superintendent Walker, with his troops (made up primarily of “E” Divi-
sion), had travelled northwest to the Battleford area and had chosen a height of
land for a fort. After the construction of the outpost, begun under Sub-Inspector
Frechette, Walker and his group continued to Carlton with the main portion of
the troop. At this point the Mounties were to provide a military function by es-
corting the treaty commissioners who were to arrive at Carlton, but a rumour cir-
culated at Carlton that Chief Beardy intended to stop the government party at a
site along the south branch of the Saskatchewan River with the apparent purpose
of signing a separate treaty with them. Walker immediately marched his men
southwards to investigate and found Beardy’s Cree. No problems were encoun-
tered between the two groups. The official history of the force suggests it was the
very presence of the Mounties in their orderly, military attitude that overawed
the Cree.

The police trotted past the Cree in their smartly polished uniforms and in mili-
tary attitude: “On that day a lasting impression sank into many a redskin’s mind,
and the scheme to block the governor’s passage was promptly abandoned.”” The
police role in these early contacts was clearly to establish the authority of the gov-
ernment party, and to show the Natives who was in control and who held ulti-
mate power.

The large commission party made up of more than one hundred Red River
carts reached Fort Carlton in mid-August 1876. The officials included Lieutenant
Governor Morris; Chief Factor William Christie; the Honourable James McKay;
Dr. A.G. Jackes, secretary to the commission, and Pierre Laveille, NWMP guide
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and interpreter. After some preliminary negotiations with the Cree, it was agreed
that treaty negotiations would begin on 18 August 1876.

It was important for the commission to have a military aura accompanying the
negotiations in order to present an image of control and authority. It was primar-
ily in this role that police participation was indispensable. The atmosphere of sig-
nificant ceremony was created by the government party to establish itself in a
position of power. The negotiations began with the Cree conducting their own
ceremonies before meeting the government men. The official history describes
the ceremony with the lingering ethnocentrism of the 1950s:

The Indians drew together amid a bedlam of gun firing, beating of drums, yelling
and chanting. Turning towards the headquarters marquee, with their mounted
warriors in front, they advanced en masse. After a display of barbaric horseman-
ship by painted and feathered riders, the chiefs, medicine men, councxllors and
musicians moved closer and sat down on buffalo robes and blankets.?

On this first day the Natives consisted of 250 lodges — about 2,000 people. The
introductions of the chiefs were made by Peter Erasmus, the interpreter chosen
by the Natives. The government then proceeded to describe what it was offering.
Morris explained his position as a “servant” of the Queen with a brief history of
the negotiations of other treaties. Morris spoke at some length of his intentions:

We are not here as traders, I do not come as to buy or sell horses or goods, I come
to you, children of the Queen, to try to help you; when I say yes, | mean it, and
when [ say no, I mean it too.

I want you to think of my words, I want to tell you that what we talk about is
very important. What | trust and hope we will do is not for to-day and to-
morrow only; what I will promise, and what I believe and hope you will take, is
to last as long as that sun shines and yonder river flows.

You have to think of those who will come after you, and it will be a remembrance
for me as long as 1 live, if I can go away feeling that I have done well for you. I be-
lieve we can understand each other, if not it will be the first occasion on which
the Indians have not done so. If you are as anxious for your own welfare as [ am,
I am certain of what will happen.

The day is passing. I thank you for the respectful reception you have given me. I
will do here as I have done on former occasions. | hope you will speak your
minds as fully and as plainly as if I was one of yourselves.”

The first day ended with the arrival of more Mounties from Fort Saskatche-
wan under the command of Superintendent W.D. Jarvis. This increased the num-
ber of police support to about one hundred men. On the second day the two
groups continued their discussions. It was the Natives’ turn to speak, beginning
with Mistowasis, Atakoop, James Smith, John Smith, Chipewyan and others.
They generally pledged their loyalty to the Queen and outlined their wishes for
the treaty. (One problem emerged to interrupt the negotiations. This was Chief
Beardy’s initial request to meet with the governor at Duck Lake. The governor,
having refused, later invited Beardy to join the others at Carlton.) Then Morris
spoke and outlined in some detail the provisions he would include in the treaty,
such as schools and agricultural assistance. During this process, another request
came from Beardy. He wanted to be informed of the terms of the treaty and given
material provisions which the commissioners supplied to members of the negoti-
ating parties. The provisions were offered to Beardy as an enticement if he came
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to negotiate. The chiefs then asked for time to consider the government’s pro-
posal. According to the official police history, there was a delay after these initial
meetings. This was interpreted as the Cree stalling for more supplies. The chiefs
all outlined the needs of their bands and spoke of loyalty to the White Mother.
After their speeches, they asked for time to confer with their people and retired to
their lodges. One historian suggested that they were in no hurry to strike a deal
since the government rations supplied while negotiations were going on were “to
their liking.”” After the request for time, Morris responded with a short state-
ment:

This is a great day for us all. I have proposed on behalf of the Queen what I be-
lieve to be for your good, and not for yours only, but for that of your children’s
children, and when you go away think of my words. Try to understand what my
heart is towards you. I trust that we may come together, hand to hand and heart
to heart again. I trust that God will bless this bright day for our good, and give
your Chiefs and Councillors wisdom so that you will accept the words of your
Governor. | have said.

On the third day Morris indicated his impatience with the slow response from
the Cree, and it was Poundmaker who replied:

We have heard your words that you had to say to us as the representative of the
Queen. We were glad to hear what you had to say, and have gathered together in
council and thought the words over amongst us, we were glad to hear you tell us
how we might live by our own work. When I commence to settle on the lands to
make a living for myself and my children, I beg of you to assist me in every way
possible — when I am at a loss how to proceed I want the advice and assistance
of the Government; the children yet unborn, I wish you to treat them in like man-
ner as they advance in civilization like the white man. This is all I have been told
to say now, if | have not said anything in a right manner I wish to be excused; this
is the voice of the people.”

Morris answered by saying the Cree must trust the Queen and her promise to
help future generations.

The last day of the negotiations was the most intense with the Cree again put-
ting forward a list of requests to which Morris promised some additional provi-
sions. At the end of the exchanges between the governor, Poundmaker and Red
Pheasant, a general agreement was struck over the provisions. On 24 August
1876, the treaty was presented and signed:

the governor invested each chief with his uniform, flag and medal. The uniform
consisted of a scarlet coat decorated with gold lace and a top hat with gold band.
In the evening, the councillors were presented with blue coats and hats similar to
those given to their chiefs. The medal bore an etching of the Queen’s head and an
appropriate inscription. ...

On August 26 the Indians assembled at “Carlton House,” their chiefs, and coun-
cillors proudly decked in the new uniforms. They had come to say farewell. They
shook hands with the commissioners, well pleased with the way things had
turned out and profuse in their gratitude for what had been granted them. They
all joined in three cheers for the Queen, Governor Morris, the Mounted Police
and Chief Factor Lawrence Clarke. Firing the guns in the air, they gradually
clispersed.25

The commission then moved to Duck Lake where it was able to come to an
agreement with Chief Beardy as well. On 5 September, three days after Beardy
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signed Treaty 6, the commissioners’ retinue moved on to Fort Pitt. Superinten-
dent Jarvis and his men had travelled ahead of the main party and, with a band
playing, the Cree were escorted into the HBC post to meet with the commission.
The police performance in this ceremonialism brought a great crowd of Natives
to witness the “unusual” activities of the government commission. Negotiations
similar to those at Carlton took place from 5 to 7 September between Morris and
the leading chiefs, Sweet Grass and Yellow Sky. As at Carlton, the Cree asked for
more time to consider the nature of the treaty and met again on the ninth to have
matters clarified. After the majority of the Cree signed, speeches were made.
Little Hunter spoke on behalf of his people:

[ am here alone just now; if I am spared to see next spring, then I will select my
Councillors, those that I think worthy 1 will choose. I am glad from my very
heart. [ feel in taking the Governor’s hand as if | was taking the Queen’s. When |
hear her words that she is going to put to rights this country, it is the help of God
that has put it in her heart to come to our assistance. In sending her bounty to us I
wish an everlasting grasp of her hand, as long as the sun moves and the river
flows. I am glad that the truth and all good things have been opened to us. I am
thankful for the children for they will prosper. All the children who are sitting
here in hope that the Great Spirit will look down upon us as one.”

One major problem that developed for the commission was the arrival of Big
Bear on 13 September. Big Bear told the commission he could not sign without con-
sulting his people and had not known the date of the negotiations. He also ex-
pressed his concerns about the preservation of the buffalo. Sweet Grass and Red
Pheasant tried to persuade Big Bear to sign the treaty, but to no avail. Big Bear met
with Morris and told him he did not want to be disloyal, but did not feel he could
sign without his people being present. He then agreed to meet with treaty negotia-
tors again the next year. In retrospect, the refusal of Big Bear to sign was prophetic,
for, throughout the next decade, the government commitment to aid the Natives in
making the transition to an agricultural economy proved to be an abysmal failure.
This was not so much due to the Cree, whose willingness to farm has been solidly
documented, but more to government ineptitude, neglect and the inability to keep
its financial promises. The reasons for ignoring Big Bear during the bargaining are
not clear, but it has been proposed that the government deliberately chose to sign
treaties as early as possible with the Christianized chiefs who were under the influ-
ence of their priests and ministers. This, it was thought, would encourage others
who had doubts about signing and convince them to adhere to the treaty promptly
for fear of being excluded from the supplies granted to the signatories. To allow Big
Bear, a powerful orator and leader of other non-Christian chiefs, a high profile in
the negotiations might have swayed the doubters away from agreeing to take
reserves and to begin the settlement process:

Because Big Bear had arrived after the treaty was concluded, he had no chance to
negotiate and discovered that the door seemed closed to further discussion. He
knew, however, that the Indians who had signed Treaties One and Two had be-
come dissatisfied and that the government had altered the terms four years later.
If the government could renegotiate those treaties, he saw no reason why they
could not do so with Treaty Six, particularly if all the Plains Crees could speak
with a unified voice. Stubborn and intractable when he believed he was right, Big
Bear was not willing to meekly accept what the Christian chiefs had taken. He
would try, with determination, to get a better deal for his people.27

Most importantly, what had been agreed to in the treaties in the Battleford area
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was a commitment by the government to assist the Cree in the transition to an econ-
omy based on agriculture. Distinctive to Treaty 6 was the procurement of the star-
vation and medicine-chest clauses. It was provisions such as these that allowed Big
Bear correctly to believe that the treaties were more flexible than Morris would let
on and that changes could be made through continued negotiations.

Without doubt, the majority of the NWMP concerns in the period between the
signing of the treaties and 1885 were with the Native population. This is espe-
cially clear when looking through the Sessional Papers, where the annual reports
of the police reflect their preoccupation with Native peoples. Immediately after
the treaty signing, the police were most concerned with those who had still not
signed Treaty 6 and those who had signed reluctantly and perhaps without a
sound understanding of how the treaties would be administered. Two such lead-
ers were Big Bear, who did not sign an adhesion to Treaty 6 until 1882, and
Beardy, who signed in 1876. The gradual increase of the police numbers from
1876 to 1885, when Fort Battleford became the biggest force in the West, shows
the great concern of the Mounties with the Battleford Cree.

According to the official police history, the problem with Chief Beardy was
that he claimed to have signed a treaty that gave him better conditions than those
who had signed at Carlton or Pitt. Beardy apparently told the police that Morris,
by coming to Duck Lake, had given him a better deal. By 1878, Beardy and his
band were still demanding more, and Superintendent Walker finally intimidated
the band into accepting their supplies under the threat of getting no goods at all.
Then, in 1880, Beardy ordered three head of cattle killed for a celebration, which
was done against the wishes of the farm instructor. The Mounties arrested the
Natives named in the warrant and escorted them to Prince Albert. There was
little or no recorded protest from Beardy’s band after their men had been sen-
tenced and their leaders imprisoned and humiliated.

The almost constant concern of the police with the Natives of the area can also
be seen through their duties in supervising and distributing annuity payments.
In some instances, these meetings were an occasion for other Natives to appear
and sign adhesions to Treaty 6. It was also a time when those who still refused to
sign would appear to ask more questions about the treaties — in a sense, to con-
tinue to negotiate. It was this kind of behaviour that has been used as an example
of the Treaty Rights movement which was a continuing process in the minds of
the Cree who had signed the original treaties. Many Aboriginal leaders did not
view the treaty as a once-and-for-all agreement but saw the treaty as the begin-
ning of a process of negotiations that has continued to the present day. According
to the police, the treaty payments required strict vigilance and tact in dealing
with the large number of Natives in the area. The Mounties were now escorts and
pay clerks in addition to their role as keepers of order. Administration of pay-
ments and transportation to the sites were very time-consuming processes:

In the Battleford district, “non-coms” and men were detailed to make payments
at Fort Pitt, also on the reserves along Battle River and in the neighbourhood of
the lakes to the west and north. The Force also assisted at other payments made
on the several reserves in the Eagle Hills south-east of Battleford, and at Cumber-
land House on the Saskatchewan.?®

To the NWMP, the spectre of Big Bear always loomed over their efforts to
secure a prairie safe for white settlers. Each year his movements were reported to
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the force until 1882, when he finally signed Treaty 6. The police reports claim that
he had at one time threatened to use force to feed his starving followers:

About 150 of Big Bear’s warriors, all armed and mounted, appeared. Messengers
accompanied them with summary demands from Big Bear for food — which was
flatly refused. They were told that: no assistance of any kind would be given to
non-treaty Indians; they need not seek help from the Mounted Police or the In-
dian Department; any attempt to force the issue would be disastrous to them. ...
presently Big Bear and his collection of outlaws drifted away. The last seen of
them was a motley group slinking towards the plains on what was said to be a
horse stealing expedition.”

After Big Bear signed, police efforts were concentrated on getting him to take a
reserve in the North Saskatchewan area.

The negative image of Big Bear in the official record was not deserved. In
more recent histories written of the Cree, evidence is presented that there was
substance to his complaints regarding government policy towards the Treaty 6
Natives. Prior to these studies, the record had been dominated by the image of
Big Bear the troublemaker, rather than the diplomat and politician. His agitation
for changes to government policy and a more responsive bureaucracy was quite
wrongly labelled as “radical” by observers of the day, including the police. In
some instances, after admitting the failure of government policy, the police were
still able to write, “All [the Cree] were prone to exaggerate their shortcomings de-
spite the fact that in many instances the government had done more for them
than the treaty called for. Nevertheless it was self-evident that not enough was
being done to meet their needs.”*

Sadly, it was Big Bear’s arrest after the events of 1885 and his subsequent im-
prisonment that was to end his leadership of the dissenting Plains Cree. It was an
arrest and imprisonment that was questionable even by the standards of that
time, but it appeared to be the policy of the government to remove the leadership
of the Plains Cree, however that might be accomplished.”

Even though the police tried to be optimistic about their success in moving
Aboriginals onto reserves and making the West a safe place to settle, there was
one problem that came up again and again in their reports that could not be ig-
nored. This was the problem of starvation both on and off the reserves. Indeed, as
early as 1878 at Battleford, a stockade was erected for fear that starving Natives
might attack the fort where supplies were held. This not only led to the increased
deployment of troops, but also to the establishment of sub-posts at Duck Lake,
Prince Albert and Carlton, all administered from Battleford. In 1881, the Natives
were in such a state of destitution that they even brought their horses into police
posts to trade for two or three sacks of flour. Warnings by the NWMP to the gov-
ernment took on an urgent tone, especially in the late 1870s. With dissatisfied Na-
tives not yet on reserves, the famine was viewed as a potential tinderbox that
threatened the security of both police posts and settlers. Superintendent Walker
was in a constant state of alert: “They [the police] knew that hunger-maddened
men were dangerous...”” The great hunger in the Battleford area was presented
ominously by the NWMP:

During the past year there has been great distress and suffering from hunger
among the Indians of this district, owing to the scarcity of game, the buffalo
having entirely disappeared from this section.
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[ have experienced great difficulty with this matter, applications for relief being
constantly made to me by starving bands of Indians.

Owing to the scarcity of flour and the uncertainty of the arrival of further sup-
plies, I was able to afford but comparatively small assistance to the many thou-
sands of starving Indians.®

Battleford was even assisting beyond its jurisdiction:

I dispatched Inspectors Mcllree and Frechette, at different intervals to the camp
at the Blackfoot Crossing, with such provisions as 1 was able to get, to their relief,
and to the extent | was able to spare from my limited quantity of stores; at one
time 1 was reduced down to six bags of flour on hand. At this time (June) from
1,200 to 1,500 Indians, Bloods, Piegans and Sarcees, encamped around the Fort,
were being fed, and later on as many as 7,000 men, women and children, all ina
destitute condition, applied for relief; beef and flour were distributed every other
day in small quantities to each family.34

And the ominous report from the south:

Not only the Sioux, lately arrived, but the local Crees and Assiniboines suffered
from the general threat of famine. In the various camps the rawhide drums could
be heard day and night. Ceremony followed ceremony in the pagan belief that
the happiness of other days could be thus invoked to return to the children of the
Great Spirit. The younger generation continually displayed suppressed despera-
tion, the elders made long speeches telling of days of war and plenty.

To these concerns was added the burden of official visits to the West. The 1881
visit from the Governor General — the Marquis of Lorne — required one-fifth of
the strength of the force for escort and surveillance of the local Native population
that was perceived as potentially “dangerous.” No incidents were reported and the
plains tribes fully participated in the events during the visit that took the Governor
General throughout the West. At Battleford he attended a grand powwow and in-
spected the police fort, reportedly “commenting highly” on the condition of the
buildings. (On occasion, members of the Anglo-Canadian establishment would par-
ticipate in Native celebrations, but this was rare and was reserved for “official”
ceremonies and functions when it was important to communicate the appearance of
harmonious relations to eastern constituents.) The Governor General was then
joined by Indian Commissioner Dewdney at Battleford as the entourage proceeded
towards Calgary.

The “Indian problem” required increased manpower. From the twelve men
and sixteen horses at Battleford in 1876, the force grew dramatically by the spring
of 1885. At that time, 200 men of their total force of 557 were stationed in the Bat-
tleford Division; 107 horses from a total of 200 were being used there.* These
numbers are the best indication of the importance of NWMP administration in the
Battleford area up to 1885.

It is evident that in this first decade the function of the NWMP force was a mili-
tary one. Their actions in protecting Aboriginal culture have perhaps been overesti-
mated, as it is evident from recent scholarship that the Mounties were agents of the
National Policy and an eastern Canadian image of the West. Whether their legacy
of despotism was benevolent is now open to re-examination and closer scrutiny.

The Emergence of Government Aboriginal Policy
As a signatory of the numbered treaties, the government assumed responsibility
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under its obligation to provide seed and materials for farming the land, but in the
early years of 1876-79, this was not enough. There was malnutrition and even star-
vation on many plains reserves. During this period, the government failed to pro-
vide a minimally adequate administrative structure.” Often materials and seed
stipulated in the contract were not sent. Many problems were also due to a distant
government in Ottawa that did not understand the problems and conditions in the
West. For example, in 1876 it was still possible for the Minister of the Interior, David
Mills, to think that all Natives were on reserves. This frequently led to policy deci-
sions that did not relate to actual problems. However, it may be that the solution to
the very difficult problems faced by the Natives was beyond the insights and re-
sources available to that generation®® These problems were compounded when
those starving tribes who had not initially signed treaties began to turn to the re-
serves as their hopes for subsistence from game on the plains waned.

Aboriginal policy and the administration put in place to implement it origi-
nated in Ottawa. The first policies from the early 1870s were part of a process in-
tended to settle Natives on reserves. The main task of the first two Boards of
Commissions was to sign treaties with the Natives, especially in the fertile belt
where settlers were expected and encouraged to take up lands according to the
National Policy.

By 1876, with the treaty-making completed, changes were made to correspond to
the duties that emerged. The Board of Commissions was replaced by a system of
Indian superintendents with two or more Indian agents in each superintendency.
Under this arrangement, there were four superintendencies for the area east of the
Pacific Coast to the Ontario-Manitoba border: the Victoria, Fraser, North-West and
Manitoba superintendencies. The arrangement was articulated by David Laird,
Mills’ predecessor as Minister of the Interior.” The agents were first to distribute
annuities, then instruct the Natives in farming, and finally advise them in the transi-
tion to proposed agricultural life that was to be established on the reserves. It was,
to say the least, a vast task for a handful of agents. In the North-West Superinten-
dency alone, there were 17,000 Treaty Natives to administer. The [ndian agents had
the least amount of time for farm instruction which, ironically, was the task that the
Natives required most. Many of the farm instructors hired to assist in developing
agriculture proved to be sadly inept. Most had little farm experience and were
unsuitable for dealing with a society that was so different from their own. Much
tension and misunderstanding resulted from this situation.

This administration proved disastrous. The Natives had been encouraged to set-
tle on reserves, but the agricultural policy the government was proposing was not
able to provide them with enough food for subsistence. It forced many Natives who
were willing to farm to return to hunting in order to survive — precisely what the
government wanted to avoid. Money granted by the treaties proved to be grossly
inadequate to purchase enough food to provide basic nutrition. The absence of farm
equipment ‘also prevented farming beyond the very primitive level. When pro-
vided, equipment usually lacked adequate and proper instruction for its operation.
When broken, there was no means for repair and much of the machinery remained
virtually useless. The Natives were interested in learning about mechanized farm-
ing practices, but complained that little teaching was available. Instead, they actu-
ally provided the farm instructors with free manual labour, while the profits did
not even go to the workers.



The instructors were also directed by Ottawa to implement a policy of “work
for rations” which the Natives resented. They thought the rations were a right,
not something to be earned. In Treaty 6, they pointed to the famine clause, as Na-
tive culture demanded sharing with those in need and assistance to the sick.
While the policy was intended to instill in the Natives the idea that rations could
not be handed out, but had to be earned by completing tasks, the Natives found
this to be humiliating and menial. They also saw little use in the busy work de-
manded of them.

With no solution from the starvation on reserves in sight, the government rec-
ognized the need to revise its policies. In 1879, it began the Home Farm Plan,
which was to provide examples of proper farming practices on model farms. Un-
der the direction of the farm instructor, Natives were expected to work on these
farms for nothing and then use the experience gained to manage their own farms.
Besides receiving education, the farms were meant to provide them with enough
food to stave off starvation and to supply seeds for future crops. The program
proved to be a failure as the Natives resented the free labour demanded of them.
They wanted wages.

By 1882, Macdonald’s government had begun to cut back all government pro-
grams, and the Home Farm Plan was one of the first casualties. This attempt at
using model farms fizzled dismally. Proper and competent administration was
lacking, as were adequate resources. The problems of farming on reserves were a
concern to government officials throughout the early 1880s, but the only solution
provided was to send more farm instructors and Indian agents. In areas where
there were no model farms, little was done to provide instruction in agricultural
practices beyond the presence of a farming instructor, if one was available. These
were poorly conceived solutions to what were becoming increasingly complex
problems that would require more comprehensive remedies to solve. The Natives
were beginning to give up on a government that during the treaties seemed so
anxious to assist them to adapt to agricultural life on the reserve.

The NWMP as Enforcers of Government Policy

By the mid-1880s, the NWMP were called upon more often to deal with prob-
lems arising from decisions made in Ottawa. It was clear that the policy for assist-
ing the Natives to make the transition to an agricultural way of life was not
working. This is demonstrated by two incidents involving the NWMP: the Yellow
Calf Incident in the Qu’Appelle district and the Craig Incident in the Battleford
area. The police who had worked for many years to earn and gain the respect of
the Natives were now called upon to deal with eruptions of violence resulting
from ineffective government policies. They were becoming enforcers of unpopu-
lar legislation in contrast to earlier times when much of their activity, from the
Cypress Hills Massacre onward, had been to assist in the protection of the
Natives from aggression.

By 1884, the government was still enforcing the policy of “work for rations”
among the Aboriginal members of the numbered treaties. The only exceptions
made were for the sick or disabled, even though on most reserves there was less
and less to work for, and the Natives resented jobs that were merely to give them
something to do. They felt humiliated doing work they saw as pointless. Even In-
dian Commissioner Edgar Dewdney admitted that “the tools and implements
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provided at the time the treaties were made, go but a small way to keep so many
employed.”* Thus, tension grew on the reserves as food shortages became more
acute and agriculture was failing to provide even a subsistence-level supply. The
Craig Incident occurred on the Little Pine Reserve ten miles from Battleford in the
spring of 1884.

Members of Big Bear’s band had still not taken reserves and became the focal
point for those who had doubts about signing the treaties. In 1882, these Natives
were still looking for buffalo to survive on. In 1883, they had been escorted by the
police onto a reserve near Fort Pitt. They stayed the winter but, in the spring,
made ready to move to Poundmaker’s reserve where the Cree said they had been
invited. They did not like working for the instructors:

On Poundmaker’s Reserve were about two hundred and fifty Indians, with a
very large proportion of able-bodied men among them, fair workers, but resent-
ing all, even advisory interference, and with an undisguised truculence of man-
ner; showing pretty plainly that it was only the dire pressure of circumstances
that had brought them to accept the restraint of Reserve life, and further that they
were prepared to resist anything that looked like an encroachment on their free
will, either as to what they should do, or how they should do it42

Robert Jefferson, the farm instructor on Poundmaker’s reserve, thought the
chief was attempting to increase rations and hasten the delivery of farming sup-
plies and agricultural equipment. Poundmaker hoped to “constrain the authori-
ties to make better terms and so to give the Natives a more hopeful outlook on
the future.”® Jefferson, who was usually sympathetic with the Natives, said:

Had the Indians known the term, they might have called this “patriotism.” The
Indian Department called it insubordination and contumacy, and all sorts of bad
names, for all their policy had been directed to precluding such an event by clos-
ing every avenue that might lead towards it 4

It was June, and Poundmaker’s band had just completed seeding and was mak-
ing preparations for its Thirst Dance. It was presumably to this that Big Bear had
been invited. Thus, there were many Natives in the area who had come to join in
this traditional celebration of the Cree, but those who were invited were not wel-
comed by John Craig, the farm instructor. He gave orders that no more rations
would be given out. In response, Poundmaker ordered two weirs to be built across
the river so the congregating Cree could be fed with fish. The Cree were almost
prepared for the dance, having completed their lodge, when the incident occurred.

Just before the dance was to start, some Cree men went to Craig’s store and
demanded food for a sick Native child. Since Craig spoke no Cree and the Na-
tives no English, there was confusion. Craig ordered the men out of his store,
and, as Jefferson later wrote, “Craig seems to have lost his head, since the contro-
versy ended in his pushing the men out.”® As he was pushing them out, one of
the Natives, Lucky Man, grabbed an axe handle and whacked Craig across the
arm with it. Jefferson, who saw Craig shortly after, observed, “Craig’s arm was
not injured, but his feelings were.”* Craig was determined to charge the men for
the blow he had suffered, but knew that with the large number of Cree gathered
in the area, it would be difficult to apprehend Lucky Man at that time. He tried to
follow and arrest him, but the chiefs gathered at the dance site to block his way
and refused to give the man up.

Craig immediately rode to Battleford and reported the incident to NWMP
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Superintendent Crozier. At 9:00 AM. the next day Crozier, twenty-three men and
two farm instructors rode into the midst of the Cree dance. As the participants
were painted, it was not possible immediately to identify the perpetrators of the
attack on Craig. In the meantime, supplies from Craig’s store on Poundmaker’s
reserve were loaded onto wagons to be taken away to Little Pine Reserve. On nu-
merous occasions, the police talked to the chiefs, demanding they give up the
person responsible for striking Craig. Each time, the Cree refused and delayed.
Finally, it was agreed that after the dancing was over, the police would be al-
lowed to arrest Lucky Man, but, when the moment arrived, the Cree attempted to
hide the sought-after offender with a show of strength. The younger warriors ex-
citedly milled about, threatening the police while Lucky Man wielded a knife, de-
fying arrest. Finally, with great coolness, Crozier walked among the men, then
suddenly and boldly made the arrest. The tension that Jefferson witnessed was
extreme, but the incident ended there:

During that half hour, then, any little mishap would have started a row — a gun
going off accidentally — a chance encounter — any roughness on the part of the
police. Everything was ripe for our extermination; none would have escaped.
However, it just was not to be.¥”

This was the end of the Craig Incident. It showed that the NWMP were still
respected enough to be allowed to carry out their justice. They had developed a
trust and had a reputation of acting fairly, but, in a short period of time, the Natives
had reached their breaking point. The NWMP had foreseen the dire situation the
Natives were driven to and tried to protest. Agent Rae of Battleford wrote to the
commissioner: “If ... the department is bound to stick to these present orders then
full preparations should be made to fight them as it will sooner or later come to this
if more liberal treatment is not given.” Crozier sent an angry letter to Ottawa:

Considering what is at stake, it is poor, yes, false economy to cut down the ex-
penditure so closely in connection with the feeding of the Indians that it would
seem as if there was a wish to see upon how little a man can work and exist. ...
My firm conviction is if some such policy as I have outlined is not carried out,
then there is only one other and this is to fight them.®

The police were merely agents, there to enforce the laws and government Na-
tive policy that unfortunately, even as they had observed, were no longer in
touch with the circumstances on the reserves. John Tootoosis described how the
incident was remembered by the Cree of the area:

What a bizarre affair it had been! If Craig had sensibly handed over the bit of
food in the first place, all those lives would not have been placed in danger. The
midnight run with the food supplies, (getting across the creek had been an or-
deal) all the shouting and threats on both sides resolved simply by the final dona-
tions of rations to the Indians — Jefferson shook his head as he ruefully inspected
his own garden. It had been trampled to the ground in all the excitement.

He had just received another one of those orders easier given than obeyed: “You
stay with the Indians until they quiet down to show them we are not intimi-
dated.” Fortunately, Jefferson had replaced the much disliked former farm in-
structor, was well liked by Poundmaker, was married to his half-sister, and was a
diplomatic and tactful man. This made him almost unique among Indian Depart-
ment employees in the North Saskatchewan.”

The incident was a harbinger of what was soon to happen among the Métis.
Tootoosis stated that even that could have been averted:
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If the government had planned to incite bloodshed it could not have done a bet-
ter or more efficient job. Prime Minister Macdonald, preoccupied as he was with
the affairs of the entire country (he was known as “Old Tomorrow” in the North-
West) procrastinated on vital decisions until it was too late to avert disaster.
Edgar Dewdney, Lieutenant-Governor as well as Indian Commissioner, seemed
either unable to impress Macdonald, with the reality of the danger or he mis-
judged it himself. His Assistant Commissioner, Hayter Reed’s, best known talent
was that he could estimate exactly how much an oxen had to be fed to keep it
working. He was not an expert in determining how much (or how little) Indians
needed to eat in order to survive. The police filled their role as well as possible
despite limited manpower and resources, but they were not the policy-makers.>®
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The Social and Economic Life of Fort Battleford

The Mounted Police caught the imagination of the public because they were in
terms of social class close to the popular image of what an ideal police force
should be.

R.C. Macleod

With the waning of the fur trade and disappearance of the buffalo by the
1880s, many of the local economies were in decline. Most people looked favour-
ably (some with heady anticipation) to the arrival of the Canadian railway and
hoped to accommodate their enterprises to the National Policy. However, for
many, the benefits had been exaggerated; for Native people, inclusion in the na-
tional and international economy had not been carefully planned at all.

That there was little concern shown to Native culture is not surprising after
examining the ideology that determined the cultural attitudes of the times. The
Canadian vision for the West was expressed in its most coherent form in the works
of a group of men who gathered somewhat loosely under the umbrella of the “Can-
ada First” movement. Prominent national members of this group included Charles
Mair, William Foster, George Denison, Robert Haliburton and Henry Morgan. In
western Canada, the group’s vision was shared by John Christian Schultz and P.G.
Laurie. Although professing to speak for all Canadians, the movement was pro-
British and advanced the proposition that Canadians, because of their “Aryan”
stock that enabled them to survive in harsh northern climates, were racially supe-
rior to other settlers of North America:

Unlike the United States which had sprung from similar origins, the Canadians
were sturdier for their having been nursed on “the icy bosom” of the frozen
North. They, the “Northmen of the New World,” were destined for greatness, a
destiny which would be fully realized one day in a great “rattling war” with the
then “weak and effeminate” Americans.!

The vision offered by the Canada First movement found sympathy in Ontario,
where farmland was becoming scarce. Some promoters, like George Brown of
Toronto’s Globe, saw the possibility of a West dominated by Anglo-Canadians being
able to tip the political scales in favour of Ontario. Thus the West would eventually
provide the numbers to overwhelm French culture in the nation as a whole. It was
clear from those Ontarians who arrived in the North-West after Confederation that
the desire to see the English outnumber the French was perhaps as important,
though covert, as the desire to own a half-section of farmland. In the case of P.G.
Laurie, Battleford’s first journalist in 1878, these sentiments were not suppressed,
but given crude expression in tracts published in the Herald. It was a nationalist sen-
timent that sounded much like the writing of the Canada Firsters.

Canada First grew out of a cultural imperialism whose supporters were anx-
ious to establish a new economy and legal system for western Canada. The new
regime would include Canadian officials and entrepreneurs as well as the North
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West Mounted Police who were to enforce its laws. Their vision was seen as hav-
ing historical affinity with the United Empire Loyalists. The loyalists were firmly
Tory in temperament. They had a determined belief in the evolution of a British
imperial history, they believed in the importance of the community over the
rights of the individual, they were true believers in religion as the mortar of soci-
ety, they were suspicious of materialism and saw social growth as gradual and
organic rather than revolutionary or cataclysmic. The sense of community as an
organism would only be tolerated if it were British. This left little room to accom-
modate societies that existed in the North-West before the arrival of these British
institutions and attitudes.?

The Toryism manifest in the thoughts and emotions of the Canada Firsters put
them, by temperament, at odds with the republican characteristics of American
society; so did the Victorian attitudes so willingly accepted in the young nation.
Victorian society, embraced especially by Upper Canada, was defined by a loose
amalgam of complex and contradictory concepts and beliefs. Far from being
prudish, stuffy and hypocritical, the Victorian era was an age of transition in
which the privileges that marked the world of the arlstocracy were in decline
while the commercial power of the bourgeoisie was ascending.’

It was an age where the image of pastoral agrarian life clashed with that of the
rising modernity symbolized by the city and its mechanized factories. The middle
classes flourished with the extraordinary developments in commerce, industry
and politics, and writers mirrored these developments with great enthusiasm. It
was in microcosm a time of optimism and moral earnestness. It was also an age of
anxiety about the waning past and a fast advancing but uncertain future, and a
literature that reflected a search for heroes. Progress and a sense of community
preservation stood side by side in tension and contradiction. It was an age that
was anti-intellectual, dogmatic and rigid.

This melting pot of ideas and feelings constituted the Victorian worldview. It
found its way into the West through the Canada Firsters, who combined a par-
ticular version of Victorianism with their own brand of racial superiority and na-
tionalism. Their ideas found expression in the North-West through the budding
presses, in newspapers like William Coldwell and William Buckingham's
Nor'Wester' and the Manitoban of Red River. In Battleford, the ideas of Canada
First were disseminated in the first newspaper established west of Winnipeg —
P.G. Laurie’s Saskatchewan Herald. Through the formative years of the Canadian
presence, these early newspapers were almost exclusively Conservative in their
political leanings.

Laurie shared much with those moving into the area, especially the settlers
who were inspired by the spirit of Macdonald’s National Policy. He was perhaps
Battleford’s most significant journalist and had an important impact on the social
and cultural thinking of his day. His worldview was one that the North West
Mounted Police helped to entrench, both through laws that were established and
by cultural activities to be shared by other newly arrived Ontarians. Laurie’s
vision of the West was promoted and disseminated very incisively in his columns
in the Herald. His opinions and views were an important indicator of political and
social attitudes of the white settlers in the Battleford region and it was primarily
these people that the police had come to protect.
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Patrick Gammie Laurie was born to the family of an Anglican minister in
Pitsligo, Aberdeenshire, Scotland in April 1833. Three years later, after his mother’s
death, Laurie, along with his father and brother, made their first attempt to sail to
Canada. Their ship was swept ashore during a storm and seized by striking dock
workers at the port of Greenock. The family chose to remain there until 1842, when
a second journey landed them in New York, en route to Toronto. In 1843 young
Patrick entered grammar school in Cobourg, Ontario, but stayed only one year. Af-
ter completing grade 5, he began his apprenticeship as a printer for the Church, an
Anglican publication. In 1846 the Church moved its offices to Toronto and Laurie
followed. Over the next ten years he lived in Brantford. Later, in Owen Sound, he
worked on Richard Carney’s Advertiser before returning to Toronto.

In 1855 at the age of 22, he returned to Owen Sound, married Mary Eliza
Carney, and purchased the Owen Sound Times. He sold it in 1859 when John
Christian Schultz persuaded him to establish a newspaper in the Red River area.
Laurie only made it to Windsor before the news reached him that the Nor’Wester
had already been established at Red River by Buckingham and Coldwell. For the
next two years he commuted between Windsor and Detroit, working in both cit-
ies as a printer. In 1861 he bought the Essex Record, which he published until 1869.

In September of that year he arrived in Red River and began working for the
Nor’ Wester, but he was expelled from the settlement in December for refusing to
print a proclamation for the Provisional Government. He returned to the East, only
to journey back to Red River with his son William in September 1870. For the next
eight years he worked in various capacities on a number of newspapers, including
the Manitoba Newsletter, Manitoba Liberal, Manitoban, Standard and Manitoba Free
Press.

On 11 August 1878 Laurie, then 45 years of age, moved to Battleford to establish
the Saskatchewan Herald, the first newspaper in the North-West Territories. He made
the 650-mile journey from Winnipeg in two months, walking beside an ox cart
which carried his printing press. Two weeks after his arrival at the new territorial
capital, Laurie published the first issue of the Herald and optimistically announced:
“Today we present to the public of the Dominion the first number of the Saskatche-
wan Herald — the pioneer press of the Great North-West — the light that is destined
to dispel the gloom that has long enveloped the Great Lone Land.”®

Laurie had come to the North-West motivated by a missionary zeal to see a
strong and independent society established north of the 49th parallel. But he was
also an imperialist who saw Canada needing the guidance of the Mother Coun-
try. What Laurie most desired was to see the West as an extension of British
Ontario. He hoped to control the make-up of society either through encouraging
British and Anglo-Ontarian immigration or through assimilation.

Laurie’s editorial policy, as outlined in the prospectus of the Essex Record, re-
flected the Victorian themes common to the time. In the conflict between the indi-
vidual and the collectivist forces, Victorians preached that progress could be
inspired only through the community, yet with leadership from the upper classes:
“Reflecting their traditionalist orientation, they assumed a community was always
endangered by the uncontrollable behaviour of individuals — especially those who
constituted its lower classes.”® Discovery, civilization and progress along with
Christian morality provided the formula for a united and prosperous nation:
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But while the publisher thus avows himself solicitous of attracting and arresting
the favour and substantial patronage of a large public, he declines to use the
same by putting forward a formal and pretentious catalogue of political theories,
professions and pledges, by which he shall be henceforth circumscribed and gov-
erned. He says in a word, he hates all kinds of platforms, because both common
sense and experience reject them as foolish and inappropriate, since they must
necessarily eventuate in embarrassing and confusing their authors, and all others
who adopt them. In a new country as this is, and in these days, when throughout
the whole range of both physical and political sciences; such rapid and gigantic
progress is taking place, and such new and unexpected developments are daily
made, platform and systematic pledges are monstrous shams, or sheer imperti-
nences. ..

This common-sense view of politics had little patience with intellectual debate.
The basis for the beliefs of conservatives like Laurie lay in the slogans of peace,
order and good government, which to them were the most important of British
traditions. The choice was either republicanism or monarchy, and Laurie clearly
chose the latter:

He [Laurie writing in the third person] therefore, begs to give assurance that the

Essex Record will, under no possible contingencies, “look to Washington” either

for physical aid to remodel our political institutions, or the Halls of Congress for

patterns to guide our own legislature. Whoever may hold the reins of govern-

ment and whatever may be our temporary dilemmas, this journal will be con-

ducted uniformly and persistently on true conservative and purely logical

principles®

Laurie believed in the great potential of Canada and pledged “to make the Es-
sex Record all that a good country paper should be.” With regard to general poli-
tics, there would be no recognition of a dividing line between what was called
Upper and Lower Canada. It would “give sure and ready and zealous support to
every act of the legislature, having for its object the greater prosperity and wel-
fare of the united provinces...”’

Not only was Laurie an imperialist and ardent Canadian nationalist, he was
also a vehement defender of western interests. It was not the environment, but
ties with the Mother Country and the East that would mould the character of
western Canada. Laurie continually attacked eastern newspapers for failing to
understand the plight of those in the West and criticized their sensationalized re-
ports depicting the prairies as a “Wild West” infested with uncontrollable “sav-
ages.” This ignorance of public figures needed to be exposed, and eastern officials
had to be made more aware of how important the West was to the whole county.
In 1883 Laurie wrote:

It is time for the people of the East and especially those who occupy the position
of legislators to recognize the fact that the prairies form an integral and most im-
portant part of the Dominion, that they no longer consist of an uninhabited tract
of country lying somewhere beyond the great lakes, but having a population
greater than some of the provinces, and in point of intelligence and enterprise
equal to any.10

It was one of the avowed purposes of the Herald to dispel myths about the
West. Laurie worked diligently to attack false reports by publishing lengthy
articles on climate, soils, and the possibilities of mining and agriculture. He re-
ported at length on the Peace River country and on scientific explorations such as
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those of John Macoun. Extensive coverage was also given to politics. The paper
printed the complete text of debates from the House of Commons on matters re-
lating to the West and the more important speeches of the Governor General. Ex-
tended reports also heralded the visits of dignitaries such as the Marquis of Lorne
and various cabinet ministers.

For local consumption, the Herald included a section on local news, informing
readers of comings and goings of members of the community, but, unlike other
regional papers, this item was given front-page priority. Similarly featured was
detailed coverage of the North West Mounted Police, as Laurie remained an un-
flagging supporter of the Mounties, trying to deflect criticism whenever possible.
Frequently, “Victorian” stories appeared with their moralistic themes of muscu-
lar Christianity, self-help, self-education and self-denial.

Reports from Europe were provided when the mail allowed. Articles from
eastern and European newspapers were reproduced, often in their entirety. He
gave special coverage to events of significance to the empire such as the Fashoda
Crisis, the Boxer Rebellion and the Boer War. Laurie’s broader focus and imperial
ideals prevented the Herald from becoming merely a local, parochial newspaper.
He advocated support of the Conservative Party as the only reasonable choice
open to Westerners. In 1887 he wrote: “we assume the favoured candidates will
be of Conservative leanings. It was under Conservative rule that the country
emerged from a state of painful solitude and barren unproductiveness.”" The
West could not be allowed to evolve without guidance; it would need responsible
critics to direct its progress within a national and imperial framework. Laurie did
little to speak for the majority of his community at the time — the Cree and Métis
residents — but represented instead a smaller number of Anglo-Canadian “set-
tlers” in the town that was protected by police. The West was an integral part of
Canada and as the East provided the necessary British influence, the West pro-
vided a natural outlet for settlers from crowded areas of Ontario."”

Laurie’s quest for social status arose out of his Anglican worldview rather than
a desire for excessive wealth. He saw a strict but natural social structure in which
the most civilized persons occupied the upper classes. Ironically but not necessar-
ily inconsistently, Laurie lived in a rather humble house in Battleford without
enough money to afford outside help, but he looked upon many in his commu-
nity as “lower class” and considered the Natives as “lesser breeds.” He saw him-
self as part of the governing elite.

Oddly, Laurie stayed in Battleford even after the transcontinental railroad was
rerouted through the south in 1881 and the territorial capital was moved from
Battleford to Regina in 1883. He remained convinced of the possibilities of the
West and his optimism was further reflected in the Herald’s motto, “Progress”:

The word selected as our motto indicates most expressively the course laid down
for the Herald. It will seek to promote the prosperity and further the march of
progress of the whole North-West, by advocating all measures having this for its
object, and by making known the vast resources now only waiting development
and ir113 keeping with the onward movement, the Herald will always be found in
front.

In Laurie’s eyes, the police were the ideal enforcement mechanism for the North-
West as well as representing the cultural institutions that Anglo-Ontarians hoped to
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establish on the prairies. The question of why the members of the eastern petite
bourgeoisie found positions of influence in the West and why they so strongly sup-
ported the culture the Mounties were helping to establish has been discussed. Al-
though organized hierarchically to reflect the class nature of their society, the
NWMP were not from a broad spectrum of society. The members of the force, even
those occupying the position of constable, were primarily from the upper and mid-
dle classes of Canadian society in the East. Careers and income considerations had
been sacrificed for the status attached to being a member of the force. Many had left
professional jobs to join the police and even though the members of the officer
corps were not exclusively British: “[flew police officers would have been offended
at being mistaken for a member of the English gentry.”™

They arrived with a confidence common to those with a sense of election and
imposed their sense of order when they arrived. The police literally walled them-
selves in and made themselves comfortable within their stockaded forts and kept
out and away from the often-disturbing life outside the walls that surrounded
them. Consistent with the Wacousta Syndrome and garrison mentality, they “did
not celebrate the conditions of frontier life but spent most of their time trying to
ensure that they disappeared as soon as possible.””® They were able to do this
through the material culture they carried with them and by social practices, such
as retaining servants or “batmen” for officers and viewing criminal acts as
“lower-class phenomena.” These were dealt with by those higher up in the hier-
archy who were “social superiors,” able to exercise that moral discretion accessi-
ble only to those familiar with an upper station in society:

They saw the Canadian West as having a definite upper class. This élite was most
readily identifiable in the larger urban centres where such institutions as gentle-
men's clubs existed to give concrete expression to ideas about social leadership.™®

In microcosm, the police represented the values of middle-class Victorian
Canada. Though carrying, protecting and disseminating middle-class values of
property and material security on the exterior, many still looked with nostalgia to
the age of aristocratic privilege. Identification with the style of the upper classes
was still treasured through leisure activities the police enjoyed, both through
their physical culture and in artistic expressions and entertainments. Yet most felt
there was an inevitability to the ascendancy of the middle-class culture that the
police so proudly represented and that Laurie promoted to the Anglo-Canadian
elite of western Canadian society who read his paper. Confident promotion of
middle-class Victorian culture resulted in the disregard of the Métis and Native
cultures in the North-West. If the police seem benign, it is because overall their
actions appear to have been those of “benevolent despots.” The police sanctioned
social behaviour through the culture they disseminated at their forts, virtually ig-
noring those already established forms of social control that had been developed
by the Natives. Local culture was ignored. An exclusive social atmosphere was
created at Battleford. It was a social life limited to those who shared their culture
and worldview and one that excluded the larger community that had been pre-
sent on the plains for thousands of years before the police arrived. The Mounties
were in the West to assure that a new cultural template of social behaviour would
replace the one they found.



North West Mounted Police band at Battleford, preparing to meet the refugees from Fort Pitt and
parade them in, 1885 (Glenbow Archives, NWR 1.2-7).
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Six-man band, 1900s (photo by C. West, Fort Battleford NHP Library).
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North West Mounted Police gymnastic club, 1904. Left to right: Front row: Gavin Smith (from town),
Charles Light, Ernest Letour, lan Macdonnell, Sp. Const. Bill Williams; Middle row: Const. Darby
Walker, Const. Thomas Dann, A.C. Macdonnell, Horace Rodgers (from town), George Meckings; Back
row: Sgt. Major Arthur V. Richardson, Bob Colter (from town), Const. Shea, S./Sgt. W.C. Jackson,

Const. Bob Hancock, Const. Archer, Sgt. A.H. Nicholson, piper (Glenbow Archives, NA-1034-4).

Cricket team, Battleford, winners over Winnipeg West End team, September 1892. Left to right: Front
row: W. Gooch, W.A. Duffis, ]|W. Cullin; Middle row: F. Nichols, ].B. Asby, A.C. Macdonnell
(captain); Back row: H. Gregory, F.R. Godwin, 5.C. Carter, R. Stevenson, ].F.D. Parken (photo by Steele
and Wing, Winnipeg, National Archives of Canada, NA-299-13).



Interior of mess hall, 1900s (Fort Battleford NHFP Library).

Interior of concert hall, 1910-20 (Fort Battleford NHP Library).
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“Customers at Smart’s Store, Battleford, August 30, 1891,” by Sydney Hall, engraved by Edward Whymper (Glenbow Archives, NA-843-39).

Reserve residents were significant customers for Battleford merchants, especially following treaty payments.
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Kahneepataytayo, Big Bear’s head dancer (Saskatchewan Archives Board S-B387).



“Chief Beardy, who participated in the Duck Lake fight [sic], and afterwards surrendered to General
Middleton,” 1885 (Glenbow Archives, NA-1032-5).

Beardy (or “little moustache”) was chief of the Willow band of the Plains Cree. Beardy refused to meet with
Treaty Commissioner Alexander Morris because Morris would not respect the vision Beardy had of where the
meeting was to take place. Beardy also expressed dissatisfaction with terms of the treaty. Like Big Bear and
Treaty 7 chiefs, he demanded protection of the buffalo and management of the remaining herds. Beardy also
protested when the assistance promised for agriculture was not forthcoming. Beardy remained neutral during
the 1885 Resistance but in spite of this, treaty payments were suspended to his band after the fighting.



WANDERING SPIRIT,

Wandering Spirit (Saskatchewan Archives Board S-B6024).

Wandering Spirit was the war chief of a group of the Plains Cree in Big Bear's band. In one battle against the
Blackfoot, Wandering Spirit was reputed to have killed thirteen warriors, more than any other of his fellow Cree.
Wandering Spirit was one of the Cree who most resented the “work for rations” policy so rigidly enforced by the
local Indian Agent, Thomas Quinn. At Frog Lake on 2 April, Wandering Spirit shot Quinn when Quinn
refused his request for rations. He was a prominent leader during the remainder of the fighting. He was hanged
at Fort Battleford softly chanting a love song to his wife.
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Almighty Voice, Cree Indian, Duck Lake area, ca. 1892-94 (Glenbow Archives, NA-2310-1).

Almighty Voice was part Saulteaux and part Cree and a member of the Willow Cree of One Arrow’s band. He
was known as a superb runner and hunter. He resented the pass system and generally the restrictions of reserve
life. In 1895 he was imprisoned for allegedly killing a government steer but escaped the same night. When
threatened with arrest, Almighty Voice warned the police that he would shoot and he did, killing a Mountie.
Three others were killed before Almighty Voice was bombarded by the NWMP in May of 1897. This incident
marked the worsening relations between the NWMP and First Nations people.
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“Old Mosquito, Chief of the Stonies. Sketches from life on the reserve,” by William R. Rutherford, 30

May 1885 (Glenbow Archives, >-1390-49).
A number of Assiniboine or Stoney bands have reserves in the Battleford area, including the followers of

Mosguito.



“The North-West Rebellion. A Cree Indian Thirst Dance,” by William R. Rutherford, 22 July 1885
(Glenbow Archives, P-1390-9).

The Sun Dance held in the summer of 1885 was in defiance of the local authorities. The Cree bands continued to
practice their traditional ceremonies in spite of the ban against these dances.

Indian Sun Dance near Battleford, June 1895 (National Archives of Canada, PA-28833).
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Cree Indians at Battleford, ca. 1896. Left: Calf Child; Right: Fine Day, photo by Mrs. G. Moodie
(Glenbow Archives, NA-2306-6).

Fine Day was a warrior with Poundmaker's band when they were attacked by Colonel Otter. He was one of the
main informants to David Mandelbaum, the anthropologist who compiled the major study entitled The Plains
Cree. Fine Day was interviewed by Mandelbaum just before his death in 1934, at which time he was over 80.
Fine Day was a military leader of his tribe as well as a skilled hunter and trapper,



Harry Nash and Thunderchild, Battleford, 1890, photo by D. Cadzow (Fort Battleford NHP Library).

As a young man Thunderchild was one of the followers of Big Bear who resisted signing Treaty 6 in 1876. Many
of his fellow chiefs had signed initially but Thunderchild preferred to follow a more independant life on the plains
until 1879. His band followed the buffalo into Montana but the diminishing herds led to starvation among his
people. Thunderchild eventually chose a reserve for his people in the Battleford area. Thunderchild was an
important source of Cree stories that were eventually published by Edward Ahenakew in Voices of the Plains
Cree. Much of the Thunderchild Reserve was lost in a fraudulent land surrender in the early twentieth century.



b ¥ .\: “.‘: lk ‘I‘ \ L : . A &\‘\ A
% \E Vi) A W A
\ SRV S ‘.\ ' &\&& N\ .
Sweetgrass, or Abraham Wikaskokiseyin, head chief of the Cree, 1877 (Glenbow Archives, N A-47-26).
Sweetgrass was an important Cree chief present al the signing of Treaty 6. Sweetgrass had a large following up
to the signing of the treaty but numbers were reduced following his death. Sweetgrass died shortly after signing

the treaty and this was said to have been a bad omen. The leadership of the band eventually passed on to his son,
the younger Sweetgrass.




Social Life at the Mounties” Barracks

Battleford's Saskatchewan Herald is a valuable documentary record of the social
and cultural life of the mounted police. Laurie regularly covered and promoted
the events and celebrations of the force, both for the police and the local white
community. The very significance of the police as agents of culture and of the
worldview advocated by “Canada First” is evident in the location of social
events, which usually took place on police or government property. Their build-
ings were elaborate for the time and it was thought to be prestigious to attend an
event hosted on police grounds. Usually the site of the events was a local bar-
racks building, but after 1885 it was in the concert hall where the police staged a
variety of activities, including dances, concerts and plays. The occasions cele-
brated were generally similar to the social life of Victorian Canada and served to
disseminate this culture to the West. Rarely, if ever, were Native people present
or invited. The events were primarily to be enjoyed by the townspeople and the
police. These occasions were often grand and elaborate in contrast to the daily
conditions that faced the police on what they saw as a desolate prairie frontier.

Concerts performed at the barracks were the most common and frequent
forms of entertainment for the local white community. Usually the police played
and orchestrated the music. As early as December 1878, a musical band had as-
sembled:

A minstrel troupe has been organized by the boys in the barracks. It is their inten-
tion to give several entertainments during the winter months, the first of which
will come off Christmas Eve. As this will be the first performance of its kind
given in this remote region, those who are getting it up should be greeted witha
bumper house. Programs will be out in a few days."”

The concerts’ content reflected the ethnicity of British culture and many of the hu-
morous performances had racial overtones, often at the expense of black people.
The very first performance of the police band was held in the council hall cham-
bers of Government House with the Lieutenant Governor presiding. “The stage
was neatly fitted up across one end of the room, and was tastefully decorated
with flags.””® According to coverage in the Herald, the band entertained with
enthusiasm:

The evening performance commenced with an opening chorus, “Stop dat knock-
ing,” which was well rendered, the voices of the performers harmonizing well.
Warden’s sentimental song, “Poor Old Slave,” was well received, and Robert
Wylie’s comic song, “Green Corn” brought down the house. Those were followed
by O'Neil, who sang, “So Early in the Morning.” At the conclusion of White-
house’s song, “Nigger on the Fence,” the applause was deafening, and the first
part of the program was brought to a close with the grand finale, “The Railroad,”
the locomotive whistle being supplied by Warden.”

Many of the events tended to be in the nature of variety shows, which usually
included songs, humour, solo instrumental performances, and on occasion a
patriotic speech or lecture. A typical evening would be similar to the one of 31
January 1881%:
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First Part

Overture Orchestra
Opening Chorus Company
Nigger on the Fence R. Wyld
Old Cabin Home J. Clisby
Old Black Joe F.A. Smart
Foo-de-ad-de-doo-da-day W. Parker
Poor Old Slave S. Warden
A Little More Cider W. Moulton
Do They Think of Me at Home? J.H. Prize
Tapioca R. Wyld
Why Didn’t You Say So Before? R.C. Macdonald
Pompey Show W. Parker
Grand Finale — Off to Georgia Company

Second Part
Cornet Solo P. Burke
Songs Clisby, Smart, Parker, Warden
Address — Our Future Professor Wyld
Guitar Solo R.G. Macdonald
Song and Dance in Character P. Burlee

The orchestra was central to these evenings and consisted of violin, piccolo,
banjo, cornet, horn, piano and guitar. In 1883, a brass band had been organized
and instruments were ordered. The change was welcomed as the New Year was
ushered in with a new musical sound. By March 1884, the band had had enough
time to practice. It performed in a crowded hall, and received a spirited review:

One of the most enjoyable entertainments offered to the public was the concert
and variety show given on the 25th... The hall was crowded to excess, there not
being even standing room left. The programme was a long and varied one, and
was carried out in a masterly manner, every piece being thoroughly well ren-
dered, and many of them loudly encored. The local hits of Bones and Tambo
were numerous and pungent and brought down the house every time. The band
played several selections during the evening and showed remarkably good pro-
gress for the short time they had been practicing together, reflecting also the
highest credit on Sgt. Bagley, their instructor... When the concert was over, the
hall was cleared and dancing became the order of the night, and was kept up ina
most enjoyable manner for some hours, the band furnishing much of the music.?!

The music produced by the NWMP was an enjoyable form of cultural expres-
sion particularly appreciated by the white community, as it helped to reinforce
their identity on the frontier. Certainly the police did their best to make their per-
formances accessible; for the townspeople there was weekly exposure to their
music if they could make the trip to the police fort. “The band practices twice a
day, and gives an open air concert on the parade ground every Wednesday and
Friday afternoon. It has made excellent progress since its organization and re-
flects much credit on its instructors, Corporals Bagley and Burke.”” The band
also performed for special benefits and in 1886 gave concerts in aid of those who
died during the fighting in the spring of 1885:

56



The minstrel show and entertainment given on Friday evening by the Battleford
Boys in aid of the memorial to those who lost their lives in the defense of Battle-
ford, was without doubt the most successful affair of the kind ever held in this
town. The acoustic properties of the hall and the seating arrangements were
greatly improved, and the only thing left to be desired was more seats as a very
large portion of the audience was compelled to stand. The songs were for the
most part well rendered and the local hits numerous and fresh, the allusions to
the “gophers” and the settlement of the claims especially bringing down the
house.

Later that year a benefit was also held to raise money for the building fund of St.
George’s Church.”

The “minstrel shows” of the Mounties served an important social function of
establishing and categorizing “us” and “them.” It would have taken little imagi-
nation for the white townspeople attending these entertainments to substitute
Aboriginal or Métis for the blacks that they were ridiculing and marginalizing in
their performances. The significance of blacks, or “coloured” people such as East
Indians, would not have been lost on Victorian minds that had been inscribed
with racist culture required for “othering” and marginalizing the many indige-
nous peoples while expanding the boundaries of the British Empire.

By the 1890s the nature of the entertainment had changed somewhat with new
equipment and changes in the content and quality, if not the kind of cultural ex-
pression. The general tone of the musical discourse became more sophisticated,
with less humour or “vaudeville,” and more technically polished and serious mu-
sical performances and improved settings.”

One of the last reported concerts was a “smoking concert” given in 1911. The
force’s entertainment had evolved to reflect a more sober, serious content:

The officers and men at “C” division entertained the young men of town to a
smoking concert on the evening of Coronation Day. Patriotic groups and times
were the order of the evening in honor of the King and Queen and especially the
one song which Mr. H.C. Adams rendered did the company cheer lustily at the
mention of the king.%

Other popular social events were the dances, or “balls” as they were also
called. They were hosted by the police and covered with flair and enthusiasm by
the Herald. It seems these dances primarily brought out the local white commu-
nity, who appeared to enjoy them thoroughly. The first reported ball was held in
1879:

It was well attended, the music excellent, and dancing was kept up with much
vigor until the “wee sma’ hours ayont the twal.” A well got up supper was pro-
vided, and everything passed off Pleasantly and well, the whole affair giving the
utmost satisfaction to all present.2

Much effort was expended by the police and local citizens to make the dances en-
joyable:
Among other “decorations” were specimens of the taxidermist’s skills, from the
gaunt and hungry wolf to the most graceful and gorgeously feathered denizens
of the bush and brake. A pleasing effect was produced by a number of stately
birds perched on the bough of evergreens with which the walls were covered.
Opposite the main entrance was a crown supported by the legend “N.W.M.P.” At
midnight, just as the old year was passing away to the mournful strain of “Auld
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Lang Syne” those well-known letters faded away and “1880” burst upon the view
of the spectators. The supper table was supplied with “all the delicacies of the
season” in the greatest profusion, and reflected much credit upon those who had
management of it.”*

The dances were invariably reported as huge successes and Laurie often
added a touch of humour to his description and reporting of these events: “Our
fashion reporter hasn’t been around since the ball, so we have to go to press with-
out a description of the toilets of the ladies; but as far as our own judgement goes
they were seasonable and quite correct.”” At some of the more grand balls up to
two hundred people — that is, policemen and white settlers — attended, a testa-
ment to the popularity and degree of participation of the fledgling settler com-
munities in such events as well as to their cohesiveness. After 1885, the police
were able to display with pride trophies and mementos attesting to their role and
participation in the events:

The rooms were tastefully festooned with evergreen and bunting, while the walls
were articulately ornamented with decorations made of flags, carbines, swords,
revolvers and other military paraphernalia. Upon either side of the room was a
shield bearing respectively the words “Battleford Rifles” and “Home Guards”
while facing the entrance was a pair of clasped hands ... one wearing the sleeve
of the policeman’s tunic, while the other was an arm of a civilian.®

The glories of the empire were celebrated alongside the battles of the North-
West campaign, both being exploited yearly with sentimentalized patriotism:

The ball room was decorated with evergreens, pictures, mottoes expressing in
words the welcome which beamed from the faces of the generous hosts, others
showing that the memory of old friends and comrades has not dimmed with the
lapse of time, and strange devices worked in weapons of almost every kind
known in warfare. Flanking the bandstand were the two 7-pounder field pieces,
now historic by their connection with Cut Knife Hill. The ball was brilliantly
lighted and the glitter of light from the arms around the room served as a foil to
the somewhat sombre background. Loyalty to the Queen and the profession of
the force found vent in a magnificent picture of Her Majesty and copies of the
well known military pictures “The Roll Call,” “The Thin Red Line,” “Scotland
Forever,” and “Balaclava.”™!

Not unlike the police balls and dances, the celebration of special occasions re-
vealed the ideals and aspirations of Victorian and Christian society established at
Battleford. For example, the birthdays of royalty were regularly celebrated:

The Queen’s Birthday passed off very quickly at this place. The Mounted Police
fired a “feu de joie” at noon. In the afternoon, a picnic was given by the Rev. Thos
Clarke to the children of the day school, at which there was good attendance.
Singing and games were indulged in, a number of prizes being distributed
among the youthful athletes.

Weddings also provided the opportunity to affirm formal ceremonies that
sanctioned certain social behaviour. Some of these occasions were also celebrated
on police property. Once in a while religious ceremonies were held at the bar-
racks. In 1883 a travelling preacher stopped at the fort and was provided with an
audience:

on Friday evening nearly all the men of the troop attended a short service, after
which Canon Cooper delivered a short address on the points of similarity be-
tween good soldiers and good Christians.
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There was of course a great need for the Anglo-Canadians to celebrate their
culture in an environment in which they felt alien. Their garrison mentality
forced them together to commemorate their past and their hopes for the future.
The annual dinner with the Mounties had become an institution greatly antici-
pated in the midst of long, cold winter nights. These sentiments were perhaps
most eloquently expressed by Laurie after a New Year’s Eve celebration in 1897:

We, here, live on the verge of civilization, and our pleasures are few. The daily
round is unvarying, not to say monotonous. So is the weekly round, and the
monthly, and every break in the routine of existence in this circling round of
sameness has a value unknown to those who live within reach of the varied dis-
tractions of more thickly peopled centres. We appreciate the brightness of a
comet in proportion to the darkness of night, and our nights are Cimmerian. Dis-
plays of a more or less meteoric character are not unknown to us but comets are
scarce, and when we are favoured with the sight of one we are apt to magnify the
length of its tail

Beyond the ceremonial and social celebrations, the local white community
could attend dramatic presentations staged by the NWMP and their fellow towns-
people. Frequently the forum for these dramas was the concert hall that had been
built with the necessary facilities. These performances were not part of the very
early cultural life of the fort but began in the mid-1880s. The first performance of
the NWMP Dramatic Association was reported on 15 February 1886:

Owing doubtless to the attractive program promised, as much as to the fine eve-
ning, a large and appreciative audience was gathered together... The only fault
we can find with Friday evening's entertainment is that there was so little to
blame. There was none of those unfortunate stage “waits” which try the endur-
ance of the audience and help to make the play fall flat and pointless. The pro-
gramme consisted of a short comedy entitled “Chizelling” followed by a few
songs, and recitations in character, and closing with a laughable Irish farce, in
which Sergt. Major Lake, as Paddy Miles, put the “come thru” upon all the native
wit at his command.

Some performances were in the Mennipean tradition of theatre that emphasized
the activities of royalty. Other plays that reflected the popular culture of the day
were the comedy “Caste,” “The Pied Piper of Hamelin,” “The Irish Tutor” and
“The Area Belle.”

The sporting activities of the police at Battleford provide evidence of the kind
of culture carried by the force onto the frontier. They introduced their own form
of athletic competition into prairie society. The sports reinforced the need for the
cult of “manliness,” for accepting winners and losers as well as showing “good
sportsmanship” before and after a contest. Sports helped serve as a mechanism to
socialize citizens to their gender roles and to the ethics of daily life. It institution-
alized and sanctioned leisure activities of those who held power and had occa-
sion to organize and participate in these events.

What is clearly evident is that sporting events were very popular in the Battle-
ford area and were held often. They were also given regular and extended cover-
age in the local paper. Needless to say, they were almost exclusively limited to
the domain of the male townspeople and members of the NWMP. This was an op-
portunity for the Mounties to exhibit their manliness, reinforcing their military
purpose. This message was implicit through a show of physical prowess inherent
in the sporting competitions. The sporting activities that most reflected the
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competitive nature of Anglo-Canadian society were games such as cricket, soccer,
baseball, hockey, rugby, broomball and curling. These team competitions were
usually held between one side made up of policemen and another side made up
of men from the town. They were most popular with the local white spectators
and were the subject of long commentaries by Laurie. The police invariably
showed superior strength and skill, thus proving their superiority in other events
involving physical competition. Cricket usually received the most detailed cover-
age. The police victories were sometimes intimidating, as reported in an early
cricket match:

The townsmen proved themselves but indifferent hands at wielding the willow,
the police winning easily by the score below. A return match was arranged for
the 28th, and although the police had everything in readiness the townsmen
failedB(Eo put in an appearance, a number of their players having gone out of
town.

There were also sports that featured individuals in competition with each
other: track and field, horse racing and sharpshooting. Shooting competitions
with pistols and rifles were very popular and winners in each category were usu-
ally prominently listed. Again, this exposure gave the police an opportunity to re-
mind the local society of their competence in using firearms.

The Economy

The NWMP contributed substantially to the local economy of the Battleford
area. Not only did the police purchase many of their supplies through local mer-
chants, but the individual men also spent a considerable portion of their wages in
local shops. Overall the arrival of the police was a welcome event for the fledging
economy of the growing administrative and agricultural settlement. The local
and regional economies of the Métis and Indians lacked vitality during these
transition years as the fur-trade economy of the prairies declined. The barter and
market economy of the plains Natives also suffered as their resource base, the
buffalo, was depleted by American hide hunters by the end of the 1870s. Most
goods were supplied either by the American companies of 1.G. Baker and T.C.
Powers, or the Canadian Hudson’s Bay Company, while local merchants and
farmers profited through the supply of fuel and fodder to the NWMP. The econ-
omy was not unlike that of an underdeveloped colony where manufactured
goods and finished products were supplied by merchants in the larger metropoli-
tan centres, and the locals produced the primary resource products.

The local people were able to sell significant amounts of livestock, wood and
hay to the police through the tendering process. Amounts spent by the force grew
significantly from approximately $200,000 in 1873-74 to $600,000 in 1884-85. Be-
tween 1873-85, roughly 30 percent of the NWMP budget went towards pay, 20
percent for food and clothing, 10 percent on fuel and shelter, 20 percent on horses
and forage and the remaining 10 percent was spent on a number of miscellane-
ous goods.” The majority of these contracts were won by the local townspeople
though sometimes with conflict. These tenders were regularly advertised in the
Saskatchewan Herald. Some were specific one-time projects, as evident in a report
of 1880: “The Finlayson brothers have obtained the contract for cutting posts for
the stockade around the barracks. They expect to get the requlred number off the
island in the Saskatchewan River opposite the barracks.”*
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There was, however, discontent noted over the number of contracts awarded
to eastern and American merchants. Laurie exercised considerable pressure to
help keep NWMP expenditures in the local community. Laurie levelled criticism
at a tendering procedure that favoured eastern contractors. Western bidders, he
argued, could be in a position to supply cattle, provisions and freighting if they
had more notice of the contracts. Laurie defended western interests by saying
that not only could the government save money by relying on contractors out
West already, but that the supplies could be distributed to several posts, adding
to the convenience of having local suppliers.”

The tenders that were advertised were usually for both the NWMP and the
Indian Department, but there were problems over the ads. Ads appeared widely in
eastern newspapers. For example, in 1880, they appeared in fifty or sixty papers at a
cost of $2,000. The widespread advertising was said to be worthwhile since the
competition resulted in savings on certain items. Western interests complained
about a system that advertised everywhere but the place the supplies were needed,
while local interests were simply not benefiting from the advertising system. The
local contractors argued that “Oats, flour, hay and beef could all be supplied
cheaper than they are now if the producers had a chance to bid for themselves, and
direct encouragement would then be given to the settlers.”* The contractors com-
plained not only that they had no notice of the tenders, but that even if they had
heard they would not have been able to submit their bids on time. The goods that
were supplied locally tended to be hay, flour, beef, oats, potatoes, lime, straw, cord-
wood (dry and green), local charcoal and even local bricks, as indicated in 1883:
“The manufacture of bricks on a large scale is to begin here next season, a powerful
machine having been sent for by R.C. Macdonald.”"" The prices for these goods
were frequently reported to show the advantage of purchasing local and regional
goods. “Contracts have been made for the delivery here of good Prince Albert flour
at $7.50 a sack. Winnipeg flour of the same brand is held at $10.00 to $12.50 a
sack.”? An indication of the kinds of prices at which local goods were sold to the
police appeared in a report in 1883:

The contract for mounted police supplies for this post for the year beginning July
1st, have been awarded as follows: Hay, Mr. Prince, $10.00 a ton; oats, Macfarlane
Brothers, 90 cents a bushel; potatoes, the same, 57 cents a bushel; beef, Wyld &
Bourke, 17 cents a pound; cordwood, Jos. Ducharme, $3.50 at 100 lbs. Beef and
wood are higher, but all other articles are lower than in former years. No bids
were made for the coal required.43

The majority of police business went to local white merchants, though on occa-
sion contracts were awarded to local Native bands, usually for firewood and
sometimes logs. For example, in the year of the uprising, it was reported: “The
police contract for cutting and delivering green wood has been awarded to the
Stony Indians at $3.25 a cord.”* In some instances, it appeared that the contracts
awarded to the local Natives were worth less than the local whites received:

The contract for the extra two hundred tons of hay required for the mounted po-
lice here has been awarded as follows: Ronald Macdonald, one hundred tons at
$25.00; Otton and Gospill, forty tons at $25.00; H. Hapur, twenty tons at $20.00;
and the Stony Indians forty tons at $17.50. Offers were made for seventy tons
more than were required.

On other occasions, there were complaints from white businessmen that the
Natives were bidding too low. One report complained that rumours in the street
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indicated that bids from Natives would be so low that there was no room for any
profit for goods such as oats, wood and potatoes.*

In some instances, irregularities were reported in the awarding of contracts
with veiled suggestions of favouritism and political patronage. Summarizing the
complaints, Laurie wrote:

Such are briefly the principal features in the several contracts awarded by the
Commissioner. The exigencies of the public service have been disregarded and
bona fide tenderers have been humbugged. In one case money was advanced to
keep a favoured contractor going, while in the other the money earned is kept
back for months and no explanation given.

Aboriginal Women and the NWMP

The Anglo-Canadian vision of the culture and society it was thought ought to
be established in the Battleford area and the whole North-West was narrow in-
deed. The vision as it was articulated by leaders such as P.G. Laurie paid little
heed to the culture and society of those who had been there for hundreds of years
before them. Overtly, through the enforcement of its laws, and covertly, through
“entertainments” such as the minstrel shows, Aboriginal populations were mar-
ginalized and “othered” into categories that led to their exclusion from the main-
stream culture in which Anglo-Canadians were being invited to share.
Categorization of indigenous people as “disloyal,” “savage,” “criminal,” and
“uncivilized” helped to limit the roles they could play in the development of the
Canadian North-West. Economically the underdevelopment of resources on the
reserves served to give merchants a large and dependent population to supply
with food as well as other items. But cultural marginalization of Aboriginal peo-
ple by the NWMP could also be detected in the “marriages” between policemen
and Native women. Treatment of Aboriginal women by the Mounties, as well as
the laws that the Anglo-Canadian society brought with it, introduced notions of
spatial and social segregation that kept Aboriginal women out of, and away from,
white settlemnents. The either/or binary of the “Indian Princess” or the squalid,
immoral “squaw” that Euro-Canadian culture applied to categorize Aboriginal
women severely restricted social opportunities for them.

In spite of the negative stereotypes of Aboriginal women, many members of the
NWMP took Aboriginal wives throughout the 1870s and 1880s. There were of
course children from these marriages and in a number of cases policemen remained
with their families for life. More often, however, the Mounties abandoned their
Aboriginal wives and children when their term of service in the North-West ended.
There were also periodic reports of abuse of Aboriginal women by both Mounties
and government employees. Such was the case with James Payne, the farm instruc-
tor on the Mosquito Reserve near Battleford. Payne was reported to have beaten a
young woman who came to visit his Aboriginal wife; the woman, a friend from the
reserve, died shortly after the beating. Another farm instructor near Battleford, John
Delaney, was involved in an abuse of authority when he had a man jailed by false
accusations so that he was able to cohabit with his Aboriginal wife. There were fre-
quent rumoured assaults of Aboriginal women but “on most of the occasions that
Aboriginal women laid charges against policemen for assault or rape, their claims
were hastily dismissed as defamation or blackmail.”*

After the fighting in 1885 the Euro-Canadian settlers hysterically complained
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about the increased vulnerability of their women. Responding to this outcry the
“government officials as well as the NWMP made strenuous efforts to keep people
on their reserves.”® The pass system was introduced that required any absences
from the reserve be reported to their agent or farm instructor. For Aboriginal
women especially, the pass system had the effect of limiting their access to towns
where they had traditionally been able to sell their produce and handicrafts.

These restrictions imposed by the pass system had economic repercussions for
Aboriginal women that had to be endured in addition to the mistreatment that
many already experienced at the hands of those who viewed them as inferior.
Also as Anglo-Canadian women arrived in greater numbers by the late 1880s,
many white men abandoned their Aboriginal families. In a number of cases the
courts failed to recognize the claims of the mixed progeny from these marriages
to the sometimes substantial wealth that they stood to inherit: “Ideological con-
straints, combined with more formal mechanisms of control such as the pass Sys-
tem, succeeded in marginalizing Aboriginal women and limiting the alternatives
and opportunities available to them.”* Thus racial and economic obstacles com-
bined with gender biases to work against the Aboriginal wives of the NWMP, pre-
venting them from becoming welcome and full-fledged members of the western
society that Anglo-Canadians toiled to entrench.



FIVE

Fort Battleford in 1885

From Macdonald's point of view, the more important aspects of the affair were
showing the flag of British authority and proving that the railway had trans-
formed Canada into a country capable of suppressing challenges to its sover-
eignty in the most remote sections of habitable territory.

Douglas Sprague

By the spring of 1885, the Plains Cree and Métis around Batoche and St. Laurent
already had a long record of bringing forward grievances and communicating their
dissatisfaction with the federal government. When their grievances went unre-
solved, a series of battles and skirmishes broke out. One hundred Canadians died in
the fighting, leaving in place an establishment unwilling to rectify the problems of
the Métis and Natives. These indigenous inhabitants of the prairies might have
been able to force a negotiated settlement in their confrontation with the officials in
Ottawa “had they not faced overwhelming formal discouragement from the acts of
a colonial establishment created by the Government of Canada.”’ The fighting
began with the Battle of Duck Lake on 26 March and was followed by the killings at
Frog Lake on 2 April. After these two major events, Fort Battleford became mobi-
lized for an attack as anticipated by the NWMP. To date, there have been different
views of the events that occurred in the spring of 1885. George Stanley suggests
there was an inevitability to the conflict; in a confrontation between European and
indigenous societies, the latter would certainly, albeit traglcally, lose.” This view
lumped the Métis and Natives together as a people raging against the demise of
their way of life and willing to die sacrificially for their traditions. A more recent in-
terpretation put forward by John Tobias argues that there was nothing inevitable
about the death of Native and Métis societies; mstead they were willing and even
anxious to adapt to the new economic order.’ This order was represented by the
National Policy with its proposals for turning the western prairies into an agricul-
tural region that was to supply grain to markets throughout the world. Tobias sug-
gests that the government was not serious in helping the Aboriginal people adapt
to an agrarian way of life once they were on their reserves. As well, Douglas
Sprague has recently argued that the Métis may have been provoked into fighting
by a clever prime minister willing to crush a Métis rebellion to justify the comple-
tion of the Canadian Pacific Railway.*

When Métis and Native dissatisfaction with federal policies threatened to be-
come violent, the government reacted first with tactics of delay and later with re-
pressive measures and coercion. The answer that eventually came was a military
one. An army was sent instead of the promised resources which were necessary to
help the Native people acquire a land base and establish an agricultural economy.
Any hope the Métis and Natives had for a peaceful, negotiated transition to a new
way of life was dealt a severe setback. For the Métis, there had been mounting un-
certainty regarding land claims, coupled with an altered social landscape: “Informal
discouragements included intimidation of the original population by hundreds,
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then thousands of ultra-Protestants from Ontario who intended to establish new
homes for themselves and to become a new majority transforming the Quebec of
the West into a new Ontario. Newcomers a spproprlated Métis land and made the
old settlers feel like strangers in a new land.”

Tobias also argues that the Métis and Natives must be seen as acting sepa-
rately throughout the spring of 1885. Along with Blair Stonechild,® Tobias states
that, in spite of the appearance of coordinated action, the Métis and Natives
never had any intentions of rising together in violence. The Cree resistance was
already a decade old, having begun with the “treaty rights” movement that de-
manded the government make good the treaty promises. Tobias documents Lieu-
tenant Governor Dewdney’s willingness to exploit the appearance of a general
uprising in order to subjugate the Cree and eliminate their leaders. This approach
was largely successful as the major Cree leaders — Big Bear and Poundmaker —
were imprisoned and Piapot, Little Pine and Thunderchild were put under strict
surveillance. The apparent rebellion became the excuse Dewdney needed to use
the military and NWMP to complete his policy of breaking the concerted efforts of
the Cree in bringing forward their grievances with a unified and strong voice.

Dewdney had long advocated a policy of rewards and punishments to gain
control over the Natives. Those who did not agree to take reserves where they
were allocated, or those who were unwilling to farm as the government dictated,
would be dealt with by force. This policy of denying to the Natives what they
were entitled to had been pursued by Dewdney in the early 1880s. He saw the
chance to exploit the unrelated circumstance of 1885 to achieve his policy of dis-
rupting a united Aboriginal front.

There were both political and cultural reasons why the government wanted to
lump the Métis and Natives together as rebels, and then to use this situation to
silence their leadership through imprisonment and by dispersing concentrated
pockets of political discontent. Economically and politically, the government was
bankrupt and unwilling to spend money in an area where there were few votes,
even though it had offered much in the treaties to convince the Natives to take re-
serves. Once Natives were on the reserves, government officials seemed conven-
iently to forget their commitments.

Life at Fort Battleford

The year 1885 was most eventful for the Mounties at Fort Battleford. The
otherwise daily routine they followed was now disrupted by threats to the town
and the newly arrived settlers and government officials. The fort became a bee-
hive of activity during and after the outbreak of violence at Duck Lake. Prior to
March 1885, the recorded events in the diaries of the men focussed on the mun-
dane: weather, announcements of mail arriving, or the reporting of maintenance
fatigues. Occasionally, some incident broke the usual quiet at the fort, such as the
report of 4 March: “Const. Worthington returned to duty and fined $10.00 and 10
days CB for being drunk in Barracks on 3rd inst.”” Or the report of 7 March: “In-
structor Applegarth laid information against an Indian ‘Jean Baptiste’ whom he
charged with breaking into storehouse at Red Pheasant’s reserve and stealing
therefrom Flour and Bacon.”® But ordinarily the routine was undramatic. An av-
erage day as recorded in the police diary would begin with a report on the
weather: “Freezing very Hard,” “Thaw set in last night — Temp. rose 25 deg.,”
“Weather Frosty.” The morning might be taken up with the following;:
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Reveille
Stables
Breakfast
Office
Parade
Stables

6:30 AM.
7t08

8:15

10:00

10:30

11:30 to 12:30

Afternoons included various drills and fatigues. Among these would be carbine-
revolver drill, barracks inspection, riding school, shingling stables and buildings, as
well as other repair fatigues. An average afternoon would be divided up as follows:

Guard Mounting 1:45P.M.
Parade 2:00

Tea 4:30
Stables 4:45 to 5:30
Retreat 4:45
Picquet-Mounting 5:30

Night Guard 6:30

First Post 9:30

Last Post 10:00
Lights Out 10:15

The reporting of duties often was interrupted by the excitement caused by the
arrival of mail or reports from one of the local reserves: “Staff Segt. Mackay was
sent out this afternoon to Red Pheasant’s Reserve to examine an Indian boy who
was reported as having been badly beaten by the Schoolmaster.”’ Often the eve-
ning activities were recorded: “Concert this evening in Council Chambers in aid

of English Church.”"’

The plain diet of the men may have contributed to their boredom. The follow-
ing list of items is from the recommended diet established by NWMP regulations

in the 1880s:

Beef or Bacon or
Pemmican or Dried Meat
Flour

or Bread

or Biscuit
Potatoes

or Beans

or Dried Apples
Tea

Coffee

Sugar

Salt

Pepper

Rice

Pounds

el s e e

Ounces

N W > 0 B

1/2
1/2

1/2
1/36




The yearly routine changed near the end of March. Until then, the most com-
monly accepted interpretation of Native participation in the 1885 Rebellion had
been that Poundmaker and Big Bear’s men were ready to destroy the fort and its
inhabitants. This view is well expressed in a popular history of the Battlefords:

some six hundred frightened, miserable people sought refuge from Indian war
parties within the palisades of Fort Battleford in 1885. ... [It was a time when]
many slept on the ground or in large hastily-erected tents; cooking facilities and
meals were vexatious; babies were born; the frail sickened and died; and young
men were killed in skirmishes beyond the stockade. ... a time when fear, lack of
privacy, material losses and crises were compounded by an isolation from the
outside world so complete as to terrify."

This version of the siege at Fort Battleford is basically grounded in the reminis-
cences of white participants and those in the stockade. It uncritically accepts the
narrative descriptions of the siege with a few passing observations concerning
the conditions faced by the Cree, and dwells primarily on the suffering of those
inside the stockade. Little sympathy is shown for the Natives.

The townspeople expected some trouble from the Native population through
rumours heard from a number of Native women of surrounding reserves. The
women reported that large groups of Natives were gathering and the whites
feared this could mean violence. Rumour became more concrete with the events
at Duck Lake. The effect of this fight reinforced the fear that an uprising was im-
pending. Less than a week later, reports of the killings at Frog Lake supported
the opinion of those who thought that the Métis and Cree were acting in concert.

On the day before the Duck Lake battle was fought, fifty Battleford townsmen
who made up the local Home Guard were sworn in and supplied with arms.
They drilled regularly in Barracks 4. On 27 March, twenty-four men left for
Carlton and returned with reports that the fort was endangered. During these
early days, men were dispatched each day to work on the bastions to prepare
them for defence.

The boredom with the daily routine, as noted in the diary entries, changed
drastically after the Duck Lake episode on 26 March 1885. The tone describing the
daily activities became more urgent as the situation grew more dangerous. On 26
March, “No news from Carlton: great anxiety prevails.” By 27 March, the fort was
crowded with a frightened white population: “Militia and volunteers attached to
police here and living in Barrack rooms and working together under police rules
and regulations.” Fears increased each day: “All hands busy fortifying and re-
moving all buildings that may prove a shelter to the enemy. All whites in district
within the Fort now...””?

The population felt threatened by the local Cree and many were terrified by
early rumours:

Stockade strengthened. Indians collecting on bank of Battle River around Gov't
House and Indian office & have sent some of their instructors to treat for them...
Barney Tremont reported to have been killed by Indians: Applegarth and Payne
and Cunningham also said to be killed. Stoney Indians reported on War path. In-
dians burning and plundering in Eagle Hills hid up [sic] Battle River. Indians had
entered all the stores and houses on the south side during the night and taken
away all stores and clothing and destroyed what they could not carry away
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On Sunday, 29 March, it was reported that Poundmaker was expected to at-
tack Battleford the next day. In preparation for this attack, men were detailed to
strengthen the walls of the stockade and reinforce the bastions. All women and
children were brought into the barracks and the telegraph was moved to the or-
derly room. Some farm homes, not in the vicinity of Battleford but located some
miles away, were reported to have been looted by Cree. Cattle and horses also
were taken. Many families, including the Pambruns, Finlaysons and Macfarlanes,
came to seek refuge within the fort. Others such as Judge Rouleau, Indian Agent
Kane and A.T. Berthiaume left for Swift Current.

Effie Storer remembered life inside the stockade. Her parents, the Lauries,
lived in the town on the flats. She accompanied them on 29 March 1885 as they
crossed the Battle River, which was slowly thawing, to seek refuge in the stock-
ade." Families were distributed throughout the fort, some occupying the com-
missioner’s residence while others took shelter in the stables. The Lauries and
numerous others were put up in the NWMP barracks. Each family marked out its
territory with blankets in the long barrack rooms heated by a black stove which
stood along the wall of this building. By Monday, 30 March, most of the settlers
had taken refuge within the stockaded walls of the fort. Earlier on, any fears that
might have been felt by these refugees were given credence when two men were
reported killed. Barney Tremont, a local farmer who was the Stoney farm instruc-
tor, was reported to have been shot by the Natives. Communication with the
other major centres at Prince Albert and Swift Current was curtailed when tele-
graph lines were cut. The only connection with these two towns came through
those daring enough to carry messages by horse.

With almost all of the local community inside, the men were put on repair de-
tail, reinforcing the somewhat flimsy stockade with sand-filled sacks. The
younger men were organized into units responsible for patrolling the four sides
of the fort, though not all of them were armed. Some 200 men out of the 500 refu-
gees were organized and dubbed the “Home Guards and Rifles,” and a number
of them would later follow Colonel Otter to Cut Knife Hill. The men were di-
rected by the twenty-five Mounties still at the fort and had one 9-pounder gun at
their disposal.

Men were separated from women during the siege. Supplies had been piled
around the central flagpole in case a breakthrough occurred, and the women and
children could gather in the centre of the fort close to supplies. The whole fort
population adhered to a strict discipline: they began in the morning with reveille,
busied themselves during the day with various tasks, and ended with the last
post. Food consisted of coffee, rice, bacon, dried apples, salt, pepper, sugar and
on special occasions some flour, currants and raisins. For those with money there
was condensed milk, anchovy sauce and canned cocoa. Bread was baked and ra-
tioned daily. The rare eggs brought in from patrols were given to the sick chil-
dren. Obtaining water became a problem. A guard was needed morning and
evening as water could not be hauled up the steep banks of the South Saskatche-
wan River, but had to be transported under escort from the more distant Battle
River. The heating system was a major concern as those closest to the stove swel-
tered in order to provide enough heat for those at the far end of the room. The
close quarters resulted in a number of inconveniences due to what Effie Storer re-
ferred to as “rude suitors” who kept others awake at night. There were more

68



pleasant moments when on Sundays the weekly hymn singing was led by the
Anglican minister. Considerate sympathies also went to the soldiers out in the
cold on patrol. On these occasions, the older girls would brew up a pot of coffee
to take out to the suffering sentries.

Overall, fright and apprehension pervaded the atmosphere among the refu-
gees. Reports from Frog Lake and Fort Pitt as well as news of the women prison-
ers with Big Bear made life anxious. It must have reminded them of the many
stories told of the 1857 Sepoy Mutiny in India. Reports of burned homes and
businesses were also brought by the continual arrival of messengers. Tragedy
struck within the stockade when the baby of a Bresaylor couple died after a brief
illness. Later, while on patrol, trader Frank Smart was found shot in the back,
though no one knew for certain who perpetrated the deed.

On Monday, 30 March, the men again were dispatched to reinforce the stockade.
The Cree from the surrounding reserves were seen across the river in south Battle-
ford. Estimates put the numbers from 120 to “over 200.” It appears from a police-
man’s report that they were headed towards the Indian office in town. At this time
Rae, the Indian agent, and William McKay of the Hudson’s Bay Company at-
tempted to cross the river to talk to the Natives, but were fired upon and sub-
sequently returned to the fort. It was reported that local storekeepers did send over
some food to the Natives who were now occupying the industrial school. They
were apparently peace offerings. Later that evening, considerable activity was re-
ported around the school and some shots were fired. This resulted in a general
alarm being sounded with all men responding to the call. Nothing ensued.

More activity from the Cree was reported on 31 March. They were seen entering
the stores in town, including the businesses of the Hudson’s Bay Company and Ma-
haffey and Clinskill. They were also reported to be taking belongings from the
homes now deserted by the townspeople. It was further rumoured that the Stonies
from the Eagle Hills were coming to join Poundmaker for the purpose of war.

From outlying areas there came more disturbing news. James Payne, farm in-
structor on the Mosquito Reserve, was killed; Barney Tremont was also shot
dead. George Applegarth was apparently spared when a friendly Cree warned
him to escape. The homesteads of Tremont, Harry Nash, AJ. Prongua, George
Gospill, Joseph Price and Harry Philips were raided. Some Natives halted George
Gospill with his baby and Thomas Hodson, but they were left unharmed after
turning over their horses and wagon to the Natives. Joseph Price and his family
were stopped as well, but were left alone when they also gave up their horse and
wagon. These events served to heighten tensions within the fort and increase the
population inside the stockade as more settlers arrived. Anxiety over the possibil-
ity of collaboration of Métis with the Cree also increased when local resident
Godwin Marchand was arrested on the suspicion of providing arms and ammu-
nition to the Natives.

Wednesday, 1 April, brought attempts from the Home Guard and NWMP to
drive the Cree out of the townsite on the opposite bank. The 9-pounder gun was
taken outside the stockade and fired at the Cree on the other side of the Battle River.
People continued to arrive at the stockade. Some of the half-breed families from the
Bresaylor area were torn as to what they should do — join Riel or seek the protec-
tion of the NWMP. There was apprehension among those who feared arrest for
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sympathizing with the Métis of Batoche. Two men, Bird and Ballantine, were sent
to Swift Current with messages to Superintendent Herchmer which said, no doubt,
to hurry.

The morning found Bird and Ballantine back at the fort, with Ballantine un-
willing to make the trip. His place was taken by Constable Storer who departed
with Bird at 10:00 A.M. These messengers were necessary as dispatches could not
be sent due to the telegraph lines being cut down A Mountie’s diary recorded
that the stockade reinforcements were continuing.”

On 3 April, a number of patrols were sent out from the fort. Two men, Thomas
Hodson and Louis Flamond, went to search for the body of Tremont. Sergeant
Major M.J. Kirk and guide Joseph Nolin set out with twelve men to check on the
state of a group of Métis camped a few miles away in a ravine. These Métis were
brought in and resettled “in and around Constable Macdermott’'s house at the
corner of the barrack square.”’® One other report came as the result of a foray
made by John Wright who, while on the north side of the Saskatchewan River,
found that the sawmill of J.G. Oliver had been plundered. Wright said the plun-
dering was done by the Natives of Chief Nepabase. Another group that went to
the townsite found the house of James Clinskill ransacked:

A large round-topped trunk, which had contained his wife’s clothing was
smashed in and emptied. Most of the dishes in his living room were broken, all
the cups were gone (although the saucers were left), and the silver cupboard was
empty. The mirrors in the bureau were broken, and a fine writing desk was ham-
mered open. In the garden he found a clock and a fine work box of inlaid ivory,
brought from China by his wife’s uncle.’”

The stores had been emptied of groceries. The records and files in the Indian
Department office were torn and scattered about. Within the stockade there were
also difficulties and discomfort. Food and water were scarce and living conditions
cramped. Diet was monotonous. Unease heightened that evening as the refugees
watched the store of Mahaffey and Clinskill burning. The next day, the stables of
the Indian industrial school were aflame. Fears of attack were increasing.

The Frog Lake Killings

On 5 April 1885, news arrived at the fort of the Frog Lake “massacre,” and
some days later came the news that a large number of Natives were encamped
with Poundmaker. Details of the Frog Lake encounter sent paroxysms of fear
throughout the Battleford area.

The Frog Lake episode traditionally has been viewed as an act of unprovoked
violence by the young warriors of Big Bear’s band against the innocent and un-
suspecting local townspeople. This interpretation was vividly laid out in some of
the reminiscences penned by survivors and those who were held captive by the
Cree throughout the spring of 1885. The usual image of the Cree would suggest
that they were on the warpath and out of control. More recently, an account from
the Native perspective was published whlch presents a very different interpreta-
tion of the actions of the Cree at Frog Lake.'* While indeed a tragic story, it is usu-
ally the killings that have been emphasized, not the events which provoked the
Cree to violence.

As the Cree account indicates, one must go back to the signing of Treaty 6 and
analyze the subsequent events in order to appreciate the position the Natives
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found themselves in by the spring of 1885. The treaty was to be a partnership in
which both sides would forthrightly live up to their promises, or so the Natives
thought. When the treaties were followed by the appearance of a cumbersome,
unsympathetic bureaucracy which was to administer Aboriginal affairs, the Cree
were disappointed. The use of the Indian Act to control their activity was a sign
to many Natives that the whites and government representatives had not bar-
gained in good faith. The system of Indian agents and farm instructors so regu-
lated and restricted Cree movement that many had reached a breaking point. As
John Tootoosis has written, it might be compared to “a ticking time bomb.”" One
of the methods used by the government to bring the Cree into conformity with
their programs was to starve them into submission. This led to numerous con-
frontations between the Cree and their farm instructors. These government
agents had been told that “demonstrated work” was the only way food would be
distributed to the Cree. Of course, this did not prevent the more diplomatic farm
instructors from distributing food when the need was clearly evident.”

The background to the Frog Lake incident was linked to the restricting gov-
ernment programs. The situation was exacerbated at Frog Lake by an intransi-
gent, foolish Indian agent, Thomas Quinn. Quinn is remembered as being
“contemptuous of Indians and enjoyed demonstrating his authority over them,”
and was notorious for hoarding supplies in the face of starving Cree. Quinn had
provoked the Cree in the fall of 1884 when he refused to supply meat to Big
Bear’s band. The Cree had hoped to use that meat for the feast which tradition-
ally preceded the annual payment of treaty money. The failure to provide the
food frustrated the Cree, especially the younger members. They also explained to
Quinn that the buffalo were gone and they rarely had the opportunity to eat fresh
meat. It made no difference to the agent. In the wake of this refusal, a number of
Natives, including Big Bear, Little Pine and Miserable Man, threatened Quinn. To
defuse and perhaps save this moment, the Hudson’s Bay Company trader,
William McLean, ordered one of his steers to be slaughtered and donated it as a
gift to pacify the Cree.

Other members of Big Bear’s band had also been humiliated by imprisonment
for actions they believed were justifiable. Wandering Spirit, for example, had
been imprisoned for three months when he stole horses from a group of Métis, as
he thought the horses were invading his territory. Wandering Spirit carried this
injustice with him to Frog Lake in the spring of 1885.

There were other resentments the Cree felt, as suggested in Native accounts,
including the humiliation of simple and crippled Cree and the implication of
local white men in seducing young Cree girls. These factors, though only alluded
to, may not have been crucial to the outbreak of violence at Frog Lake, but they
certainly contributed to the aggravation felt at that time.

Throughout March, Quinn closely monitored the rationing of food to Big
Bear’s band. During this time, the Cree were required to work at Gowanlock’s
sawmill, piling logs before any food was dispensed. While the weather was mild
they were able to work, but when conditions deterjorated, they could not con-
tinue. On these occasions, no rations were forthcoming. When the farm instruc-
tor, John Delaney, gave out supplies to the desperate Cree, Quinn reported him
to Dewdney, and Delaney was subsequently reprimanded. The news of Duck
Lake reached the settlement a few days later and the Cree of the area withdrew
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into silence. They were preparing to confront Quinn, who was now being re-
ferred to as the Dog Agent, again on the issue of food rationing. The situation at
Frog Lake was becoming more and more desperate when the priest, Father
Fafard, who was not particularly well liked by the local people, proposed a plan
that would have taken the townspeople to the protection of Fort Pitt. The events
of the next few days followed the same pattern: requests for food by the cold,
hungry Cree on behalf of their families were rejected by Quinn, against the
advice of others around him, including Inspector Dickens of the NWMP. One of
the last reasonable requests for food was made by Big Bear’s son, Imasees:

Brother, let me tell you one thing. The way I think everything will work out for
the best. My father, Big Bear, is poor and old. He went north to try and hunt for
food. Whatever he kills, he gives to the people. He puts on a feast and feeds
everybody. Maybe you should give him food from your supplies so that he could
invite all the people and feed them.?

The offer to distribute the food in the well-stocked house was again refused, and
the situation worsened. Ironically, on 1 April, Corporal Sleigh left Frog Lake with
a supply of ammunition thought to have been targeted by the Cree.

Big Bear made a number of last-minute attempts to defuse the worsening situ-
ation diplomatically, but the uncompromising Quinn rendered any negotiations
futile. On the night of 1 April, the frustrated and furious younger Cree took the
Wood Cree chief, Isidore Mondion, captive, as they were afraid he would warn
the townspeople of the danger they posed. Shortly after this, Imasees and another
man broke into Quinn’s house, but they left after Lone Man and Sitting Horse re-
minded them that Quinn’s wife was a Cree and one of them. Respite for Quinn
was short-lived, however, for at dawn Wandering Spirit broke into the agent’s
house, seizing all the guns and informing Quinn that he was a prisoner. A num-
ber of other houses were also invaded, including that of John Delaney. There was
one more attempt by the Cree to ask for meat from Quinn peacefully, but it again
failed. Then Wandering Spirit ordered all the townspeople to a new camp about
one mile from town. Quinn told the townspeople to refuse, though most of them
disobeyed him. Quinn was now confronted by Wandering Spirit who thrice more
asked him to move to the new camp. When Quinn refused, a witness remembers
Wandering Spirit saying, “I don’t know what kind of a head you have that you
do not seem to understand. I may as well kill you.”” At this point Wandering
Spirit raised his rifle and fired at Quinn, killing him. A number of the towns-
people fled for safety, but Charles Gouin, George Dill and William Gilchrist, who
were closest to Quinn, did not make it. Then John Williscraft, John Delaney, John
Gowanlock and two priests, Fathers Fafard and Marchand, were gunned down.
The priests’ bodies then were taken into the church and the building set on fire.

The Natives were still looking for William Cameron, the young clerk from the
Hudson’s Bay store. However, he was protected by some Cree women who cov-
ered him with a blanket and refused to give him up. The remainder of the towns-
people were taken captive, including the two widows, Theresa Gowanlock and
Mrs. Delaney. The following day Big Bear came to the camp where the prisoners
were held and expressed his sympathy to the two widows. He had lost control of
his younger men who were now headed for Fort Pitt. In an effort to curtail fur-
ther disaster, Big Bear dictated the following note:

I want you (the police) all out without any bloodshed. We had a talk, [ and my
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men, before we left camp at Frog Lake, and thought ... to let you off if you would
go. Try and get away before the afternoon, as the young men are all wild and
hard to keep in hand.

One more Mountie was to die near Fort Pitt from the bullets of the young Cree.
Fortunately for the rest of the fort, it was ordered evacuated by Inspector
Dickens. Twenty-eight civilians were turned over to Natives encamped close to
the fort and the twenty-three policemen boarded a scow which went upriver to
Fort Battleford. They were not pursued. There was not the degree of hostility to-
ward the mounted police as there was to the government officials who were
allowing the Cree to starve.

Frog Lake and its aftermath shows that the young Cree did not indiscrimi-
nately kill any white who crossed their path. Rather, they were selective. Those
killed were Indian agents, farm instructors, priests and one Mountie. Many were
spared or protected by other Cree. The killings occurred in spite of the restraints
urged by Big Bear and other older Cree leaders. They could no longer control the
frustrated, humiliated and once-proud young Cree who would not sit idly by and
watch their people starve. While the action of the Cree at Frog Lake may have
been triggered by the battle of Duck Lake, they were not acting in concert with
Riel and the Métis. The Cree were frustrated too, but for other reasons, and acted
under a different set of circumstances.

Waiting for Colonel Otter

All this, of course, was not evident to the refugees at Fort Battleford. The only re-
port that reached them was that ten people had been massacred. Scouts were dis-
patched to determine the fate of Fort Pitt. On Monday, 6 April, a snowstorm was
recorded in a Mountie’s diary.” On 8 April, some shots were fired across the river
at those Natives loading supplies from Government House onto wagons. The same
day, Joseph Alexander returned from Fort Pitt and reported that he had been
stopped by a group of Stoney Natives who took his arms, ammunition, saddle and
food supplies. The 9-pounder was used to fire on these Natives and a brief encoun-
ter took place in which the Mounties recorded one Native being killed.

By 9 April, the telegraph lines had been repaired and communications from
Middleton were received. Other reports from Fort Pitt reported that relations be-
tween the Cree and the fort’s inhabitants were tense. News from Prince Albert in-
dicated that cattle were being driven out of farms by the Natives and Métis. Two
days later, the ice on the Saskatchewan River broke as the cold weather gave way
to a warming sun, and two scouts were dispatched to discover Poundmaker’s
whereabouts. On 12 April, news reached Battleford that Otter and his column
were on their way, having left Swift Current two days earlier. Apprehension was
further heightened that evening: “The northern horizon is fearsomely red with
fires which stretch more than twenty miles across.””

There was continued reconnaissance of the area around Battleford on 13 April,
during which the Prince brothers’ house was inspected and reported ransacked.
Scouts surveyed the vicinity for Cree but found none — they were rumoured to be
at Poundmaker’s reserve. The search for and fear of the Natives was constantly on
the white people’s minds, and the stockade of the fort was continually being rein-
forced. Some Stoney Natives gave credence to these fears when they told a group of
scouts on 14 April that Poundmaker was planning to cross the Battle River to attack.
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This triggered a flurry of activity around Battleford, including a detail to dig
trenches around the entire stockade and move supplies to the centre of the square.

On the evening of 14 April, the Cree were again seen in the town across the
Battle River. Yet the police could still write, “Think it likely that Indians will not
attack Barracks.”” The next day, however, information gathered by Constable
Storer and guide James Bird indicated that the Cree from six reserves were pre-
paring to cross the Battle River and attack the fort.

Thursday, 16 April, was reported as very cold and was accompanied by a
snowstorm. Patrols continued to move to and from the fort. On 18 April the bar-
racks were scrubbed and the atmosphere was calmer. “Everything quiet no news
of any kind.””® One scout who had travelled fifty miles up the Battle River found
no sign of any Natives and reported that the Cree had not left Poundmaker’s re-
serve. On 19 April, Fort Pitt was abandoned by Dickens and the remainder of the
Mounties boarded another scow and headed down river to Battleford.

Tensions were lessening by the next day and teams of horses were travelling
to the old town and hauling goods back from the Hudson’s Bay store and the in-
dustrial school, but the calm was short-lived as the two scouts, Bird and Pam-
brun, returned from Fort Pitt to report that it had been abandoned by the
Mounties. Furthermore, they stated that two policemen had been killed in an en-
counter with some Natives.

On 20 April, the scow with the men from Fort Pitt was seen forty-five miles
from Fort Battleford up the Saskatchewan River. On 22 April, the constables from
Fort Pitt arrived. On board the scow were Inspector Dickens, Sergeant Martin,
Staff Sergeant Rolph and Corporal Sleigh, armed with a considerable supply of
guns and ammunition. The story of the evacuation of Fort Pitt was then related.
The inhabitants had heard of the presence of a large group of Cree camped near
the fort shortly after the Frog Lake massacre. Attempts had been made to bolster
the fort’s defences, but supplies were low, and even though civilians had been
sworn in to increase the force’s fighting capacity, the risk was obviously not
worth it. After negotiations with the Cree and having a number of patrol police
killed or wounded, Dickens decided to abandon the fort. The civilians gave them-
selves up to the Cree and the police quietly left by river. It was an arduous trip:

The first day they were up at 4:30 after a wretched night. There was snow and
wind. Several men were frost bitten, and their clothing froze to their backs. On
April 17 they had some narrow escapes in ice jams.”

But the police were not pursued any further by the Natives, and in spite of
fears expressed by Big Bear about his young warriors, the Mounties were not at-
tacked. This restraint towards them reflects the respect that the Natives had for
the police, and the apparent goodwill that had built up between them in the years
since the treaty of 1876. Had they wanted to, the Cree could have attacked and
destroyed Fort Pitt. It is not known what, specifically, restrained them. But what
seems certain is that there was far less animosity towards the NWMP than there
was towards Indian agents and other government officials administering its poli-
cies under the treaties.

During the night of 22 April, a number of buildings were burnt, including
Judge Rouleau’s house. It was a selective burning, as the Natives no doubt were
aware of the approaching column of Colonel Otter. On the same evening one
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other death occurred around Fort Battleford. Frank Smart was on patrol with
Constable White when they were fired on by what was reported to be a group of
Natives. Thirty-five policemen were sent out and found Smart’s body some three
miles from the barracks. Tension in the fort was again mounting as Smart’s death
was followed that evening by a fire that burned the Hudson’s Bay store in Battle-
ford. A general alarm was sounded and the men remained on guard around the
stockade until four that morning.

Otter Arrives

Fear of Native attacks decreased with reports that Otter and his men were
now close to the fort. “The women all cried and embraced each other! At last the
suspense was almost over.”*’ But the relief was coupled with the thought that the
Cree would attack at night since the fort would still be vulnerable as Otter was
camped some miles away for the night:

Nothing is worse than waiting, especially when it’s dark. This evening our
bugler, Paddy Burke, climbed up to the top of the stockade to play Last Post. The
reply from Otter’s camp some three miles away was reassuring. 1

Rumours ran rampant through the fort, and as the long night hours passed, it
was believed forty Cree had crept up the river and were crossing it on the scow.
By morning, however, the scow was found undisturbed.

On 24 April, there was some relief for the refugees: Otter’s column arrived, in-
cluding forty NWMP under Inspector Neale who was accompanied by Superin-
tendent Herchmer. Otter’s group comprised 250 men of the Queen’s Own Rifles,
forty-eight of the Toronto School of Infantry, fifty with the Ottawa Foot Guard
and another fifty with the Battery contingent. However, that same day, a report
reached Battleford of the fight at Fish Creek. An expedition into town by Otter’s
men led to the discovery of two dead Natives near the Indian office and the body
of Payne in a stable. It was during this time that Otter, unknown to General
Middleton, forged his plan to move against Poundmaker’s Cree.

The column set up camp in town in front of the Lieutenant Governor’s house,
close to the industrial school. It was given the name Fort Otter. The scene was de-
scribed in some detail by Lieutenant Cassels:

Battleford is very beautifully situated. The “Old Town” as before stated is on the
South Bank of the Battle River; and the New Town and Fort lie on the grassy
plain sloping south, and between the Saskatchewan and Battle River, about a
mile and a half from the junction of the two. The ground rises sharply from each
River and numerous groves of trees lend to the scene a beauty to which we have
for some time been unaccustomed.”

Shortly after looking around the fort and listening to the terrified refugees
Otter began to assess the situation:

After the tents are pitched we are able to go about and take observations, and
then the extent of the ravages committed becomes apparent. On this side of the
River there were originally some dozen houses and two or three stores forming
what is called the “Old Town.” Four or five of these houses have been burned,
the others dismantled and pillaged, and the stores completely gutted. Scarcely
anything has escaped: what could not be taken has been destroyed. About us we
see scattered in dismal confusion feathers, photos, books, tins, furniture and
desolution reigns supreme. The Indians have, we hear, been holding high
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carnival here for some weeks: they were out of rifle shot from the Fort and shells )
were too precious to be often sent at them. Each night an attack was expected but
beyond firing at the men drawmg water from the Battle River (the source of the
supply) they molested the garrison but little

The police reports from Fort Battleford were of routine matters for the next
few days, and the inhabitants now felt more secure. There was less alarm over a
Native attack in NWMP reports, though Colonel Otter seemed concerned about a
confrontation with the combined forces of Big Bear and Poundmaker. For the
troops at Fort Otter the experience was not as placid:

Last night I had the pleasure of being out on picquet [guard duty] and cold and
anxious work it is. The prospect of being potted any minute from one of the nu-
merous clumps of bushes that one’s duty obliges one to pass is not &easant but
that is comparatively nothing to the misery one suffers from the cold.

Though the troops were suffering hardships, those inside the Battleford stock-
ade were in an even more desperate state. On visiting the fort for the first time,
Lieutenant Cassels was astonished at what he found:

I was quite overcome when I visited the Fort and saw the miseries the poor peo-
ple there have been enduring. A small enclosure two hundred yards square with
one or two log houses or barracks and store houses, and inside this enclosure
were pent up for more than a month five hundred and thirty people of whom
over three hundred were women and children. Dozens and dozens had to huddle
together in one tent. In the Commandant’s house, a two storey frame cottage,
seventy-two persons were quartered. Food was scarce and water to be produced
only at the risk of death. No wonder these poor creatures were glad to see us.®

Having secured the immediate area of the townsite to his satisfaction, on 29
April Otter ordered the people back to their houses. Many, especially from the
old town of Battleford, were reluctant to comply as they had little to return to.
Slowly, though, they began to return.

As the settlers started returning to what was left of their homes, Colonel Otter
was mulling over his choices. His blographer Desmond Morton, suggests that
Otter’s objective was never much in doubt,* as he was determined to attack the
Cree at Poundmaker’s reserve at any cost. There appear to be a number of possi-
bilities for Otter’s decision to go after them. One was the destitute state of the
refugees. Another was his anger at the looting and burning of Judge Rouleau’s
home and the Hudson’s Bay store on the evening of 23 April, which was done
while his force was just a few miles away from the town. He may have wanted to
teach the Cree a lesson, and perhaps also felt embarrassed that the Natives’ attack
against the old town occurred while he was in the immediate vicinity, yet was
unable to respond at the time. Such action was interpreted by Otter as arrogant
defiance of government authority, and it was probably important for him to es-
tablish his authority over the Cree for the sake of his own men and the townspeo-
ple. His own troops were especially surprised when their colonel took no action
on the evening of 23 April:

Instead of attacking the relieving troops, the Indians used their last night of free-
dom to burn Judge Rouleau’s house and blow up the Hudson’s Bay Company
store. From their camp the troops could see flames and sparks rising and they
wondered, with rising anger, why they were not unleashed to destroy the
marauders ¥’

While the men did not understand Otter’s restraint, it may have been because
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“Their commander ... was all the more determined that no Indian ruse would
tempt him into a cunningly planned ambush.”*® On the other hand, those refu-
gees enclosed within the stockade for many days had a great desire for revenge.
Their desperate conditions were recorded in some detail by the troops and they
encouraged Otter to take action.

Released from their prolonged confinement in the fort, most of Battleford’s
settlers were furious for revenge. Otter’s arrival dissolved their early terrors and
the sight of their ransacked homes made them merciless. Battleford was strewn
with shredded clothing, shattered furniture, china and all the homely keepsakes
which the settlers had abandoned in their panic. Their anger was easily commu-
nicated to the militiamen, few of whom had ever seen such devastation. In any
case, they had not endured the hardships and fatigues of the long journey from
Toronto merely to keep company with the people of Battleford; they had come to
punish Natives.”

One other pressure on Otter to pursue the Cree was that a successful attack
would provide him with an opportunity to bask in glory. The eastern news-
papers were anxious for a Canadian hero to write about and Otter was aware of
such possibilities for personal glory and future promotion. All of these were rea-
sons for attack; the reasons against an offensive soon would become evident. Cer-
tainly, it appears that some understanding of the Cree motives gave Otter little
reason for moving against them. His column had proceeded unprovoked from
Swift Current — a distance of 180 miles — and there was no reason to believe
that he could not keep going.

Almost immediately upon arrival, there were rumours of preparation for a
move on Poundmaker. On 27 April, Cassels’ diary contained the following entry:
“I hear today that an expedition of some kind is going out to see what Indians are
doing...”* On 29 April, Lieutenant-Colonel Hamlyn Todd wrote: “a flying col-
umn would be sent tomorrow to Poundmaker’s reserve, Cut Knife, to see if he
was there, and to know that he had not joined with the Batoche force.”*! It
appears that Otter was not intimidated by the possibility of a battle with the Cree.

At any rate, Otter was prepared to attack the Natives: “Their commander
needed little persuasion.”*> Middleton’s communications with Otter always car-
ried a tone of wariness. It may have been his experience at Fish Creek which led
him to hesitate and motivated this sense of caution in his advice to Otter. Middle-
ton had told Otter to use his own judgement in the defence of Battleford, and Ot-
ter used this order as an opportunity to map out an offensive plan to keep Fort
Battleford safe. By moving out against the Cree, Battleford would certainly be
safe. Otter had telegraphed Dewdney, telling him he would take part of his force
to punish Poundmaker in light of the great depredations committed. Dewdney
responded eagerly: “Think you cannot act too energetically or Indians will collect
in large numbers.”® In the meantime, Middleton had warned Otter to exercise
greater caution, apparently not wanting another of his columns involved in a bat-
tle that might turn out unfavourably: “You had better remain at Battleford until
you ascertain more about Poundmaker’s force and the kind of country he is in.”*
By this time, Otter had already carried out his reconnaissance and was prepared
to move at any time. On 30 April, Otter impatiently wired Middleton, asking
whether he could march on Poundmaker. It was the beginning of an exchange of
telegrams that was somewhat confusing. Middleton was sure his telegraph to
Otter on 1 May had relayed a note of caution:
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Fighting these men entails heavy responsibility. Six men judiciously placed
would shoot down half your force. Had better for the present content yourself
with holding Battleford and patrolling about the country.®

By this point, it appears that Otter could not be restrained. On the same day, he sent
back a message to Middleton: “Poundmaker hesitatiné between peace and war —
am going to-day to try and settle matters with him.”” Middleton, obviously frus-
trated that Otter had not appreciated his warnings, responded immediately:

Don’t understand your telegram about Poundmaker. Hope you have not gone
with small force, he must be punished, not treated with. You had better confine
yourself to reconnoitring for the present.*”

It was too late.

The Battle of Cut Knife Hill

On 1 May, Colonel Otter issued orders for the advance on Poundmaker’s camp.
At 3:00 P.M., part of his column moved to Cut Knife Hill. There were eight scouts,
sixty Mounties under Inspector Neale, eighty men with Major Short of “B” Battery,
forty-five men with “C” Company under Lieutenant Wadmore, fifty-five men of
the Queen’s Own Rifles under Captain Brown, forty Battleford Rifles with Captain
Nash, twenty Guards with Lieutenant Gray and ten men with the ambulance corps
of the Queen’s Own Rifles. It was clear as the column advanced that they would not
catch the Cree by surprise, as fires from their camp on Cut Knife Hill could be seen.
The men rested briefly for approximately four hours when it was darkest, but
began to move again when the moon had risen around midnight.

In the early dawn the column reached Poundmaker’s reserve, which had been
vacated. It moved on and came to the Cree campsite. At this point, the layout of
the land could be discerned. The column was on a slight hill which looked down
at Cut Knife Creek and rose steeply to Cut Knife Hill. The top of this hill was
bald, but around its summit were thickly treed woods. It was decided to cross the
creek, eat breakfast there and allow the horses to rest. The descent to the creek
was rough and the men had considerable difficulty in crossing. The steep ascent
through the dense vegetation was even more arduous. The hill was terraced with
a number of ravines running off to each side.

Just as those men leading the column reached the top of the first level, a
shower of bullets came from all sides. “C” Company was ordered to advance to-
wards the bushes on the right while those with the Queen’s Own Rifles moved to
the left flank. The NWMP and “B” Battery were in the advance guard straight
ahead while the Battleford Rifles protected the rear. This first contact is estimated
to have been around 5:15 A M. There was heavy fire for approximately thirty min-
utes and after this time the positions on the right and left front had been silenced.

“C” Company under Wadmore was then ordered forward, while a base camp
was formed part way up the hill. The wagons were pulled into a square inside
which the wounded men were cared for. Close by, the horses were corralled. The
heaviest fire from the Cree was now coming from the left. At this point the men
were ordered to fire at what was believed to be the centre of the Cree position.
This, however, proved difficult. The guns were almost useless as they were too
light and had to be tied down with ropes to be effective.

At about 11:00 AM. Otter decided to pull back momentarily to assess the
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situation, as there was very little fire from the Cree during this time. The land
ahead was rough and any advance would be difficult. It was here that Otter
decided to move the wagons back across the creek in retreat. “C” Company along
with the Gatling gun would provide cover during the withdrawal. The men
suffered during the retreat:

We drive for about an hour and then stop and water the horses and have some-
thing to eat, and not before we need it. We have had nothing since last night and
are almost exhausted now that the excitement is over. After a short rest we press
on and reach Battleford about 11 p.m. The journey is very trying to the poor fel-
lows who have been hit; they are made as comfortable as possible with blankets
but the jolting over the rough road causes them agony. At Fort Otter they receive
some much needed attention.®®

Otter's move against the Cree caused much hardship. It was ill-advised,
poorly planned and proceeded against the wishes of Middleton, but the loss of
life was less than it might have been since the Cree allowed Otter an unencum-
bered withdrawal from the battle site. The Cree left untouched those Canadian
militia who had intruded on their territory and were now tired and in retreat.
Eight men of the Canadian force had been killed and eighteen were wounded in
this needless battle; seven Cree were also killed. Otter had gone all the way to
Cut Knife Hill to find that Poundmaker was indeed hostile.”

The column returned to its base and was then besieged a second time. How-
ever, it was in all probability a siege of fear more than a real attack. The fear of
“savage reprisals” was partially stimulated by an increased number of Cree seen
around the town. From the Natives’ perspective, they were worried about what
these soldiers would do next. From the perspective of the Canadian militia, an at-
tack by the Cree again seemed imminent and loomed large in their minds.
Reports were received of supply trains that had been captured by the Cree:

Gloom among the troops was all the greater when it was wrongly supposed that
the waggon train had consisted largely of comforts contributed by the ladies of
Toronto. The thought of Indians feasting on jams, jellies and canned fruit while
they forced down dry biscuit and corned beef was almost too much for them. At
Swift Current, teamsters, understandably, refused to move without arms or a
strong escort, protection which Middleton’s standing orders explicitly forbade. 50

These stories added greatly to their fears.

There was little action between 2 and 24 May when Middleton’s troops ar-
rived. On 26 May Poundmaker — the cause of so much anxiety — came to the
fort and was arrested. The events that are commonly referred to as the North-
West “Rebellion” would now culminate in the arrest of Big Bear and his men —
those deemed responsible for the so-called massacre at Frog Lake. The episodic
portrayal of these events has always focussed on the battles and killings, not on
the long-term factors of starvation and the sense of frustration felt by the Cree.
Now their leadership would also be undermined at the subsequent trials with the
sentencing and eventual hanging of eight Cree.

Aboriginal Trials

Fort Battleford returned to a more normal routine as the settlers went back to
their houses. After the fighting ended, police work focussed on the many prison-
ers in the fort. The work was often found to be arduous:
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June 20 Prisoners becoming too numerous for guard room to hold them, the new
stable has been transformed into a prison and prisoners transferred to it. Number
of prisoners on this date is 34.”

Natives and Métis continued to be arrested throughout July as police were sent
out to reserves with warrants. The principal leaders — Poundmaker, Big Bear,
Breaking-Through-the-Ice, Yellow Mud Blanket, and Lean Man — were shipped
to Regina for trial. The others stood trial in Battleford. In spite of considerable
evidence to the contrary, both Big Bear and Poundmaker were found guilty. It
was especially surprising that Big Bear was convicted, considering that evidence
given by one of the prisoners showed that he not only tried to restrain his men,
but also had prevented more killing from occurring, especially at Fort Pitt. The
trials showed that the judges and lawyers involved did everything in their power
to get convictions. They also demonstrated their lack of knowledge of Native
decision making and made little effort to understand their culture. Even allowing
for Native guilt, it was surprising how little compassion was shown toward them
when so few had participated in the violence.

Big Bear spoke eloquently, not only for himself, but for his people. He talked
primarily of starvation, something few seemed to appreciate at the time, but after
his conviction, Big Bear spoke for himself:

I think T should have something to say about the occurrences which brought me
here in chains.

I knew little of the killing at Frog Lake beyond hearing the shots fired. When any
wrong was brewing I did my best to stop it in the beginning. The turbulent ones
of the band got beyond my control and shed the blood of those I would have pro-
tected. I was away from Frog Lake a part of the winter, hunting and fishing, and
the rebellion had commenced before I got back. When white men were few in the
country I gave them the hand of brotherhood. I am sorry so few are here who can
witness for my friendly acts.

Can anyone stand out and say that I ordered the death of a priest or an agent?
You think I encouraged my people to take part in the trouble. I did not. [ advised
them against it. I felt sorry when they killed those men at Frog Lake, but the truth
is when news of the fight at Duck Lake reached us my band ignored my author-
ity and despised me because | did not side with the half-breeds. I did not so much
as take a white man’s horse. | always believed that by being the friend of the
white man, I and my people would be helped by those of them who had wealth. 1
always thought it paid to do all the good I could. Now my heart is on the ground.

I look around me in this room and see it crowded with handsome faces — faces
far handsomer than my own (laughter). I have ruled my country for a long time.
Now I am in chains and will be sent to prison, but I have no doubt the handsome
faces I admire about me will be competent to govern the land (laughter). At pre-
sent I am dead to my people. Many of my band are hiding in the woods, para-
lyzed with terror. Cannot this court send them a pardon? My own children! —
perhaps they are starving and outcast, too, afraid to appear in the light of day. If
the government does not come to them with help before the winter sets in, my
band will surely perish.

But I have too much confidence in the Great Grandmother to fear that starvation
will be allowed to overtake my people. The time will come when the Indians of
the North-West will be of much service to the Great Grandmother. [ plead again,
(he cried, stretching forth his hands) to you, the chiefs of the white men’s laws,
for pity and help to the outcasts of my band.
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I have only a few words more to say. Sometimes in the past I have spoken stiftly
to the Indian agents, but when I did it was only in order to obtain my rights. The
North-West belonged to me, but I perhaps will not live to see it again. [ ask the
court to publish my speech and to scatter it among the white people. It is my
defence.

['am old and ugly, but I have tried to do good. Pity the children of my tribe! Pity
the old and helpless of my people! I speak with a single tongue; and because Big
Bear has always been the friend of the white man, send out a pardon and give
them help!

How! Aquisanee — I have spoken!™?

The less eloquent who were tried at Battleford had little to say. Many charges
had been laid, including arson, high treason and assault. Eleven were convicted
of murder and sentenced to death; three of those had their sentences commuted.
Most of those convicted remained unrepentant. Only Wandering Spirit showed
remorse:

Tell the Crees from me never to do again as they did this spring — never to do as
I did. Tell my daughter I died in the white man’s religion; I want her and her
cousins to have that religion, too. I am not thinking much about what is going to
happen tomorrow. I am thinking about what the priest says to me.”

The others sang their Native chants. The dramatic hanging was held on Friday,
27 November, and described at length by an eyewitness:

At half-past seven, I strolled down to the barracks. The scaffold stood in the
barrack-square, the platform, twenty feet long by eight broad, ten feet above the
ground, with a railing enclosing the trap in the centre, reached by a stair.

As I entered the square the death chant of the condemned red men, a weird, mel-
ancholy strain, came to me from the guardroom. A group of Cree and Assini-
boine Indians sat with their backs against the blacksmith shop in the open space
before the scaffold. The authorities, hoping it would have a salutary effect, had
allowed a limited number to view the executions. Small knots of civilians con-
versed in low tones inside the high stockade about the fort; everywhere was that
sense of repression always freighting the atmosphere of tragedy. The curtain was
about to rise on the final act in the shocking drama which opened eight months
before at Frog Lake.

Suddenly the singing ceased and a hush fell upon the men gathered about the
square. A squad of mounted police marched up, black military cloaks over their
shoulders, their rifles at the support, and formed a cordon about the foot of the
scaffold. Major Crozier, the commandant, paced restlessly up and down on the
left, talking with Wm. McKay, of the Hudson’s Bay Company, who acted as inter-
preter.

Sheriff Forget appeared, dressed in black and carrying in his hand the warrants
of execution. A Roman Catholic priest and a clergyman of the Church of England
followed. Next came the prisoners, eight in all, their hands bound behind their
backs. They marched in single file, a policeman before, another following, and
one on either side each of the doomed men. They stepped almost jauntily,
dressed in their new suits of brown duck. The weights had been removed from
their ankles. Round their shaven scalps were the black caps ready to be drawn
over their faces. Immediately in front of them walked Hodson. Intense silence
had fallen upon the square, the only sound the measured tramp of the sombre
procession.
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At the foot of the stair leading to the scaffold the police escort stepped aside and
the sheriff, missionaries, interpreter and hangman ascended to the platform. Mis-
erable Man, Manichoos, Walking the Sky followed in the order named. Wander-
ing Spirit came next. He paused at the foot of the stair, gazing up at the structure
of death looming dismally above him; then mounted after the others with a firm
step. Napaise and Apischiskoos followed him. Bringing up the rear were two
Assiniboine Indians, the murderers of James Payne and Bernard {T]remont, set-
tlers of Battleford.

The Indians passed through a gate in the little railing enclosing the trap and were
lined up, facing outward, in the order in which they had ascended the stair. The
gate was closed, and while Hodson went round behind them and strapped the
ankles of each man together they were told they would be given ten minutes in
which to speak, should they feel disposed. All, I think, except Wandering Spirit,
availed themselves of the privilege.

The elder of the Assiniboines — Payne’s murderer — spoke defiantly. So did
Little Bear. He told the Indian onlookers to remember how the whites had treated
him — to make no peace with them. The old Assiniboine turned and harangued
his companions, urging them to show their contempt for the punishment the gov-
ernment was about to inflict on them. All but Wandering Spirit smiled, sang and
shouted short, sharp war-cries.”*

A policeman also described the scene.

Morning opened dull, dark & cloudy threatening snow. General parade at 7.30 to
form guard during execution of the eight Indians condemned to death. Police
formed three sides of hollow square around scaffold, other side, stockade & Q.M.
Store. Many settlers present; about 30 Indians, principally “Moosomin,” admitted
to witness execution. Mounted men patrolling around Fort. Very cold, waiting
for prisoners to be bro’t from Guard House. At last they appeared about 8.15 am,
with escort of police, prisoners’ hands tied behind their backs and wearing black
capes with veils to cover the face. They seemed calm and resigned to their fate,
others crazy & excited, most of them assumed a false, bravado, don't care-a-
damn sort of air. Miserable Man tried to get up a War song & dance on way to
scaffold but it proved a failure.

All ascended the scaffold with comparatively firm step, some silent — while
nooses were being adjusted, others singing war songs, Peres Cochin and Bigon-
esse on scaffold with them to the last. Nooses fixed, lever pulled and all were in
eternity in a second. They died without a struggle and were cut down 10 minutes
later, coffined, and buried within half an hour. Indian prisoners silent during
day. Moosomin Indians seemed awe inspired. So ended the actors in the Frog
Lake massacre and Battleford murders. Snow during forenoon. Patrols & Guard
same as usual during night.55

Punished by the combined power of the Canadian militia and the NWMP, the
Natives began a long period of withdrawal onto the reserves. There they initiated
strategies of resistance and collaboration. These were the same strategies indige-
nous peoples in other parts of the British Empire had to adopt when faced with a
military presence that was impossible to fight openly. At Battleford, the fears of
the newly arrived whites justified in their own minds the largest mass hanging in
Canadian history.

In the official history of Battleford, the scene of the Aboriginal graves is
described:

After the hanging, the bodies were placed in rough wooden boxes and buried in
a common grave on the hillside below the police barracks. So dark were the
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recollections of those terrible March days that for years Battleford people put
them out of mind, and the grave was all but forgotten. More recently, however, it
has been covered with a concrete slab encircled by chain railing. Only a rough
trail leads down the hillside to the spot, but it is located in a beautiful sheltered
gully overlooking the Saskatchewan River.*

With the dead of both sides buried, life at the fort returned to the normality it had
known before the spring. The Cree of the area were, however, watched more
closely than before. The monitoring of their movements began almost immedi-
ately after the surrender of Poundmaker.

On 20 August, the NWMP diary contained the following report:

Two men mounted patrol duty to see that no Indians are in town without passes
— Orders — to send squaws away from behind Mr. Rae’s house to reserve, and
to bring any Indian found without a pass into Barracks.”’

There were reports of defiance among the Cree. A number of farm instructors were
uneasy working on the reserves and a few warned of the possibility of another out-
break of violence. One major problem and a cause of tension was the difficulty in
getting the Cree to work, but those methods that were used previously were em-
ployed once more to gain compliance. Food was rationed only to those who would
work, and eventually hunger became the best friend of the local farm instructors.
Besides the combined effort of trying to keep the Cree on reserves and working,
there was an increased emphasis on education. The children of those who had de-
fied the government were to be educated in the industrial school at Battleford,
which was run by Canon Matheson of the Church of England.

The View of a Local Farm Instructor

In attempting to interpret the events around Battleford in 1885, it is useful to
keep in mind the experiences of the farm instructor on Poundmaker’s reserve.
While the traditional story suggests a concerted effort of collaboration between
the Métis and Natives against the whites, it goes against the observations of
Robert Jefferson. This traditional view of the Cree being committed to rebellion
can be found in texts published as late as 1980.> After the Craig Incident, Jeffer-
son found that the Cree on his reserve were willing to work:

The members of the band were mostly young and, with the limited means placed
at their disposal by the department, made a respectable showing. They really
wished to try out the white man’s means of livelihood. This is speaking generally.
There were a few to whose confidence [ never could find entrance.”

Their spirits were not disheartened even by drought and crop failure in 1885.
Furthermore, Jefferson thought that, in the period between the winter of 1884 and
spring of 1885, there were concerns to have the government spend more money
in the area and redress grievances felt by the Métis in relation to their scrip:

The idea of bringing this about by force of arms, though talked about, was never
entertained seriously by those who started and helped forward the agitation.
There was no question of the Indians being in any way interested.®

There was a careful distinction made in Jefferson’s account of the situation that
existed in the settled areas along the Saskatchewan River. Those around Prince
Albert and Duck Lake were poor and in great need of assistance, while the settlers
around Battleford and Bresaylor were not. There was a sense of uneasiness between
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those wealthier persons who did not join in the fighting and the poorer residents
from Duck Lake and Prince Albert who did. A “class” distinction developed
between those who would join and those that remained passive, but there was a
general grievance that united the Métis and Natives:

They had owned the country; they had lived well and easily; now both their
country and their means of existence were gone. The white man had deprived
them without giving adequate return.”!

Even after the battle at Duck Lake it was not clear if the Natives were committed
to any violence. There is no doubt that they did gather together, making the three
farm instructors — McKay of Sweet Grass, Craig of Little Pine and Jefferson — con-
cerned about further violence. McKay had spoken to Sweet Grass after an initial
meeting with all the Cree in the area. Sweet Grass had informed him that the Cree
were merely going to Battleford to speak to the agent there, thinking that going in a
large force would give greater weight to their demands. “He did not anticipate any
trouble. They did not seek it.”* The fear felt by the farm instructors was enough to
send McKay to Battleford for shelter. Jefferson stayed at the reserve, though with
some trepidation. His fear was based on what he had experienced while working
with the Cree, and he recognized the bitterness felt by these Natives:

They had accepted the statement of the white man that a living — independence
— could be obtained by tilling the ground. This hope of eventual escape from
dire poverty, alone had kept their inexpert hands at work; had restrained their
chafing openly at the assumption of superiority and domination of men, nearly

. as ignorant, and not more intelligent than themselves. In this hope they had
borne hunger, disease and want for several years and they were no nearer their
goal. It looked as though they might die off before they had reached it — that is,
if it existed &

Jefferson was aware of the discouraged state of the Cree and of Assistant In-
dian Commissioner Hayter Reed’s assumption that they were lazy and unreli-
able. Through his own tightfisted policy and as punishment for what he saw as
slothfulness, Reed limited their rations to a bare minimum so that they were in a
constant state of hunger. He also limited the amount of equipment and animals
with which the Cree were allowed to work their land, so those who were eager to
farm felt a great futility. Though terrified and conscious that he might be part of a
cynical program that could not help the Natives, Jefferson was able to document
a number of instances to show that the Cree were not responsible for any indis-
criminate killing of whites. When they did kill, as the Stonies did farm instructors
Payne and Tremont, it was a kind of revenge against those who had mistreated
them. One eyewitness remembered the circumstances surrounding these deaths:

The Stonies had killed, at that time, at least two white men in the district, Barney
Tremont, a rancher [sic] and Payne, a farm instructor, and the settlers from the
districts in which these murders took place, took refuge in Battleford. It is
thought, however, that the Stonies killed these men more as a result of private re-
venge than in the course of a regular uprising.

He [Payne] had a common-law Indian wife and several children. Returning one
night from Battleford under the influence of liquor, he drove his wife and chil-
dren out of doors into a snow storm. Before they succeeded in reaching an Indian
shelter, the poor woman, who had used her own garments to protect the children
from the biting frost, had both her breasts frozen and never quite recovered from
the effects of that dreadful night. When the rebellion broke out, her Indian rela-
tives sought revenge against the farm instructor and shot him to death.
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Barney Tremont had an undying hatred of Indians. On one occasion, a young In-
dian had lost his way in a blizzard, when he saw the light in Tremont’s house.
He knocked at the door and sought shelter. When Tremont saw that he was an
Indian, he shut the door in his face and the Indian had his feet frozen. There is lit-
tle doubt that the friends and relatives of this unfortunate young man also took
advantage of the turmoil to avenge themselves upon the rancher. He was shot
down while greasing his wagon preparatory to making his way to Battleford.**

Not all farm instructors, however, were to be disposed of in this way. Fright-
ened for his life, Craig was able to peacefully pass through a group of Cree and
continue on unmolested to the safety of the stockade. McKay, also on his way to
the barracks, came across the same Stonies who had killed the farm instructors
and was helped by them across the Battle River.

On 30 March, the Cree under Poundmaker proceeded to the fort and found
the town deserted. They approached the barracks and asked to speak to Indian
Agent Rae. From Jefferson’s account, it was obvious these Natives were pressur-
ing for more food supplies, but Rae refused to come out to talk with them, seeing
them as a monolithic force. Apparently, it was only at this time that Poundmaker
heard that the Stonies had killed the two farm instructors and a settler. Here
Jefferson suggests that all the unrest of the time might have been avoided had the
two farm instructors not been killed, a fact that kept Rae from meeting with the
Natives. If he had given them additional supplies, all might have been settled
without further incident. Subsequent to their failure to meet the farm instructor,
the Natives moved down to the old town along the flats where the houses and
stores had been deserted. The only resident of the town not to go to the fort had
been the cook at Government House and he was left unmolested. Around this
time the judge’s house was found aflame, but little is known of who or what was
responsible for this. The Natives were involved in some looting but “the principal
looting was the work of the white man. As soon as the coast was clear in the
morning they came over in detachments and finished what the Indians had be-
gun. They made a clean sweep.”® Throughout his account, Jefferson does not
deny the looting done by the Natives or their threats to other inhabitants of the
area, but states this was perpetrated by a small fraction of the total number of
Natives. Indeed, his own life was protected by the Cree of Poundmaker’s reserve
who gave him a haven. Poundmaker had personally assured him that he would
be protected, even though the chief told him the Natives would rise again to be
led by the light of Crowfoot to the south. Poundmaker still had a dream to return
to the old god of the Cree. He was quoted by Jefferson as saying:

Of old, the Indian trusted in his God and his faith was not in vain. He was fed,
clothed and free from sickness. Along came the white man and persuaded the
Indian that this God was not able to keep up the care. The Indian took the white
man’s word and deserted to the new God. Hunger followed and disease and
death. Now we have returned to the God we know; the buffalo will come back,
and the Indian will live the life that God intended him to live.®

Jefferson makes important distinctions in the make-up of those who were
gathering at Battleford around Poundmaker. The wealthier Métis from Bresaylor
were reluctant to join and preferred to protect their land, property and cattle.
This was unacceptable to the Cree who did not want some people standing by
while they were taking risks that would later benefit everyone else. When the
Cree confiscated their cattle, these Métis reluctantly joined them. The Wood Cree
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of the Moosomin and Kahpitikkoo bands were also less aggressive and rarely en-
gaged in conflict. Unlike the Plains Cree buffalo hunters, the Wood Cree were a
more sedentary population and it was easier for missionaries to live among them
and convert more individuals to Christianity.” Poundmaker thus could not form
an alliance with Moosomin. But while Poundmaker did gather a large force, he
was not involved in any looting at Battleford. In fact, the only things taken were
the food supplies and other goods from the vacated stores on their reserves: “His
dignity prevented him from engaging in scrimmages for loot, and his posmon as
head man could not be taken advantage of to acquire even necessaries.”® Jeffer-
son’s account, which was written as he moved with Poundmaker’s camp, also
throws an interesting light on the fate of Frank Smart. Jefferson indicates that the
killing was an isolated incident by two Natives who, while scouting, fired at two
men they came upon. These Cree did not have the approval of Poundmaker nor
were they acting on any plans the chief might have had. Instead, it appears they
were rather embarrassed by what had happened:

The Indians did not venture up to inspect the fallen man but came home the
shortest way, rather awed by their successful audacity. The event was not pa-
raded at all, owing, 1 believe to fear of the consequences when the accounting
should be made. After things had quietened down, the man who did the killing
ran off across the Line, dxsbehevmg that the white man would call this killing
different from ordinary murder.”

Jefferson was also present when Riel’s emissaries asked Poundmaker to help
the Métis of Batoche, who were anticipating defeat should the Natives not assist
them. Though Poundmaker listened politely, he took no action. He heard of the
plan to cut off the railway lines, to attack the NWMP, and to move towards Prince
Albert taking all the posts along the way. This, Poundmaker was told, would be
accompanied by the rising of the Blackfoot led by Crowfoot to the south. Pound-
maker was unimpressed. He sharply gave instructions to his Natives to under-
take frequent scouting missions, to watch the roads and not waste ammunition.
On a number of occasions these Natives came under fire. One Cree and one Nez
Percé were killed by snipers. The threat to those who thought they were besieged
was indeed imagined. The Natives had as much to fear as the whites:

During the whole of the outbreak, there was no organised attempt at besieging
the barracks; indeed there were not enough Indians to do it. Such men as thought
fit prowled round the town at night, but at a safe distance. In the daytime when
they would appear on the hills on the south side of the river, they were saluted
with bullets from watchers on the other side and at night they were too few to do
any harm. Great consternation prevailed in the white camp but it arose altogether
from the preconceived idea of Indian warfare and the barbarities that accompa-
nied it. The Indians were not sufficiently worked up to attempt offensive meas-
ures, especially against a force as great if not greater than their own. They did not
expect to have any fighting of any account to do: Riel and his Halfbreeds had un-
dertaken that part of the busmess — theirs but to create a diversion. Just as little
did they anticipate an attack.”

But an attack is what they got as they camped at Cut Knife Hill. From Jeffer-
son’s perspective, the Cree were vulnerable. They were fortunate to have had
some warning of Otter’s attack. Jefferson thought that Otter might have over-
whelmed Poundmaker in spite of the warning had he pushed his first initiative
further. As it was, the Cree, Stonies and two Nez Percé were able to occupy the
strategic positions around the hill and stall Otter’s column. As the battle wore on
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The daughters of P.G. Laurie, publisher of the Saskatchewan Herald. Both were in the stockaded fort during
the fighting. Effie Storer wrote a book-length manuscript about her life, with one chapter describing her life at
the fort during the “siege” (Fort Battleford NHP Library).



Hayter Reed, 1894 (Notman Photographic Archives, no. 106454-Bll, McCord Museum of McGill
University, Montreal).

Hayter Reed was an Indian Agent in the Battleford area from 1881-1884. He was made Assistant Indian
Commissioner in 1884 and was Commissioner of Indian Affairs from 1893-1897. He was also an appointed
member of the North-West Territorial Council. Reed was known to the Cree, Saulteaux and Assiniboine of the
Battleford area as “Iron Heart.” Read advocated that the pass system remain in effect after 1885 and also
advocated extremely repressive measures be implemented in the aftermath of 1885, even though very few
Battleford reserve residents participated in the fighting. He demanded strict adherence to the rules, refusing to
entertain evidence of starvation on the reserves. He called the First Nations People of the Battleford area “the
scum of the plains.”



P.G. Laurie (Fort Battleford NHP Library).

Patrick Gammie Laurie was anxious to attract white settlers to the Battleford area and asked that the strictest
punishment be meted out to the local Cree to ensure that the West would be safe for the kind of settlers he
wanted to encourage. Laurie promoted the settlement of white, Protestant, English-speaking people and held the
local Cree in disdain.
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Robert Jefferson (Fort Battleford NHP Library).

Robert Jefferson, the farm instructor on the Poundmaker Reserve, was an important eyewitness to Cree actions
during the events of 1885. He documented the reluctance of the Cree to participate in the fighting. In spite of his
evidence, the Cree leadership was removed by imprisonment while eight others were hanged. Jefferson, who was
liked by the Cree, did not feel threatened by them; the Cree did kill a number of farm instructors who mistreated
them.



Colonel William M. Herchmer, NWMP, reclining in chair, Battleford, 1885, photo by Lieutenant
Wadmore of the Infantry School Corps (Glenbow Archives, NA-1353-18).

Superintendent William Herchmer was commanding officer at Battleford during the crucial years 1880-84 at
which time the main purpose of the police was keeping the Cree in the Battleford area under surveillance and
control. The sketch here depicts him as a Victorian gentleman enjoying his leisure time. It was a matter of great
prestige to be a member of the force and some men gave up professional jobs to enlist, even though the pay and
working conditions were poor.



Inspector James Walker, 1876-80 (Fort Battleford NHP Library).

James Walker was the first commanding officer at Battleford. He oversaw the building of the fort in 1876 and in
the same year he assisted Commissioner Alexander Morris at the signing of Treaty 6 at Forts Pitt and Carlton.
Like other policemen from eastern Canada, he settled in the West following his service. Walker was involved in
ranching and established a successful sawmill and lumber company in Calgary. He became the first civilian
justice in the North-West Territories.



General Frederick D. Middleton (National Archives of Canada, PA-12197).

Sir Frederick Middleton in 1886 in the full dress uniform of a major general of the British Army. He is wearing
the insignia of the Order of Saint Michael and Saint George, with the Order of Bath and the Knighthood he was
awarded for his services during 1885 in the Canadian North-West, as well as campaign medals for New
Zealand, the Great Mutiny in India, and the newly issued North-West Canada medal. After the fall of Batoche,
Middleton moved to Battleford, which was his base for the pursuit of Big Bear.



W.D. Otter (National Archives of Canada, C-14533).

Colonel William Otter was one of the only Canadian officers serving under Major General Middleton (who
preferred British officers). Otter advanced against Poundmaker's Cree contrary to the wishes of Middleton. His
column of 358 men was soundly defeated in the battle and he was fortunate the Cree did not pursue him or he
would have suffered heawy losses.
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David Laird (Manitoba Archives, N10451).

David Laird was appointed Lieutenant Governor of the North-West Territories in 1876. He served as Minister
of the Interior from 1873-76 and was a Treaty Commissioner for Treaty 7. The First Nations of Treaty 7 claimed
shortly after they negotiated the treaty that Laird did not include all of their demands in the written treaty. They
also charged that he had no intention of living up to the promises made to them.
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BETWEEN JUSTICE AND MERCY.

Cartoon of the indecision of Prime Minister Macdonald concerning Riel’s fate, 31 October 1885, by
J.W. Bengough (Glenbow Archives, NA-3012-13).



Cartoon after Riel’s death, 21 November 1885, by ].W. Bengough (Glenbow Archives, NA-3012-15).
Captioned: “Sir John - Well, madam, Riel is gone; I hope you are quite satisfied. ustice - Not quite; you
have hanged the EFFECT of the Rebellion; now I want to find and punish the CAUSE.”



EN ROUTE

[ With Apologies to the Artist of the War News,

Cartoon depicting load of public debt of Dominion of Canada, 4 July 1885, by J.W. Bengough
(Glenbow Archives, NA-3012-6).



A comparison of Indian policies of the United States and Canada, by Henri Julien, 22 July 1876
(Glenbew Archives, NA-1406-165).

Canadians have always congratulated themselves on having a more humane policy than that of the Americans
and certainly they did not hunt down the tribes that did not move onto reserves, But less honourable was the
failure to live up to the promises so solemnly made at the treaty negotiations,



in this territory familiar to them, they almost succeeded in encircling Otter’s men.
The field force retreated in time to avoid this. There might have been a huge dis-
aster, even a massacre, had these tired soldiers in retreat been followed as they
withdrew. Some Natives were anxious to pursue them but,

There was no pursuit. A number of Indians had mounted and were about to start
after the retreating soldiers, but Poundmaker would not permit it. He said that to
defend themselves and their wives and children was good, but that he did not
approve of taking the offensive. They had beaten their enemy off; let that content
them. So there was no pursuit. Poundmaker had no hope of the Rebellion
succeeding. 7

The Natives had been severely frightened by the attack and they moved their
camp frequently in the intervening days, constantly on the alert. They asked Jef-
ferson what they might expect when all the fighting was over, as they were afraid
they would all be massacred. But Jefferson tried to reassure them that this would
not happen:

I said that those who had committed the murders would be hanged and the
heads of the movement put in prison, but that the mass of the people would be
sent back on to their Reserves and things go on as before.”?

This was indeed to be the case.

Jefferson was then sent by Poundmaker to Middleton to find out how peace
could be restored. Middleton demanded an unconditional surrender. The Na-
tives’ response was cautious as this answer did not state how they would be
treated. From recent experience they had found they could not trust the whites.
Eventually they came to realize there was no choice and reluctantly they rode to
Battleford. Middleton and Poundmaker met:

Poundmaker rose and came forward to accost the General, holding out his hand
but Middleton waved aside the proffered salute saying that he did not shake
hands with rebels. The Indian gathered his blanket around him and resumed his
seat, while Middleton proceeded to reprimand him for taking up arms and mur-
dering innocent settlers. The chief replied that he had murdered nobody; that he
had defended himself when attacked, which he thought he was entitled to do;
but they now came to give themselves up; the General had them in his hands and
could work his will on them. All that the Indians asked was that the women and
children might go unharmed. When the chief got through, the two Stoney mur-
derers came forward one by one and confessed their guilt, making some sort of
excuses for themselves. The General ordered these into custody, along7 with
Poundmaker and a few others and told the rest to go back to their Reserves.

On the reserves their movements were restricted; they could not leave without
passes issued by the government. The Cree had lost almost everything, but the
department responsible did little to alleviate their situation. Without horses and
wagons and restricted by the pass system, they were unable to sell wood in town,
which they had done for so many years. Treaty money was also suspended for a
number of years. The Indian Department took the view that the Natives had
broken the treaty and would have to pay a heavy price for this defiance.

A Necessary Revision

In an article by John Tobias, “Canada’s Subjugation of the Plains Cree,” a case
is made for a systematic policy engineered by Lieutenant Governor Dewdney to
control the Cree. Tobias traces the determined refusal by Dewdney and the
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Department of Indian Affairs to deal with the Natives openly and equally as sig-
natories of the treaties. Instead, they aimed to undermine the agreements and
Cree leaders whenever possible. In their weakened position, the Natives would
not pose a threat to settlement and could no longer agitate from a strong position
for government fulfillment of its treaty obligations. Tobias also suggests that
Dewdney saw the events of 1885 as an opportunity to take action against the
Cree. Dewdney chose to interpret the acts of the Natives as rebellion despite
strong evidence to the contrary. It was Dewdney, not Middleton, who was most
anxious that Otter march against the Cree encamped at Cut Knife Hill:

The Cree acts of violence in March 1885 were the excuse Dewdney needed to jus-
tify the use of troops against them. He maintained that Battleford, Fort Pitt, and
Duck Lake Cree were part of the Riel Rebellion. Privately, Dewdney reported to
Ottawa that he saw the events at Battleford and Frog Lake as the acts of a desper-
ate, starving people and unrelated to what the Metis were doing. In fact, Dewd-
ney had sought in late March to open negotiations with the Battleford Cree, but
Rae refused to meet the Cree leaders.™

Dewdney was now able to neutralize the strongest of the Cree leaders. Red
Pheasant and Little Pine had died during the spring of 1885, Piapot had been in-
timidated into remaining on his reserve, and the two most powerful remaining
leaders of the Cree were in prison. In this weakened state, the Cree were no
longer a threat. Dewdney would have had the unwavering support of Laurie for
his action:

Dewdney had deprived the Cree of their principal leaders and of their autonomy.
He used the military to disarm and impoverish the Cree by confiscating their
horses and carts; he increased the size of the Mounted Police force, and used the
police to arrest Cree leaders who protested against his policies; he broke up Cree
bands, deposed Cree leaders, and forbade any Indian to be off his reserve with-
out permission from the Indian Agent.”

The traditional view that the Métis and Cree were acting together must be re-
considered. Those historians who put forward this view have relied too heavily
on government sources and explanations. They chose to use those reminiscences
that supported their view and rejected the ones that did not. There is no doubt
that facts arranged in a certain way support the belief that the Natives were on
the warpath. Special sympathy must be extended to those who felt besieged
within the stockade. With only a few exceptions, the killings perpetrated by the
Cree were selective. Their targets were those they felt had done them injustice.
The example of Robert Jefferson is interesting in this regard. While other farm in-
structors who withheld supplies from the Natives were shot, Jefferson, who dealt
more equitably with the Cree, was spared.
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Years of Waiting: 1885-1897

We planted potatoes, cut fence poles, put up hay and kept bothering the Instruc-
tor for food. Then wheat and barley was given to us to sow. The potatoes and
wheat froze the first time. Then the potatoes were taken to the Instructor’s cellar
for winter.

Fine Day

Controlling the Natives

According to the standard histories, little appears to have changed in the Fort
Battleford area after the conflict of 1885. One official police history mentioned
that in 1886 “tranquility had prevailed on all Native lands throughout the sum-
mer, although about 60 Indians left Poundmaker’s reserve and moved to the vi-
cinity of Lake Manitou, some distance to the west.”' There was no doubt that the
police in their military capacity were in control, but beneath this official calm
there were concerns about the Natives, and there was a definite move towards as-
serting new control over them. A redistribution of the forces in the West showed
that the police still feared potential violence from the Native population. Division
“C” was sent to Battleford in 1885 to bolster the strength of the fort already occu-
pied by Division “K”. There was strict surveillance of the Cree, though on record
the police were careful not to convey any indication that they could not handle
the situation; such an impression would, it was thought, damage settlement po-
tential. There were specific measures taken to prevent the development of any
circumstances that might erupt into violence. What was especially significant was
the increased assistance of the police for those working with government pro-
grams. Their presence was a constant reminder to the Natives that they were
there to ensure the success of the government’s Native policy:

Every month, sometimes under most trying and severe weather conditions, pa-
trols visited the surrounding Indian reserves, making careful enquiries as to the
general state of the Indians, the nature of their employment, and manifesting to
them that they were under the continual watchfulness of the Force. Every possi-
ble assistance was given to the Indian Department in this respect, including the
establishment of an outpost at Onion Lake 12 miles north-west of Fort Pitt, and
another at the settlement of Bresaylor between the Saskatchewan and Battle Riv-
ers, about 24 miles west of Battleford.?

Concern for the problems of the plains tribes was evident in the correspon-
dence and reports of the NWMP and government officials up to the mid-1880s.
Even if some of the government programs were poorly conceived and informed
by an ideology that portrayed the Aboriginal as inferior, there was nevertheless a
discernible note of solicitude in the handling of “Indian Affairs” by most govern-
ment agents. This changed after 1885. By that time, much of the good will that
had been built up, especially by the NWMP with the Native populations on the
plains, was spent. Added to this was the fact that much of the vocal Aboriginal
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leadership was gone. Policies that lay dormant or unenforced while Aboriginal
leaders protested could now be raised again by government officials to allow
them to work more forcefully to remove the “Indian problem.” The industrial
schools for Native children were used to “aggressively assimilate” the Natives,
and the implementation and enforcement of policies related to reserve life and
certain provisions of the Indian Act kept their movement and activity under strict
control. Even the agricultural policies the Natives had asked for were not devel-
oped in a manner compatible with their culture. When Natives asked for changes
they were not listened to.

These policies and their enforcement were issues that were increasingly the
cause of conflict. The Mounties, now more often than before, had to enforce laws
and regulations that were unpopular among the Native population. Along with
the politicians administering the policies, the NWMP were less concerned about
protecting and assisting the Natives, and seemed to grow more insensitive to
their circumstances.

To date, scholars have assumed that the problems of Native administration
vanished after the treaties put, them on reserves. Much remains to be written
about the late 1880s and 1890s.> Indeed, the era of 1885-1914 may be a most re-
vealing one for the history of the Canadian Native. Originally the colonizers of
the Canadian West envisioned an evolution of Native policy from protection of
the Native population, to “civilization” and ultimately to assimilation. Unfortu-
nately, and somewhat paradoxically, the aims and practices were not synchro-
nized and often could not be reconcxled What happened worked against the
ideals that lay behind this policy.*

The government, hoping to “civilize” Canadian Natives, decided to ban vari-
ous forms of Native cultural celebration, including the Potlatch, Sun Dance and
similar ceremonies. Legislators believed these practices encouraged pagan beliefs
that were incompatible with the civilizing process, as well as being contrary to in-
dividual initiative and to the value of private property that Euro-Canadians were
so actively promoting. To make agriculturalists out of the Natives was the ulti-
mate aim, and many of the regulations of the 1876 Indian Act reflected this. But
government officials also wanted to control them. They were prohibited from
travelling to sell their produce, discouraged from hunting and fishing by game
laws enacted throughout the West, and restricted by pass laws that prevented
their free movement. Furthermore, Aboriginal children were encouraged to for-
sake their parents” way of life. Though these regulations and programs were be-
gun before 1885, they were accelerated afterwards to speed up the process of
civilization.

Thus, while economic change received lip service, the government also pro-
moted cultural changes that were to be implemented in Native communities. One
of these was the introduction of industrial schools in the mid-1880s. As the result
of an 1879 report prepared by Nicholas Flood Davin, MP for Assiniboia West,
three industrial schools were established in 1883. The Natives in the numbered
treaties had asked for schools, and a number of day schools connected to mis-
sions had been set up. The industrial schools recommended in Davin’s report
represented a new initiative called “aggressive civilization.” The report was com-
prehensive, including not only aspects of education but land subdivision, cultural
issues and assimilation as well.
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The industrial schools were to be administered by the churches. Children were
to be separated from their parents. The philosophy behind the program was
based on the 1869 American model outlined in the preamble of the report. Davin
cited American examples where the program had been considered successful.
Some Natives were apparently more suited for education because they had
physical similarities to Europeans. Such was the case for the Cherokees, Chicka-
saws, Choctaws, Creeks and Seminoles.” There were also examples of Natives
who were, in Davin’s estimation, as yet “undeveloped”:

The Indian character, about which some persons find such a mystery, is not difficult
to understand. The Indian is sometimes spoken of as a child, but he is very far from
being a child. The race is in its childhood... The Indian is a man with traditions of
his own, which make civilization a puzzle of despair. He has the suspicion, distrust,
fault-finding tendency, the insincerity and flattery, produced in all subject races. He
is crafty, but conscious how weak his craft is when opposed to the superior cunning
of the white man. Not to speak of him — even some of the half-breeds of high intel-
ligence are incapable of embracing the idea of a nation — of a national type of man
— in which it should be their ambition to be merged and lost. Yet he realizes he
must disappear, and realizing this, and unable to associate himself with the larger
and nobler idea, the motive power which inspired a Pontiac and a Tecumseh, is
absent. The Indian’s stolidity is in part assumed, in part a stupor produced by exter-
nal novel and distasteful conditions, and in both respects has been manifested in
white races at periods of helplessness and ignorance, of subjection to, and daily con-
tact with, the power and superior skill and refinement of more advanced races, or
even more advanced branches of the same race.®

In Davin’s eyes, hope for the Natives of the future was with their children.
Since the influence of the chief was so strong on the reserve, Davin suggested that
education in white settlements away from their parents and the chief be made
available to Native children. He then listed thirteen recommendations. In one of
these items, Davin included not only the positive elements of the program, but
also what was to be criticized and exorcized from Aboriginal culture:

The importance of denominational schools at the outset for the Indians must be
obvious. One of the earliest things an attempt to civilize them does, is to take
away their simple Indian mythology, the central idea of which, to wit, a perfect
spirit, can hardly be improved on. The Indians have their own ideas of right and
wrong, of “good” Indians and “bad” Indians, and to disturb this faith, without
supplying a better, would be a curious process to enlist the sanction of civilized
races whose whole civilization, like all civilizations with which we are ac-
quainted, is based on religion. A civilized sceptic, breathing, though he does, an
atmosphere charged with Christian ideas, and getting strength unconsciously
therefrom, is nevertheless, unless in instances of rare intellectual vigour, apt to be
a man without ethical backbone. But a savage sceptic would be open to civilizing
influences and moral contro} only through desires, which, in the mldst of enlight-
enment, constantly break out into the worst features of barbarism.”

The ultimate goal of Davin’s report was to establish three industrial schools in
western Canada. This area had the greatest urgency since it was to be settled by
immigrants from eastern Canada, Europe and the United States. The education of
Aboriginal children would specifically attempt to achieve the broader moral
philosophy as delineated by Davin:

in addition to the elements of an English education, the boys are instructed in
cattle-raising and agriculture, the girls in sewing, bread making, and other
employments suitable for a farmer’s wife. In the case of the boys, agriculture is
principally aimed at cattleraising requiring but few hands®
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The attempt to civilize and assimilate Natives by concentrating on educating
their children ended in failure. This policy had been another attempt to destroy
their tribal system and replace it with one based on individual initiative and pri-
vate property. There were great fears among Native parents over what was hap-
pening to their children in the schools, especially when epidemics swept through
and claimed many young lives. Eventually, as with other government programs
that professed to assist the Native population, industrial schools were viewed by
the Natives as a destructive force. The parents grew suspicious of them and
agitated to have them discontinued. Eventually they disappeared:

The government reports demonstrate most emphatically that the Cree did not
want to have their children apprenticed in “civilization.” Indian parents com-
plained that although they may have wanted their children to learn to read and
write, they did not want them to work as cheap or forced labour for the school
administrators under the guise of “instruction in trades.” Cree men probably con-
sidered instruction in or employment at year-round, individual, free-enterprise
farming as tedious, womanish, and selfish — even though they did seem to enjoy
those aspects of industrial-school training which were not too much at variance
with traditional Indian patterns of life, such as plentiful housework for girls, and
musical instruments and fancy uniforms for boys in the brass band.’

What happened after 1885 was to speed up the process of “civilization,” with
emphasis on “educating” Native children. The events of 1885 were a watershed that
brought more all-encompassing and stringent regulations. Had the government
been able to find fault with the policies that had produced such disastrous results in
agriculture or realized that the Cree around Battleford were not involved with Riel
and the Métis, it might have been able to pursue new directions in working with the
Natives to solve problems on the frontier. In this regard it could have followed the
advice of the concerned farm instructors and listened to the Natives themselves,
who had already shown a willingness to move to an economic livelihood more
accommodating to the European settlers, but instead the government seemed intent
on continuing to attack and undermine Native culture and organization, encourag-
ing the disintegration of tribal and band life rather than concentrating on agricul-
tural development. While the government’s motives were allegedly economic
revitalization, the preferred result appeared to be the hope that a whole way of life
would simply disappear as an obstacle to settlement. The economic basis of Native
society was to be agriculture, but as with other programs proposed by government,
the main goal was undermined by other actions.

What was particularly difficult and discouraging for the Natives, especially of
the Battleford area, was that they knew what their Indian agent was like. In 1881,
Hayter Reed, then working as a land guide, took the job of agent for the Battleford
area. He soon developed a reputation as an inflexible and authoritarian man. He ac-
cepted his new job with distasteful zeal. He had at one time described the Natives
as “the scum of the plains,” and his “vision” of their future in the West was myopic
and without sympathy for their point of view. Reed had little aptitude for the job
and the skills he brought to the position “were those of a military man — of the drill
instructor and the officer; he was a man accustomed to giving commands and
having them obeyed without question.”’’ He was without qualities of tolerance and
compromise, had no patience for those who questioned the system, and would not
listen to any alternatives to rules he laid down. Reed even went so far as to prohibit
Natives from presenting their views at the annual treaty payment, which
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previously had been the custom."” Even some of the local farm instructors were
critical of his rigid attitude and the consequences of his dogmatism. His own posi-
tion was paternalistic in the extreme. As he wrote:

As well might the Christian or civilized parent allow his children to follow
uncurbed the dictates of their blind promptings of their own unregenerate
human nature and grow up outcasts of society, as leave an ignorant savage to
determine his own course for himself.'2

Reed was of the opinion that Native poverty on the reserves was not the re-
sult of broken treaty promises or shortages of supplies, implements and oxen. He
was convinced that the Natives’ problems grew out of their propensity to avoid
work at all costs. Reed’s severe program and inflexible beliefs earned him the
nickname “Iron Heart” from those forced to work for him.

It was unfortunate that by the mid-1880s conditions were ripe for a man like
Reed to assume his position and disseminate with impunity the beliefs he held.
There were few to criticize the manner in which he exercised power. Certainly Lieu-
tenant Governor Dewdney and others approved of his actions, though they might
have found fault with the exuberance and zeal he used to pursue his goals. They
may even have been pleased that someone other than themselves would take the
approach that Reed was taking. What was most unfortunate was that Reed had
such influence. For the Natives, he was in the wrong place at the wrong time:

Reed advocated extremely repressive measures in the aftermath of 1885. His
memorandum relative to the future management of the Indians ... revealed a
wrathful, vengeful anger and Dewdney found parts of it intemperate. The memo
nonetheless defined the basic lines along which Reed would guide Indian policy
as he acquired power and influence in the late 1880s and the 1890s. Certain meas-
ures that were presented in 1885 as pumhve temporary, and for selected bands
only became permanent and universal.’®

Reed’s approach did not go without criticism. Malcolm Colin Cameron, MP for
Huron West, launched a scathing attack on the government for its Native policy.
Besides problems of corrupt administration, he claimed that the government’s
commitments with the Natives had been “shamefully, openly, persistently and
systematically broken by this Government.”* Unfortunately, Cameron was an
opposition backbencher and his criticism was categorically denied; indeed, the
government took great pains to counter his claims. In this atmosphere there was
little chance for anyone to entertain alternative solutions and methods for prob-
lems on the western Canadian reserves. The Battleford newspaperman, P.G.
Laurie, would have agreed with the stringent measures advocated and imple-
mented by Hayter Reed. Though he may not have had any impact on the actual
definition of the policies and their enforcement, he was certain not to criticize
them. If Laurie can be seen as a spokesman for the attitude of the local white
community, it is fair to assume that it mattered little to him what happened to the
Natives after 1885. Laurie’s editorials were clear and vengeful. Punishment, not
education in agricultural practices, became his remedy.

Laurie’s attitude toward the defeated Cree and Métis was harsh and vindictive.
The winter of 1885 had been a hard one and even Laurie admitted before the out-
break of violence that provisions for the Natives had been inadequate. Many Cree
had not survived the winter because of lack of food and poor shelter, and some
were barely able to subsist on what they had. Though it appears that punishment of
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the “rebels” was the sentiment of the majority of the population in the territories,
Laurie became excessively vengeful, especially when compared to the more bal-
anced analysis of Nicholas Flood Davin, now editor of the Regina Leader. Davin, like
Laurie, favoured the hanging of Riel and spoke out against French Canadians who
demanded amnesty:

That he had some French blood in his veins [Davin asked]. Is this an excuse? Has
it come to this in Canada that any criminal has only to prove himself French and
tables of law are to be broken at the bidding of thoughtlessness and justice to be
flung prone on the street? But what have the French Canadians to do with Riel
any more than the Irish or the Swedes? One should think it is the half-breeds and
the whites in the North-West who are most concerned. Do we hear the half-
breeds discontented with his sentence? No indeed, they understand Louis Riel
too well.'®

But though he agreed with Laurie on the sentence for Riel, Davin’s condem-
nation was less severe. They also disagreed over the punishment to be handed
out to the other “rebels.” For example, their reactions to the early release of
Poundmaker differed considerably. Davin, an admirer of Poundmaker — “The .
Great Chief” — was pleased that he was released early from prison for good con-
duct, while Laurie denounced it as unjustifiable because of the suffering Pound-
maker had wrought. Laurie also sarcastically commented on Big Bear's
sentencing even though his guilt in the rebellion was at least questionable: “Big
Bear was found guilty with a recommendation for mercy. He gets three years
board at Stony Mountain, unless his admirers can induce the government in the
meantime to transfer him to a first class hotel in Winnipeg.”™

Laurie’s uncompromising position towards the “rebels” must be understood
in relation to the events of the rebellion at Fort Battleford while it was “besieged”
by the Natives. His greatest concern still was to woo settlers to Battleford, while
Davin, a resident of the capital, was less concerned with the consequences of leni-
ency towards the Natives. Davin wanted Riel executed for two reasons: as a west-
ern lawyer, he did not want to see a western decision overturned by an eastern
court; as a Conservative, he was bound to stand up for and defend the Conserva-
tive cause. Laurie, closer to the fighting during the rebellion, had more practical,
existential reasons for demanding stiff sentencing. Justice had to be done for the
protection of the residents and to ensure that settlement could resume. In the Bat-
tleford area the measures imposed by Reed on the Native population would be
fully and officially sanctioned.

Monitoring Measures

Agriculture as an alternative economic base for Aboriginal society was not
only suggested by a government anxious to sign treaties with the Natives, but
was a means of survival that the Natives were eager and willing to adopt. Agri-
culture as practiced by the Europeans was an integral part of their way of life,
one which they wanted the Natives to adopt. Prior to settlement and the treaties,
there was also pressure from Christian missionaries urging the Natives to take up
sedentary farming practices. It was seen as one way to stop the Natives from
searching for food and “roaming” — which made it difficult for the missionaries
to know their whereabouts — and it was also hoped that a more sedentary exist-
ence would give them a better appreciation for private property. This in turn
would promote economic individualism, thrift, industry and punctuality. The
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missionaries supported policies based on these ideas and were anxious to intro-
duce measures to speed up the advancement of civilization, especially if it meant
reaching the assimilation phase.

The Department of Indian Affairs had not embarked upon any major initia-
tives since the doomed model farm experiment of 1879, but after 1885 programs
under the direction of Hayter Reed were introduced to control the distribution of
produce, not to improve the farming practices of the Natives. The general goal
was to undermine and destroy the Natives’ band and tribal systems. This was
achieved by discouraging their religious, educational and traditional social activi-
ties, dismantling communal ceremonies like the Sun Dance, disposing of the Abo-
riginal leaders, and making the people take separate farm lands.

What changed in particular was the introduction of rigid supervision of all
Native movement. In response to fears that another uprising might occur, the
number of agencies and personnel was increased in order to supervise the so-
called agricultural projects. The pass system was introduced to keep the Natives
on their reserves during seasons when agricultural activity was highest. In fact, it
managed to control all Natives whether they were agriculturalists or not. They
were not allowed off the reserves without a pass signed by their Indian agent,
which had to state the reason for their departure and length of absence.

Complementing the pass system was the enforcement of a permit system, in-
cluded in the Indian Act of 1876, for selling agricultural produce on reserves. It
forbade Natives to sell, barter, exchange or give away their crops or livestock
without first having secured a permit from their agent. As demonstrated among
the Dakota on the Oak River Reserve, the system discouraged their profit motive
in agriculture.”” Instead of being able to sell their own produce and be directly re-
warded for their labours, they were obliged to obtain a permit for selling pur-
poses. And when their goods were sold, the money was not paid directly to the
producer, but rather to the Indian Department. Again, the government’s desire to
establish a sense of private initiative among the Dakota was sabotaged by its own
contradictory policy. Any debt owed by the Dakota selling the produce was set-
tled immediately by the Indian agent without consulting the seller, with the re-
mainder then given to the Natives. Therefore, they could not take out loans to
obtain machinery or expand operations by this system. Buyers who broke these
regulations were subject to fines, so bypassing the system was impossible. There
were many complaints and signed petitions from Dakota protesting these sys-
tems of control, but all were to no avail. Increasingly, the Dakota saw little reason
to farm their own land due to these frustrating restrictions. It eventually became
less bothersome and more profitable not to farm, but rather to lease the land to
others; then the income from these leases went directly to the Dakota.

By the late 1880s, the government initiated yet another policy to break the
tribal traditions of the Natives and to further direct them into the concept of indi-
vidual initiative. This was the policy of allotting lands on reserves in severalty. It
was designed to give each family forty acres and provide it with certain rights for
that specific piece of land. It was hoped this would break up the practice of
working the land communally and sharing the profits collectively, as well as
facilitating assimilation between the races and eventually allowing intermingling
through settlement of Natives and whites side-by-side. By the 1900s, this policy
of severalty began to achieve its goals as subdivision surveys of the land resulted
in the surrender of reserve property.
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The peasant farm policy of the 1880s and 1890s had important effects on Native
agriculture as well. It was based on the belief that the Native would not need to be
involved in agriculture beyond a subsistence level for himself and his family. Two
acres was considered enough to supply all the food that one family would need
each year. No provision was made for those who wanted to be involved in the mar-
ket economy, even though that was precisely what the Natives desired in the early
years. Instead, the Department of Indian Affairs insisted that the Natives work with
the most labour-intensive tools: the cradle, sickle, flail, hoe and rake. The depart-
ment seemed more concerned with keeping the Natives under control than with as-
sisting them fully to develop their skills as agriculturalists. It is clear from the most
recent research and evidence contained in primary documents that the Natives
were anxious to work for inclusion in the market economy. Those early successes in
agriculture unfortunately were left unnurtured, as most government policies
seemed to exist to snuff out Aboriginal participation in the western Canadian
“Eden.” Indeed, as the acres broken in the period up to 1896 shows, there was de-
cline rather than progress in the Battleford agency.

Government Policy

Among the more well-known complaints against government policy of the
time towards the Natives was a speech made in the House of Commons in 1885
by Malcolm Colin Cameron. It took the form of a comprehensive attack on the
past practices of the Indian Department and it apparently hit a nerve for, in 1886,
the government published a response entitled, “The Facts Respecting Indian Ad-
ministration in the North-West.””® Cameron began his critique by referring to
those who felt the Natives had no reason for rebelling against the government.
He claimed that no statement “could be more at variance with the report of the
Department of Indian Affairs.””’ He alleged treaty promises were broken, dishon-
esty and corruption existed, and that those men who were unfit and unsuitable to
work with Natives were given precisely such positions. Of Commissioner
Dewdney, Cameron said, “He has been charged, and correctly charged, with be-
ing domineering, arrogant, tyrannical, unfair, untruthful in his dealings with the
Natives.”” Cameron quoted local papers in support of his contention. One of
these excerpts was from Lawrence Clarke, a member of the North-West Council:

Brutal ruffians were appointed as farm instructors over the Indians, who mal-
treated the poor people in the most brutal manner, answering them with kicks
and blows, accompanied by showers of profanity and disgusting epithets; of the
farm instructors killed by the Indians two were universally known to be brutal
wretches such as I have mentioned, and the priests lost their lives in attempting
to save them from the pent-up wrath of the savages.21

According to clergymen who had lived in the North-West, the problem was with
the officials in charge of Aboriginal farming:

At the Presbytery meeting at Brandon, Manitoba, Rev. Mr. Cameron, who spent
many years among the Indians about Battleford, contended that Indian uprising
was in great measure due to the character of the instructors and agents appointed
by the Government. If the Government officials had been the right kind of men
the uprising would never have taken place. In many cases their treatment of the
Indians was calculated to have the most injurious effect — some of them treating
the Indians like dogs — never 2szpeaking to them without an oath, and paying no
regard whatever to their word.
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Among specific complaints presented by Cameron were unfulfilled treaty prom-
ises. One of these was from Poundmaker: “We entreat Your Honor to send him
the grist mill with the horse—power you kindly presented him at Cypress We ex-
pected it last summer, but in vain.”? The litany of incompetence in the North-
West was so pronounced that the process of distribution had become chaotic: “In

other words, our agents in the North-West, in charge of the Indian Department
were so indolent, so lazy, so indifferent and so careless that they dehvered to
some bands of Indians far more of one class of tool than they required.”?

Seeds and rations were sometimes sent in a half-rotten state. Instead of fresh
meat, rancid meat was frequently supplied. Cameron blamed the continued sick-
ness among the Natives on this supply of poor food: “In other words we fed the
Indians on salt pork until they became sick unto death, and then we fed them on
fresh beef to restore them to health again.”” From Battleford, Poundmaker re-
ported that “{t]he flour was inferior and of light weight.””

The response from the government attempted to answer comprehensively
each of the accusations levelled by Cameron. It countered every charge of corrup-
tion and mismanagement with its own statements to the contrary, citing local
newspapers, settlers and Indian agents. It then attacked Cameron’s motives and
suggested he was attempting to incite the Natives to further fighting. There was
absolutely no admission of any complicity on the government’s part.

Changing Attitudes of the NWMP and the Canadian Government

Why did the unique and relatively harmonious relationship between the
NWMP and the Natives change around 1885? The NWMP’s earliest dealings with
the Natives had been tolerable.” By eradicating the whiskey traders such as those
involved in the Cypress Hills Massacre, the police had been able to show the Na-
tives they would protect them. They were helpful in establishing the government
in the territory and assisting with the making of the treaties. They were also sen-
sitive to the problems on the reserves in the early years as they tried to protect the
Natives from dishonest traders and known offenders. The police acted as protec-
tors, not persecutors. This was true of the rank and file as well as the officers. Un-
der Colonel Macleod’s tutelage (1876-80), “[t]he Indians were given time to
understand white laws ... his enlightened and humane outlook was in sharp con-
trast to the police and Indian officials” attitudes of insufferable superiority which
began to surface after the 1885 Rebellion.””

This tradition of fair dealing and tolerance for Native culture was significant
for the police, especially since their beliefs and lifestyle were so different from
that of the Natives. Though paternalistic, the police showed admiration for the
Natives” hunting and survival skills and the way they could live off the land. The
NWMP were, in the tradition of the “Tory fragment,” to preserve class distinc-
tions yet respect differences:

The Police officers were determined that the Canadian plains would not have a
classless society such as that which they thought existed in the American West.
There were many disparaging remarks in their reports about the lack of
discipline and social order South of the border; they were determined that it
would be different in their jurisdiction.”

This Toryism viewed society as a growing organism with functionally related
parts that needed to be protected and nourished, not something having differences

97



to be removed. Such had been the American experience that the NWMP resisted,
but perhaps more importantly, the cultural baggage the police carried with them
onto the plains included preconceived images of the Natives without the experience
of living with them. Thus they were free from the negative stereotypes of Native
peoples that were common throughout the West: “The Police soon gained a reputa-
tion for incorruptibility, partly because they were totally removed from the influ-
ence of local prejudice and manipulation.”*

Slowly, this tolerance and understanding began to erode. As government poli-
cies failed, the Natives came into conflict with the law more frequently. The coming
of the railway and the early trickle of white settlers were harbingers of the signifi-
cant change that was to follow. During the era of contact up to 1890, with the excep-
tion of 1886 and the arrests made in connection with the resistance, the rate of
Native arrests for some years was as low as 3 percent and never higher than 32 per-
cent. The high arrests for Natives in 1879-80 occurred during the years of the worst
starvation on reserves.”' What did increase significantly were the arrests for whites.
Overall there were more arrests in the West as railway workers and settlers ran
afoul of the law and came into conflict with the Natives. The West became a terri-
tory of increased instability as the white population grew. These settlers and
workers also brought with them heightened anti-Native sentiments:

The sad fact is that Western Canada’s much lauded history of peaceful and enlight-
ened Indian relations did not rest on the tolerance and understanding of early set-
tlers... If it had not been for the influence of the Mounted Police it is hard to avoid
the conclusion that Indian wars would have broken out in the Canadian West 3

Reserve life changed both the Natives and the NWMP. Pressures grew on both
groups as government policies proved unsuccessful in providing a new economic
base for the Natives. Inevitably, as the Natives grew dissatisfied, they presented the
police with a potentially volatile situation, and hence the NWMP had to watch them
more closely. The police appeared on the reserves more often to arrest offenders. By
the mid-1880s the relationship between the Mounties and Nahves had changed:
“[tIhe Policeman was now someone more to fear than to welcome.”®

The Mounties” perception of the Natives changed as well. At first they still saw
some evidence of their image of the “noble savage.” Some Natives were still able
to live off the buffalo and carry on their life in nature, which was envied by those
romantics of Victorian society who had joined the force to see precisely this. The
free movement of the Native was something these men had heard about in boy-
hood stories but, when the Native lost his freedom as he went on the reserve,
there was a gradual loss of respect by the police for this once noble savage. Desti-
tute, starving Natives dependent on government assistance no longer fit the
image the Mounties had read about. It became harder for these Victorian police-
men to respect a people who had virtually become a welfare society:

No longer is there the breathless sense of adventure that is so striking in the first
reports and biographies of the early Police. Gone, too, is the tone of respect for a
proud warrior people. The Police after 1885, in most cases were still scrupulously
fair in their dealings with the Indians, but their early emphasis on understanding
began to be replaced by one of coercion.*

The NWMP treatment of the Natives thus became less respectful and more cal-
lous. Where their attitude had once been different from that of the government,
the two perspectives now became almost indistinguishable. The police gradually
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became little more than agents of ineffective government policy. This began with
harsher sentencing in the mid-1880s and escalated into a more frequent use of
force against the Natives toward the end of the century. While ranchers and po-
lice wanted contented, well-fed Natives, government policy resulted in dissatis-
fied, starving Natives whose movements were restricted as their grinding
poverty continued unalleviated. In an attempt to get them to work, the govern-
ment was keeping them in a state of starvation. By the use of the pass system, the
government had clearly shown a flagrant disregard for the liberty of the Native:

[the pass law} ... had no validity in law and ran directly counter to the promise
made to the Indians that they would still be free to roam the Plains. It came dan-
gerously close to a policy of apartheid.®

As 1885 approached, what had once been a relatively harmonious situation
had already shown signs of deterioration. The Natives, through the treaties,
thought they had negotiated government assistance for a new economic base, but
what resulted were greater restrictions in all facets of their life and in areas that
had no apparent relation to the agricultural society towards which they were
ready to work:

They were compelled by the Police to stay away from cattle ranges; they were
compelled by agents, through the threat of loss of their rations, to work at the oc-
cupation of farming for which both they and the land were not suited {sic}; they
were compelied to send their children to schools which they did not like; they
were compelled to remain on their reserves unless given a pass by the agent. This
was the price of harmony in the Canadian West.*

The Aboriginal participation in the events of 1885 was not solely responsible
for the severe deterioration of NWMP-Native relations; instead, government poli-
cies that were massive failures promoted distrust. What seems apparent, how-
ever, is that white authorities thought the Natives actually deserved tougher and
more callous treatment. The situation may not have been so bad had the Natives
been viewed as a force separate from Riel and the Métis, but leaders like Dewd-
ney were able to misrepresent the nature of Native participation in 1885. The rest
was history: “The golden era of harmony with the Indians was at an end.”” As
the police lost respect for the Natives, they were also no longer their protectors or
as sympathetic to the Native cause.

By the 1890s, government officials were convinced that Aboriginal behaviour
justified their policies. They believed the Natives’ cultural traditions were to
blame, and economic programs were of secondary concern to those determined
to change that culture. The agricultural policies were geared not to establishing a
vibrant economy on the reserve, but towards breaking up the collectivism of
tribal life and replacing it with individualism. The pass system effectively suc-
ceeded in making all Natives act according to restrictions usually reserved for the
undesirables of society or its criminals. Resistance to the pass laws was nearly im-
possible since the already starving Natives could be cut off from any rations at
all. Assimilation was the goal usually mentioned to justify policies, but what in
fact resulted was an accentuation of differences between white and Native. In the
eyes of older Natives, industrial schools had attempted to make their own chil-
dren despise the life and beliefs of their parents. Also, traditional Native author-
ity was further undermined by the humiliation of chiefs who were unable to
exercise authority over the more restless and dissatisfied young persons. Yet,
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there were many official complaints directed to Indian agents and government
officials who, heeding the warnings of Hayter Reed, remained unresponsive.

By the 1890s, there was little compassion from the Indian Department for the
plight of the plains Natives. White settlement was proceeding rapidly at exactly
the same time that the failures of the reserve system became most evident. The
irony of assimilation stood starkly against the new facts that were there for all in
the North-West to see:

The sad fact is that by the 1890s there was reason, certainly from the Police per-
spective, for enforcing a separation between races. By the 1890s the Indians had
the choice of capitulating to reservation life or of shirking agricultural duties and
living like scavengers off the reserve, finding occasional game and dead cattle, or
begging, stealing and killing cattle. The Indian off the reserve had become an
automatic threat to the settlers. The Indians in the towns often encountered the
worst element of white society and some appeared eager to pick up their habits.
Certainly the Indian Department, because of this, thought that its moral responsi-
bility to segregate Indians transcended treaty obligations.*®

The decade of the 1880s saw “the human rights of the Indians, as well as the
treaty promises, sacrificed in deference to the success of the National Policy.”*
Yet, from 1885-95, there was little violence from reserve Natives who had re-
signed themselves to the tragedy that had evolved. When that peace was broken,
the violence came with full force against the Natives rather than from them.

The Almighty Voice Incident

The deteriorating relations between the Natives, the government and the
NWMP culminated in an incident in 1897 that involved a Cree by the name of
Almighty Voice.

The incident began when Almighty Voice killed a cow, for Natives were not
allowed to sell or kill cattle without the permission of their agents. For this act, he
was arrested by the NWMP and held in jail at Duck Lake. He subsequently es-
caped when, as the story goes, he was told he would hang for the offense. Over
the next two years he killed five policemen as he tried to elude arrest. He had
vowed he would never give himself up and would rather die than fall into the
hands of the Mounties. Almighty Voice was pursued by 200 policemen who, hav-
ing located him, bombarded his hideout with 9-pound guns until he was killed.

There are a number of reports describing this incident contained in NWMP and
government records. Newspapers of the time reported the journalistic facts but,
as with other situations concerning Native history, the fuller portrait is not
widely known. Most of these histories focus primarily on the facts that begin with
the killing of the cow. Thus the apparent criminal act is the main point and the
aftermath justifies the actions of the police. In this sense the story is dramatic and
ends with the Mounties getting their man: a story of resolution. The story, how-
ever, becomes more realistic, if less dramatic, if it takes its starting point further
back in time. Then it is placed in perspective against the problems facing not only
Almighty Voice, but also many other Natives. What makes the incident stand out
is the way the police handled the situation. It also shows how the Natives’ behav-
iour toward the police had changed. They no longer had the same regard for the
NWMP and were much more willing to shoot in anger at these law enforcers.

Almighty Voice was unlucky from the start. He was the grandson of One
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Arrow, the Cree who had participated alongside Riel during the Battle of Batoche
on 9-12 May 1885. As a result of their alleged participation in the rebellion, One
Arrow and his band were seen by the police as troublemakers, to be watched
closely. Government officials and the NWMP were determined to make an exam-
ple of the Cree on One Arrow Reserve

The Indian agent responsible for the One Arrow Reserve was unsympathetic
toward these Natives and their claims that they fought with Riel because their
cattle had been taken and that without them they would have starved. As punish-
ment for their part in the rebellion, the government proposed that the Cree of
One Arrow’s band be moved and amalgamated with the Beardy Reserve. This
was rejected by the band, but the government, through Indian Agent Rae, persist-
ed in efforts to achieve this end. The Cree were enticed by promises that their
chief would be released from prison if they agreed to the move and that if they
did not comply, rations would be refused. Yet, even with these threats, the Cree
remained adamant in their refusal.

There were other tensions on the One Arrow Reserve. Rae was rumoured to
have been sleeping with a number of Native women, and in the early 1890s the
agents had been instructed not to distribute rations unless the Natives appeared
at the store in a clean state. There were also problems with the schools on the re-
serve and lack of attendance was a complaint of the local clergy. Cree on the One
Arrow Reserve were seen as troublemakers. It was against this backdrop that the
story of Almighty Voice must be understood. He was from a band which had
been labelled as dangerous by government agents. His acts and those of his pur-
suers should not be looked at in isolation.

On 22 October 1895, Almighty Voice and a companion, Flying Cloud, were ar-
rested for stealing a cow from a nearby settler and were imprisoned at Duck Lake.
A week later, Almighty Voice escaped from jail, because he was told that he would
be sentenced to death for his actions. While this may have been possible, it was
highly improbable. What is more likely is that Almighty Voice, like many Natives,
had a great fear of imprisonment, as it was a terrible punishment for a people who
knew no such banishment. It was also a place associated with death and disease.

The NWMP immediately began their pursuit of the escaped Native. He was
considered dangerous by the police and it was known he was likely to resist untit
killed. Almighty Voice was followed to the One Arrow Reserve by Sergeant Cole-
brook and interpreter Frangois Dumont. They located Almighty Voice and the
sergeant moved in to arrest him, even though the Native warned that he would
shoot if the Mountie advanced any further. The warning was not heeded; Cole-
brook was shot through the neck and died instantly.

The NWMP began a massive hunt for Almighty Voice, offering a reward of
$250. On past occasions the Natives were assured they would be dealt with fairly
if they cooperated with the Mounties, but in this instance it was clear the police
would get no such assistance; in fact, the Natives were keeping them away from
Almighty Voice. Indeed, the police felt the Natives of the area had grown defiant
and more independent as the manhunt wore on. Though extensive surveillance
of the reserve was undertaken and efforts to follow all leads were pursued, no
clues or traces of the offender were found. One policeman suggested giving up
the hunt.
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Finally the police were informed of suspicious behaviour on the One Arrow
Reserve. On 28 May 1897, the police closed in on the area and saw Almighty
Voice flee after he had fired on the police, wounding their interpreter, Napoleon
Venne. The Mounties followed three Natives to a poplar copse situated in an
open field, which they then surrounded. It was towards evening and the police
were ordered to open fire on the bush and move in slowly. A small army stood
around the poplar bluff with a 7-pound and a 9-pound gun. On one of many
charges on the bush, two more men were killed: Constable Kerr and the volun-
teer postmaster, Ernest Grundy. As the police prepared to move in, the haunting
chant of Almighty Voice’s mother could be heard from a nearby hill, reminding
her son of the tradition of bravery among the Cree people. She was joined for a
time in her chants by her son. At 6:00 AM. Constable Smith ordered the sur-
rounding rifles and cannon to open fire. When the smoke cleared the police
moved in to discover three dead Natives. Two of them had been dead for some
time, apparently killed by cannon shell fragments; the third, found further away,
had also been dead for some time. They were “blown up on May 30, 1897.”

This event was representative of a new and uncaring pattern of police behav-
iour towards the Natives. Since 1885, this attitude had grown from the circum-
stances that accompanied the settlement of the West and the government policy
that determined the way the NWMP would treat the Natives. It was an event that
showed how the Natives had lost faith in the NWMP — men they had once
trusted and a force that had once protected them:

Almighty Voice, in his last moments, does become symbol for his people, a sym-
bol of a once proud race hurling futile defiance at the Government’s attempts to
recycle them into wards of the state. It is hard to endow Almighty Voice with no-
bility, but he did, at the end, epitomize the Indian protest against the inevitability
of the new era, against the coercion of the Police and the Indian Department,
against the systematic destruction of Indian culture.?

The years 1885-97 were a time when the Natives waited to see how they
would be included in the society that was moving westward, but they were years
of waiting for the fulfillment of promises that would never come.

102



1110 ANk

}:_bl.
-

_—
TTILALAAA

Captain Howard with the Gatling gun used at Batoche (National Archives of Canada, C-1882).
Captain Howard shown here was with the United States army and was in the Canadian West during 1885

promoting the rapid-fire Gatling gun that was very effectively used at the Battle of Batoche. The Gatling gun

was also brought by Colonel Otter to the Battle of Cut Knife Hill, though it did little good there, as his men were
driven from the battlefield by the Cree.
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“The murder of Payne, the farm instructor, at his own house on the Stony Reserve,” by William R.
Rutherford. “The house and surroundings sketched on the spot, 30 May 1885” (Glenbow Archives,
P-1390-33).

William Rutherford, the artist, was with the North-West Field Force, and could not have witnessed many of the
scenes he portrayed, although he passed through some of the areas after the events that he sketched.
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“Struggle between Payne and his murderer for the possession of a rifle in his house prior to his being
shot,” by William R. Rutherford. “The building sketched on the spot 30 May 1885" (Glenbow
Archives, P-1390-34).
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“Barney Tremont’s ranch, 7 miles from Battleford where he was murdered by 5 Stonies while greasing
the axle of his wagon,” by William R. Rutherford. “Sketched on the spot 30 May 1885” (Glenbow
Archives, P-1390-40).
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“Escape of Applegarth the farm instructor, and his wife from the Red Pheasant Reserve. Red Pheasant
and Brave helping him to get off from the Stony Indians who pursued him,” by William R.
Rutherford. “Sketched on the spot 29.8.85, from details given by Red Pheasant” (Glenbow Archives,
P-1390-41).
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Chief Poundmaker with his fourth wife, ca. 1884 (National Archives of Canada, PA-66596).
Poundmaker was the leader of a tribe of Cree who settled on a reserve in the Battleford area. When the fighting
in 1885 broke out, many local Métis and Cree people came to his camp for protection as they feared an
American-style campaign against them. Ironically it was Poundmaker who was attacked by Colonel Otter, even
though he tried to stay away from the fighting and to keep his men peaceful. In spite of the evidence to this effect
supplied by the local farm instructor, Robert Jefferson, he was imprisoned by Canadian authorities, as were other
Cree leaders even though evidence against them was flimsy.
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Big Bear, taken in Stony Mountain Penitentiary, Manitoba, 1886, photo by Hall and Lowe (Manitoba
Archives, NA 1315-17).

Shorn of his shoulder-length hair to humiliate him, Big Bear was imprisoned at Stony Mountain Penitentiary
even though there was considerable evidence to suggest that he protected lives and tried to prevent violence.
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Theresa Delaney and Theresa Gowanlock, whose husbands were among the nine men killed at Frog Lake early in
April 1885, were taken hostage by the Plains Cree of Big Bear's band for two months. Rumours that circulated
about their “fate worse than death” during this time served to galvanize weary, footsore soldiers. The two
women and a large party of Métis and Aboriginal hostages parted company with the moving Cree camp under
cover of fog one morning and travelled for three days until NWMP scouts stumbled upon them. Although the
women announced immediately that they had met with little suffering and coped well, this was not the overall
impression left in their published account of later that year, which stressed their suffering and privation
(Glenbow Archives, NA-1480-31).
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SEVEN

Fort Battleford as an Historic Site

Myth deprives the object of which it speaks of all History. In it history evapo-
rates. It is a kind of ideal servant; it prepares all things, brings them, lays them
out, the master arrives, it silently disappears: all that is left for one to do is to
enjoy the beautiful object without wondering where it comes from.

Roland Barthes

It is not uncommon to have history and mythology in competition as we inter-
pret the past at our historic sites. Images of the past are constantly in the process of
change as each generation finds something new to tell or forgets a part of what was
there. Not surprisingly, when interpreting the history of sites like Fort Battleford
and Batoche, there are tensions among various ideologies as well as between re-
gional and central Canadian perspectives. Today, we increasingly find the Native
peoples’ point of view challenging the established versions of Canadian history.
One of the problems has been many of our national historic parks have become sa-
cred sites and serve, ideologically, to commemorate the past as the conquerors see
it. The many military sites in our system underline the empbhasis on history as the
chronical of winners and losers. Thus, in the wide range of potential nationalisms
that our historic sites present, some have been valorized and made available for
public consumption, while others have been ignored. The same symbol can of
course have many meanings depending on who is looking at it. History at our sites
ought to draw attention to the wide range of interpretations and the visitor can
choose to consider various meanings depending on his or her perspective and expe-
rience. A member of the NWMP, for example, who may have been within the stock-
ade at Battleford during the fighting in 1885, is likely to see a dramatically different
significance in the fort than might a local Cree who witnessed the hanging of eight
members of his tribe on the gallows within the stockade. Gradually there seems to
be a recognition of the importance of encouraging many meanings, drawing atten-
tion to complex and multivocal histories rather than staying with older monological
histories that invoke closure on meaning.

Up until the 1970s, the metropolitan thesis of Canadian history dominated the
narrative form, providing the framework for those anxious to relate how exploi-
tation of fish, furs, lumber and wheat produced a wealthy and prosperous
Canada. The consequences associated with development rarely appeared in the
pages. The predominant paradigm was national: what was best for the nation
was best for everyone. Local and regional attitudes were hardly ever considered.

Emerging regional perspectives during the 1970s began to challenge the one-
sided version of Canadian history produced by the metropolitanists, and the cost
of progress, not only to Natives, but to settlers as well began to be assessed. In the
early years of the decade, the story of the history of the Métis at Batoche changed
as more was discovered about the social and economic life of these pre-
Confederation westerners. No longer was the emphasis at the site on the military
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theme alone, nor was Batoche simply presented as the place where the Métis
were defeated. Indeed, the events of the so-called 1885 Rebellion took their place
alongside the social and economic history of the Métis. New research challenged
the dominant national myths held so dear that depicted these people as carefree,
hard-living, unpatriotic buffalo hunters. Moreover, the history as it related to the
public at the site no longer ended in 1885 with the Battle of Batoche, but extended
well beyond this watershed favoured by those who saw the Métis as an impedi-
ment to the development of the West.

At Fort Battleford myth and history clashed for ideological reasons and because
only one side of the story was emphasized in the established histories. The history
of Native people and especially their role in the events of 1885 altered the way in
which the official history of Fort Battleford was told. The myth of the Mounties rid-
ing triumphantly into a “savage” and “wild” West for the sake of a “civilized” na-
tion had to be deflated and reconsidered. Instead of being represented only as
heroes of law and order, it seemed more sensible and balanced to also show them
as agents of John A. Macdonald’s National Policy, which aimed at developing the
western hinterland for the national good. Historians studying Native people also
became more interested in examining not only how Natives changed as a result of
contact with the NWMP, but also how the Mounties and the society they repre-
sented changed in their attitudes towards Natives. Gradually, as the Native point of
view was better appreciated, a new history began to replace myth, a history that
presented many points of view rather than one. For years the history at Fort Battle-
ford was related to the public as though the Mounties had come into a void, the
context of their arrival and the reasons for their large numbers in the Battleford area
being only vaguely understood. This is not to suggest that outsiders alone are re-
sponsible for the one-sided history that existed for so many years. Anglo-Canadians
who held positions of power and influence in the West were no more interested in
Métis and Aboriginal history than were central Canadians who wrote most of the
mainstream histories. Most Anglo-Canadian westerners internalized the biases of
national history and reproduced them in schools and churches established during
the settlement era.

There were some exceptions, such as teacher and historian Campbell Innes,
who tried to have the Native point of view put forward in the interpretive pro-
gram at Fort Battleford. Though Innes was a member of the Historic Sites and
Monument Board from 1951-54, it appears his efforts remained largely unsuccess-
ful. He supported the move towards interpreting fur trade and Native history,
but there were many others who opposed his approach and favoured using Fort
Battleford solely to valorize the role of the NWMP. It proved difficult to challenge
the myth of the force and to place its role in a more balanced perspective. The
myth of the Mounties served the vision of the colonizers well, and while histori-
cal research might have helped to demystify their image somewhat, there were
few to write the new history and still fewer who were receptive to it.

The conflict between myth and history stood most starkly during the early
years when Fort Battleford was first recognized as a national historic site. In the
early 1950s, the Director of the Canadian Parks Service advised his Deputy Minis-
ter that Fort Battleford should be considered a site of national significance. The
focus was to be on the establishment of the fort and its construction. His memo
outlined a brief chronology of the fort, beginning with its founding by Walker
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and Frechette in 1876 with a troop of fourteen men and six horses. The fort ex-
panded and sub-posts were established at Carlton, Duck Lake and Prince Albert
in the next year, when the telegraph line reached Battleford. By 1878, the year in
which Battleford became the territorial capital of the North-West, the fort had
grown to contain a force of thirty-four men and forty-one horses. The director
mentioned in passing that the first stockade constructed in 1878 was built with
the assistance of Natives from Big Bear’s band. By the 1880s, greater energies
were expended on improving the stockade and buildings. As well, the fort was
honoured with a visit by the Marquis of Lorne and Princess Louise in 1883. The
seat of government was then moved to Regina as a result of the rerouting of the
CPR. Following the move the government buildings became the home of the first
Native industrial school, and in 1885 Battleford

became a very important centre and police from this point [the fort] went to Fort
Carlton and took part in the Battle of Duck Lake and settlers in the Battleford dis-
trict congregated at the police fort for protection. Battleford was besieged by the
Indians; relieved by General Middleton later in the early summer. Captain Nash
formed a Home Guard. Inspector Dickens, son of the novelist, Charles Dickens,
was stationed at Battleford and subsequently engaged the Indians at the Battle of
Cut Knife Hill not far from Battleford. Battleford was used as a base for the attack
on Big Bear at Loon Lake. Poundmaker made his offer to surrender. General Mid-
dleton arrived to dictate terms to Poundmaker. Eight Indians guilty of murder
were tried at Battleford and hanged.1

This thumbnail sketch of Battleford’s significance concluded with mention of
the 1886 arrival of “C” Division under Superintendent John Cotton. Then, in
1886, the stockade was removed. Until sometime between 1914 and 1916 the po-
lice post continued to operate, though with gradually declining importance. From
1914-16 to 1924 the post was supervised by a caretaker, “but as time went on,
they [the buildings] became a stomping ground for relic hunters.”” The property
was used for a variety of purposes until 1936, when it was transferred from the
federal government to the province of Saskatchewan. During this period the fort
fell into disrepair. In the mid-1940s, Campbell Innes initiated a drive to save the
remaining buildings with the purpose of using them to interpret the history of
the area. In 1945, the fort opened as a Native museum and police memorial, and
in 1948 the site was officially opened by Governor General Lord Alexander.

The memo reflects the metropolitan perspective. Highlighted are events initi-
ated by agents of the Canadian government, and the focus is on describing the es-
tablishment of Canadian authority through the NWMP and the territorial capital,
putting down western rebellion, building an industrial school, and narrating vis-
its of royalty into the empty North-West. It was history from a central Canadian
perspective — the West made safe for white settlement. The Canadian govern-
ment had chosen to commemorate the “civilization” of the West.

This was not, however, the way in which the history of Battleford was pre-
sented by Innes and those who began the move to have Battleford recognized as
nationally important. The initial project was to establish a Native museum along
with a “memorial” to the NWMP. Thus, the story was to be broader, and was to
include the history of those who were in the North-West before the Canadian
government arrived. In the promotional literature the history of the early occu-
pants was told:
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This locality is the home of the Cree Indian. In the early days they successfully
held back the Blackfoot. There are also tribes of Saulteaux, Assiniboine and Sioux,
with their long history and cultural development. The Indian Agency office is still
located here.?

Also mentioned in the prospectus of the museum was the significance of the fur
trade to the area:

Such early explorers as McGillivary, Pink, Cocking, Frobisher, Pond, Henry,
Pangman, Umfreville, Thompson and Harman passed up the North Saskatche-
wan and crossed to the Beaver River and Isle a la Crosse to Churchill. Their fur
post sites are still to be seen. It has been a pleasure to search for these and have
Professor A.S. Morton come up from Saskatoon and check them over. These posts
should be rebuilt or remarked, and the thrilling story of early days retold: Man-
chester House, Pine Island Post, Eagle Hills Post, Turtle Post, Buckingham House.
The rich fur and pemmican trade of the Hudson’s Bay and North-West Company
was centred in this part of the Saskatchewan River and of Green Lake, Isle a la
Crosse, Prince Albert and Edmonton.*

There was a real (if paternalistic) hope held by members of the Battleford His-
torical Society that presenting the history of Native people would assist them in
regaining pride in their traditions. The post-World War II consciousness evident
in the promotional literature clearly saw education as a way not only to avoid
catastrophes of war, but also to raise the Natives from the spiritual and material
depression it was thought many suffered:

In order to fit the cultural needs of the Indians it is felt here this program should
be enlarged. Our increasing number of visitors is evidence that the sphere of re-
search be enlarged. There are frequent students of Indian lore visiting here. In-
dian handicrafts need developing in our schools. This museum may become a
central place for exhibitions and sale of their work. All this will tend to make
their racial consciousness share in our Canadian Unity. Creative art and Indian
folklore will always have an important place here. At present there is an urgent
need to assist in saving valued individual collections. As you are aware collectors

from across the borders do carry away so much which has its place in western
Canada.

Thus it was the need for a Native museum that prompted these early preser-
vationists, not only the need to establish a North West Mounted Police site. This
was expressed many times by Innes, but particularly so in a 1949 letter to Dr.
Keenleyside, Chairman of the Historic Sites and Monuments Board (HSMB) of
Canada:

Today so many citizens are anxious to forward collections and various articles in-
terpretive of Indian life. Its scholars are assisting in various ways. It is so neces-
sary that such material may be studied and properly classified in the next three
months before the rush of visitors. Besides there is the general furnishing of the
Indian Museum Building. You will note that the Administration has an Indian
Committee or Division. Your Department is free to make additions or changes
and to initiate your own policy. Your Department may take the control or the
members of the Division may carry on any policy you so initiate to advance this
phase of National life®

Motivated by a desire to present a comprehensive picture of the history of the
North-West, the Battleford Historical Society pressed on with great energy and
initiative towards the establishment of an historic site at the fort. In the early
years it did not always have a firm financial commitment from the government,
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but eventually the society was able to operate with funds from local subscribers,
the provincial government and eventually the federal government.

The work of Innes was remarkable. In the period from 1945 to 1951, when the
site was taken over by the federal government, he wrote scores of letters to politi-
cians and bureaucrats for amounts of money to assist in stabilizing, furnishing,
acquiring, and preserving the buildings and their contents.

In the early years immediately after the war, assistance to preserve buildings
came from the newly elected Co-operative Commonwealth Federation govern-
ment of Tommy Douglas. This happened after numerous requests to the federal
government failed. After considerable lobbying, the HSMB still thought the fort
was of local interest only, stating in 1948: “It is suggested that there should be
sufficient local interest in Saskatchewan to take care of [the] Police Memorial and
Indian Museum of Battleford.”” Then Innes, as spokesperson for the local histori-
cal society, applied to have funding awarded to Battleford on the basis of its
status as a museum. In a memo written to Keenleyside, he stated that the
museum had raised $8,000 in 1949, made up of $600 from local subscriptions as
well as a $5,000 grant from the Saskatchewan government. Innes asked the board
for an additional $2,000, half of which was to go to pay an “Indian curator or
keen student of Indian lore.”*

In 1949, in response to the persistence of Innes, the HSMB adopted the follow-
ing resolution at its annual meeting:

That this Board recommends to the Department that through the National Mu-
seum and the cooperation of the Indian Affairs Branch and the National Parks
Service, they consider the establishment over the years of a series of local or
branch Indian museums at what seems to be the strategic points, of which the
Committee appointed by this board suggested that Battleford should be one’

After long negotiations between J.H. Brockelbank, Saskatchewan’s Minister of
Natural Resources, and Robert Winters, the federal government’s Minister of
Natural Resources and Development, the site was plaqued and the land trans-
ferred from the provincial government to the federal Department of Indian Af-
fairs. The plaque read:

On May 24, 1948, this memorial to the North West Mounted Police was officially
opened by His Excellency Field Marshall the Right Honourable, Viscount Alexan-
der of Tunis, K.S. Governor General of Canada. The work of restoring this his-
toric fort established in 1876 as district headquarters by Sub-Inspector James
Walker NWMP was begun in 1945 by the Government of Saskatchewan under the
direction of the Honourable ].L. Phelps, Minister of Natural Resources.

On July 1, 1951 this monument was transferred to the government of Canada to
be maintained as a national historic park.'’

Yet, in spite of all the work done by the local community to write its own history,
there was no mention of Native people in this first commemoration.

Several brochures and pamphlets produced for the site still tried to present a
broader contextual framework for the history interpreted at the fort, but gradu-
ally the emphasis shifted towards the history of the police themselves as high-
lighted by the first plaque. Directions from Ottawa continued to be unresponsive
to the broader history of the area as a whole. The emphasis on the NWMP, en-
trenched in the 1950s, continued through the 1960s and 1970s. It was not until the
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1980s that the original intention of including Native history at Battleford again
emerged and was integrated into the storyline. Generally the evolution of the in-
terpretation and commemoration at Fort Battleford reinforces the trends noted by
CJ. Taylor’s “National Historic Parks and Sites, 1880-1951: The Biography of a
Federal Cultural Program.” A distinctly centralist bias in the recommendations of
the HSMB emerged over the years, one that seemed unable to decentre itself
enough to recognize the regional nature of Canada’s varied cultural traditions.
As a result, those areas underrepresented by the board were ignored — regions
such as Quebec, the Atlantic provinces and the West. Controversy in the 1920s
over whether or not to commemorate sites of the 1885 North-West campaign had
a lasting effect even two decades later. The problems persisted and regional pre-
servationists had to lobby vigorously to be heard. On some occasions, such as the
commemoration of the 1885 Rebellion, the board was able to offend more than
one region:

A controversy ... arose over the commemoration of a series of sites connected
with the Northwest Rebellion of 1885. The interpretation of these sites exhibited a
distinct English Canadian bias and was rooted in an Ontarian based nationalism
which saw the rebellions as an obstacle to the material evolution of Canada. This
ran counter to the views of Quebec nationalists who viewed Louis Riel as a
French Canadian martyr and to native Canadians whose legitimate grievances
were ignored.u

A dismissal of the regional perspective in explaining the causes for the fighting
in 1885 was evident in the emphasis given to the interpretation of other sites in the
West. The tendency to overlook the role of the Natives (which even the whites in
the West were anxious to understand) was a general problem. The composition of
the board was primarily responsible for its inability to include other points of view.
This helped explain the difficulties faced by people like Innes:

Given the inherent bias of the members to emphasize the history of their own
neighbourhoods, it is not surprising that the prairie provinces received only a
small proportion of national historic sites in the years leading up to the Second
World War. Moreover, the sites that were designated were likely to be inter-
preted from perspectives alien to regional/historical traditions. This is just what
happened in the case of the Northwest Rebellion sites in Saskatchewan which
embroiled the board in some of its most virulent controversies. It was a difficult
episode for the board for not only did it result in unfavourable publicity, but it
forced the members to face the possible conflict between the historical and ideo-
logical significance of a site. Usually the historical events associated with a poten-
tial site involved the board in a discourse of subjective interpretation. In the case
of Cut Knife Hill and Batoche commemorations, discussions became polemics.12

By the 1950s, the Massey Commission began to analyze the state of heritage
preservation in Canada. It drafted recommendations intended to make historical
commemoration more representative of all regions of Canada, but especially of
Quebec and the West. Unfortunately, the final report of the board, whose overall
perspective remained predominantly centralist, was vague and indecisive regard-
ing how best to achieve better representation for regional interests. The criticisms
of a centralist focus had been made known in hearings held across Canada:

The presentations at regional hearings, on the other hand tended to note the in-
ability of the Historic Sites and Monuments Board to represent regional peculiari-
ties. They also dwelt on the presentation aspect of the program which was of
little interest to the custodians of culture on the Massey Commission.!?
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But the points made to the commission, while heard and apparently appreciated,
were not dealt with:

The resulting report on the historic sites programs, which passed along criticisms
gathered at regional hearings as well as including the commissioner’s own analy-
sis, made little effort to reconcile these two perspectives with the result that it
presented a confusing array of opinions and recommendations.™

The commissioners saw themselves as “custodians of culture” and were attempt-
ing to foster a unified national outlook in their recommendations. It never oc-
curred to them that greater regional expression might lead to a strengthened
sense of community within the larger national framework.

In the 1980s, the move was towards a more contextual approach to the inter-
pretation of history at Fort Battleford. The program looks more like the com-
memorative program developed during the Innes years. There is the recognition
of Native and fur-trade history before the NWMP arrived and the story includes
more than one point of view.
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CONCLUSION

The mythic Canadian West where the Mounties heroically arrive bringing law
and order as well as “civilization” to the land has proved hard to dislodge.
Mountie images on everything from tea towels to refrigerator magnets for sale in
tourist shops across this country serve as a sharp reminder of just how powerful
and entrenched a national symbol the mounted policeman remains. Myth makers
are still writing history to remind us of lessons that they believe need to be
learned from the past, myth in these cases serving the cause of morality. The
myths created from the past are deeply encoded with messages about who we
are as Canadians and how we should act. The “March West” of 1874 has long
stood, and continues to stand, for a new moral and cultural order that the NWMP
brought to what was portrayed as an empty land, this in spite of considerable
evidence from contemporary prairie dwellers and even missionaries who were
astonished at just how cumbersome and incompetent the march onto the prairies
in fact was.

Myths and myth makers often serve the ideologies of those who hold power and
those who want that power to appear to be naturally and legitimately theirs. Their
myths are built around “real people” and “real incidents” but these people and inci-
dents are carefully “constructed” to include the facts that support the mythology
and to selectively ignore those facts that might obstruct the clarity of the image.

Both myth makers and historians rely on the “facts” of the past. But historians
by their craft are required to be vigilant about the “facts” and must deal with all
of the “facts.” Historians cannot simply tell a story to preserve a pure image, they
must deal with all the information, all the facts, and must often be content to ex-
plain the great complexity of history, if necessary. Most importantly, the historian
must present the context of historical events along with the multifaceted causality
of history. The NWMP, for example, did not simply arrive in the West but were
part of larger colonial and imperial enterprises that characterized much of the
nineteenth century.

For the myth maker, time and context are unimportant. The Mountie in the
tourist gift shop and the historical NWMP are one and the same, the image signi-
fied by either of them is what remains important. The Mountie signifies the law
and order that Anglo-Canadians envisioned for the West, a law and order they
thought the West needed. They were sent out to “maintain the right” for those
who held power in central Canada and were about to hold power in the Cana-
dian West. The myth maker, as Roland Barthes points out in the headnote to
chapter 7, wants his image to remain above mere history.

At Fort Battleford, myth and history collided because the Mountie of the myth
makers excluded the stories of many people, especially the history of the NWMP
as they were seen by Métis and Aboriginal people of the prairies. As the complex-
ity of the history at Fort Battleford is revealed through the history that the Cree
and Métis tell, the image of the Mounties as harbingers of law and order or as
agents of civilization is challenged. There already were laws in the West and
there already were significant and varied cultures with a long presence on the
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prairies. Aboriginal groups had their own systems of government and of making
and enforcing laws.

As the voices of First Nations’ peoples are heard, the national narratives that had
excluded them have had to adjust to accommodate their version of the past. Mean-
ings and (establishing) the significance of events has changed as the result of the
new perspectives. The history of the West has become more complex as more
people are heard and as their point of view comes to be tolerated. The history of the
West was no longer about the “great” settlement of the West but it was also about
what happened to those who were already there. As Patricia Limerick points out in
the headnote that begins this book, the inheritance of these original settlers does not
only include great men, great events and great development, but it also includes a
world on the brink of environmental disaster with pollutants, pesticides, a depleted
ozone layer and nuclear waste. All of this does not easily evoke clear images of
“progress” nor does the way of life of prairie tribes seem as unreasonable as it was
once portrayed.

The myth of the Mounties needs to be balanced off against the historical evi-
dence that shows them to be no more and no less than men of their times who car-
ried the cultural baggage of the Victorian era they were part of. They are not and
should not remain above history. They shared many — now discredited — ideas
about race, gender and culture. As times change, so do attitudes, and the image of
the Mountie should not remain timeless or above time; such myth making only
leads to the intolerance inherent in the view that time does not change culture and
society, and that new attitudes or ideas need not be entertained. Replacing myth
with history is not intended to discredit the Mounties but rather return them to the
less valorized context of being human (along with the rest of us), instead of on the
pedestal where they have been for too long.
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This replica of the 1888 map is published to commemorate the One Hundredth
Anniversary of the founding of the North-West Mounted Police on August 30, 1873
and to salute the long and distinguished record of service to Canada by this Force and
its present descendant, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police.

It shows the patrol system at its fullest development. It also displays the period of

transition, showing many of the features of the old western frontier before the growing
tide of settlement had radically changed the appearance of the land.

One of the most imsornnt features on the map is the location of the 49th Parallel of
Latitude, or the Medicine Line, as the Indians called it. This was surveyed in 1872-74
by the North American Boundary Commission, which marked the line by a row of

carth mounds, about six feet high, every two or three miles. At the height of the patrol
system, the entire border area from the Ontario boundary 800 miles westward to the

ocky Mountains was covered by the North-West Mounted Police. One result was a
significant reduction in smuggling and horse stealing, two of the most common crimes
of the period. This map was an essential aid to all detachments and men on patrol.




THE MYTH OF THE MOUNTIES as neutral arbiters between Aboriginal

peoples and incoming settlers remains a cornerstone of the western

Canadian narrative of a peaceful frontier experience that differs
dramatically from its American equivalent. Walter Hildebrandt eviscerates
this myth, placing the NWMP and early settlement in an international
framework of imperialist plunder and the imposition of colonialist ideology.
Fort Battleford, as an architectural endeavour, and as a Euro-Canadian settle-
ment, oozed British-and central Canadian values. The Mounties, like the
Ottawa government that paid their salaries, “were in the West to assure that
a new cultural template of social behaviour would replace the one they
found.” The newcomers were blind to the cultural values and material achieve-
ments of the millennia-long residents of the North-West. Unlike their fur
trade predecessors, the settler state had little need to respect or accommo-
date Aboriginal people. Following policies that resulted in starvation for
Natives, the colonizers then responded brutally to the uprising of some of
the oppressed in 1885. Hildebrandt’s ability to view these events from the
indigenous viewpoint places the Mounties, the Canadian state, and the
regional settlement experience under an entirely different spotlight.

Walter Hildebrandt uses Fort Battleford as a lens through which to view the
changes in the late 19th-century North-West caused by the arrival of Canadian
federal authority. And he pulls no punches, calling this process by its proper
name: imperial conquest. In listening carefully to the voices of the dispossessed
First Nations and Metis peoples, Hildebrandt offers a challenge to the cherished
myth of peaceful Canadian westward expansion.

— Andrew Grayhbill, author of Policing the Great Plains: Rangers,
Mounties, and the North American Frontier, 1875-1910
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